# Université de Montréal

The cognitive mechanisms underlying language tests in healthy adults: A principal component analysis.

par

Ana Paula Bresolin Gonçalves

Faculté de Arts et Sciences

Département de Psychologie

Mémoire présenté en vue de l'obtention du grade de Maître ès Sciences (M.Sc.) en psychologie

06 avril 2021

© Ana Paula Bresolin Gonçalves, 2021

# Université de Montréal Faculté de Arts et Sciences - Département de Psychologie

# Ce mémoire intitulé:

# The linguistic and cognitive mechanisms underlying language tests in healthy adults: A principal component analysis.

# Présenté par: Ana Paula Bresolin Gonçalves

A été évalué par un jury composé des personnes suivantes :

### **Bruno Gauthier**

Président-rapporteur

### Maximiliano A. Wilson

Directeur de recherche

### Simona M. Brambati

Codirectrice de recherche

# **Benjamin Boller**

Membre du jury

#### Résumé

Pour un processus d'évaluation linguistique plus précis et rapide, il est important d'identifier les mécanismes cognitifs qui soutiennent des tâches langagières couramment utilisées. Une façon de mieux comprendre ses mécanismes est d'explorer la variance partagée entre les tâches linguistiques en utilisant l'analyse factorielle exploratoire. Peu d'études ont employé cette méthode pour étudier ces mécanismes dans le fonctionnement normal du langage. Par conséquent, notre objectif principal est d'explorer comment un ensemble de tâches linguistiques se regroupent afin d'étudier les mécanismes cognitifs sous-jacents de ses tâches. Nous avons évalué 201 participants en bonne santé âgés entre 18 et 75 ans (moyenne=45,29, écart-type= 15,06) et avec une scolarité entre 5 et 23 ans (moyenne=11,10, écart-type=4,68), parmi ceux-ci, 62,87% étaient des femmes. Nous avons employé deux batteries linguistiques : le Protocole d'examen linguistique de l'aphasie Montréal-Toulouse et Protocole Montréal d'Évaluation de la Communication – version abrégé. Utilisant l'analyse en composantes principales avec une rotation Direct-oblimin, nous avons découvert quatre composantes du langage : la sémantique picturale (tâches de compréhension orale, dénomination orale et dénomination écrite), l'exécutif linguistique (tâches d'évocation lexicale - critères sémantique, orthographique et libre), le transcodage et la sémantique (tâches de lecture, dictée et de jugement sémantique) et la pragmatique (tâches d'interprétation d'actes de parole indirecte et d'interprétation de métaphores). Ces quatre composantes expliquent 59,64 % de la variance totale. Deuxièmement, nous avons vérifié l'association entre ces composantes et deux mesures des fonctions exécutives dans un sous-ensemble de 33 participants. La performance de la flexibilité cognitive a été évaluée en soustrayant le temps A au temps B du Trail Making Test et celle de la mémoire de travail en prenant le total des réponses correctes au test du n-back. La composante exécutive linguistique était associée à une meilleure flexibilité cognitive (r=-0,355) et la composante transcodage et sémantique à une meilleure performance de mémoire de travail (r=.0,397). Nos résultats confirment l'hétérogénéité des processus sous-jacent aux tâches langagières et leur relation intrinsèque avec d'autres composantes cognitives, tels que les fonctions exécutives.

**Mots-clés:** tâches linguistiques; processus linguistiques; fonctions exécutives; sémantique; pragmatique; transcodage; analyse en composantes principales.

#### Abstract

To a more accurate and time-efficient language assessment process, it is important to identify the cognitive mechanisms that sustain commonly used language tasks. One way to do so is to explore the shared variance across language tasks using the technique of principal components analysis. Few studies applied this technique to investigate these mechanisms in normal language functioning. Therefore, our main goal is to explore how a set of language tasks are going to group to investigate the underlying cognitive mechanisms of commonly used tasks. We assessed 201 healthy participants aged between 18 and 75 years old (mean = 45.29, SD = 15.06) and with a formal education between 5 and 23 years (mean = 11.10, SD = 4.68), of these 62.87% were female. We used two language batteries: the Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery and the Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery – brief version. Using a Principal Component Analysis with a Direct-oblimin rotation, we discovered four language components: pictorial semantics (auditory comprehension, naming and writing naming tasks), language-executive (unconstrained, semantic, and phonological verbal fluency tasks), transcoding and semantics (reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks), and pragmatics (indirect speech acts interpretation and metaphors interpretation tasks). These four components explained 59.64% of the total variance. Secondarily, we sought to verify the association between these components with two executive measures in a subset of 33 participants. Cognitive flexibility was assessed by the time B-time A score of the Trail Making Test and working memory by the total of correct answers on the n-back test. The language-executive component was associated with a better cognitive flexibility score (r=-.355) and the transcoding and semantics one with a better working memory performance (r=.397). Our findings confirm the heterogeneity process underlying language tasks and their intrinsic relationship to other cognitive components, such as executive functions.

**Keywords:** language tasks; language processes; executive functions; semantics; pragmatics; transcoding; Principal Component Analysis.

# **Table of contents**

Résumé	i
Abstract	ii
List of tables, list of figures, or others	v
List of Appendices	vi
List of acronyms and abbreviations	vii
1. Presentation	1
2. General Introduction	2
2.1 Theoretical background	2
2.1.1 Language assessment challenges	2
2.1.2 Language and executive functions	13
2.2 Language components	18
2.3.1. Phonology	19
2.3.2 Semantics	24
2.3.3 Syntax	30
2.3.4 Pragmatics	35
2.3.5 Discourse	40
The cognitive mechanisms underlying language tasks in healthy	adults: A principal
component analysis	45
Abstract	46
Introduction	47
Study 1: The cognitive mechanisms underlying language tasks	48
1.1 Introduction	48
1.2 Methodology	51
1 2 1 Participants	51

1.2.2 Ethics Procedures	52
1.2.3 Materials	52
1.3 Procedures et data analysis	55
1.4 Results	58
1.5 Discussion	61
Study two: Language components and their association with executive functions	64
2.1 Introduction	64
2.2 Methodology	67
2.2.1 Participants	67
2.2.2 Materials	67
2.3 Procedure and data analysis	69
2.4 Results	69
2.5 Discussion	70
3. Overall Discussion	72
4. Limitations and Future studies	77
5. Conclusions	78
6. General discussion and final conclusions	79
7. References	86
Appendix A	xi
Annendiy R	viii

# List of tables, list of figures, or others

#### **Tables from General Introduction**

**Table 1.** Studies that applied exploratory factor analysis or principal component analysis to explore language underlying dimensions

#### Tables from the article

- **Table 1.** Sociodemographic data of the participants of Study 1
- *Table 2.* Regression analyses for each language task with age and education as regressors
- **Table 3.** Descriptive analysis of each language task
- **Table 4.** Oblimin-rotated pattern matrix for the principal component solution with language tasks
- **Table 5.** Sociodemographic data of the participants of Study 2
- **Table 6.** Descriptive analysis of the executive tasks
- **Table 7.** Correlations between the language components composite score extracted from Study 1 and the executive scores.

# **List of Appendices**

**Appendix A.** Description of the selected language tasks from the MAC battery – brief version.

**Appendix B.** Description of the selected language tasks from the Montreal-Toulouse battery.

# $List\ of\ acronyms\ and\ abbreviations.$

**EF** Executive Functions

MAC Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery – brief version

MMSE Mini-Mental State Examination

MTL-BR Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery – Brazilian version

PCA Principal Component Analysis

PPA Primary Progressive Aphasia

TMT Trail Making Test

#### 1. Presentation

This master's thesis is presented to the *Faculté de Arts et Sciences* of the *Université de Montréal*, Psychology Department, in order for the student Ana Paula Gonçalves to obtain the master's degree in Psychology. The present thesis was supervised by Maximiliano A. Wilson, Full Professor of the Rehabilitation Department of *Université Laval*, and co-supervised by Simona M. Brambati, Associate Professor at the Psychology Department of *Université de Montréal*.

The main objective of this master's thesis is to elucidate the linguistic and cognitive mechanisms underlying commonly used language tasks in healthy adults. To achieve this goal, we conducted two studies presented as a single paper, preceded by a general introduction and followed by a general discussion.

To better guide the reading, the general introduction is divided into several sections. In the first section, we present the inherent challenges of language assessment. In the next section, we will briefly discuss the association between language and executive functions (EF). We then discuss the following language components: phonology, syntax, semantics, prosody, and pragmatics.

The article of this thesis is divided into two studies. The first study employed a factorial analyzing using a Principal Component Analysis (PCA) to explore the linguistic components underlying a set of language tasks. The second study is a correlational study that analyzes the relationship between the linguistic components found in Study 1 and two executive functions measures (i.e., cognitive flexibility and working memory). To finalize, we discuss more broadly our findings, the limitations, and the overall contributions of the present work.

As the first author of the article, I, Ana Paula Bresolin Gonçalves, actively participated in all the steps necessaries for analysing the data and writing the article included in this thesis. Under the supervision of my research directors, Maximiliano Wilson and Simona Brambati, I prepared and analysed the data, I conducted a review of the literature, and a I wrote the introduction, methodology, results, and discussion sections. The other coauthor, Rochele Paz Fonseca, provided the data employed in the article, in addition to her insights. All the coauthors of this article gave their written consent for including the article in the present thesis.

#### 2. General Introduction

# 2.1 Theoretical background

# 2.1.1 Language assessment challenges

The detection and diagnosis of language impairments are initial key steps for clinical intervention (Turgeon & Macoir, 2008). Language processing can be affected by a wide range of neurological disorders, such as stroke (Flowers et al., 2016), right-brain damage lesions (Gajardo-Vidal et al., 2018), traumatic brain injury (Galetto et al., 2013), and neurodegenerative diseases (Klimova & Kuca, 2016), among others. These impairments can occur on different linguistic components, such as such as phonology (i.e. how phonemes form syllables and words), semantics (i.e. how language conveys meaning), syntax (i.e. sentence structure), pragmatics (i.e. meaning variations according to context) and discourse (i.e. how to form coherent sequences of sentences), and different modalities, such as oral, written, comprehension, and production.

Language is one of the most complex cognitive abilities that relies on multiple brain areas and cognitive process (Lacey et al., 2017). As such, a comprehensive language assessment should include a large number of tasks. A comprehensive speech and language assessment include formal testing, clinical observations, and gathered information provided by the patient and patient's entourage. In addition to language components in different modalities, a complete language should also include the assessment of other non-linguistic cognitive domains that might affect language performance, such as executive, mnemonical and attentional skills (Peach et al., 2017).

Standardized language tasks are commonly used to assess different language impairments (Pagliarin et al., 2014). They provide an objective measure of language abilities. Standardized language batteries seek to identify strengths and weakness in patients' language skills. This information is helpful for planning individualized and effective treatment plans. They are commonly used in clinical settings because they provide the clinician with an array of tasks to evaluate multiple components of language (Pagliarin et al., 2014). Several language batteries are commonly used in clinical and research settings, such as the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination—BDAE (Goodglass et al., 2001), the Multilingual Aphasia Examination—MAE (Benton

et al., 1994), Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery—brief version (MAC; Casarin et al., 2014) and the Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery (MTL-BR; Parente et al., 2016), among many others.

One of the major challenges in language assessment is time constraints. However, useful and comprehensive, lengthy batteries are time-consuming. It is not always possible to conduct a complete language and cognitive assessment because of time and budget restrictions. Moreover, an overly long assessment can be very stressful for some patients. Considering that several tasks in a battery may contribute to the assessment of the same components, the selection of sensitive tools to assess language is of the utmost importance. In addition, the underlying linguistic and non-linguistic cognitive processes sustaining language tasks remain a matter of debate (Archibald, 2013). One way to study these processes is to explore how a large number of tasks are related. More studies exploring the joint variation across commonly used standardized language tasks are still needed (Archibald, 2013), especially in normal language functioning. Understanding these mechanisms can contribute to a more precise and time efficient language assessment. Therefore, the present thesis seeks to verify how a group of commonly used language tasks in order to investigate their underlying cognitive mechanisms.

# 2.1.2 Exploratory factorial analysis of language components

An exploratory factor analysis would be the best option to achieve our aim of identifying the key language components on a large set of tasks. This family of techniques has the advantage of accommodating the multifactorial aspects of language processing. The exploratory factor analysis technique summarizes the patterns of correlations among a large number of variables and identifies the variables that form coherent subsets and are relatively independent of other subsets (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). These subsets are known as components (principal component analysis; PCA) or factors (factor analysis). PCA and factor analysis are two similar extraction methods used in exploratory factorial analysis; however, they present important differences. In factor analysis, factors are a priori considered to be the product of a latent construct. In PCA, the components are formed by the aggregation of the correlated variables. Thus, the variables are solely responsible for the outcome of components. There is no a priori theory that explains the pattern

of component formation and, as such, variables are simply empirically, but not a priori theoretically, related (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Both extraction techniques have been employed to explore the structure and interrelationships among common language tasks. While some studies choose to employ PCA (Archibald, 2013; Butler et al., 2014; Crockett, 1974; Fong et al., 2019; Henry et al., 2012; Ingram et al., 2020; Marcie et al., 1993; Mirman et al., 2015), others opted to use a factorial analysis extraction method (Carroll, 1941; Clark et al., 1979; Hanson et al., 1982; Jones & Wepman, 1961; Pineda et al., 2000). For the present master's thesis, we opted for PCA because we do not have any theoretical a priori (i.e., we do not expect any given latent construct for variable groupings). We simply expect that tasks that tap the most similar underlying mechanisms will present high loadings on similar components (Henry et al., 2012).

In the next paragraphs we present the findings of articles that employ these techniques within language tasks. A more profound explanation of different language components, their definitions and their cognitive mechanisms, the associated impairments and their assessment are presented later in the general introduction. Table 1 presents the studies that used PCA or factorial analysis with language tasks. Of note, some studies included tasks assessing non-linguistic cognitive components, such as short-term memory, executive functions, praxis and reasoning. As we can observe, studies also largely vary in their sample size (between 31 and 355 participants).

**Table 1.**Studies that applied exploratory factor analysis or principal component analysis to explore language underlying dimensions

Reference	Method employed	Population studied	Factors/components found
Pineda et al., 2000	factor analysis	156 healthy adults (19-60 years old)	(1) oral reading (word reading; sentence reading); (2) writing (primer-level dictation; serial writing; spelling to dictation), (3) semantic (confrontation naming; commands comprehension; word discrimination); (4) semantic fluency (animals naming); (5) lexical graphic attention (reading word

recognition); (6) repetition (word repetition); (7) motor (writing mechanics)

(1) richness of linguistic stock (word

completion; grammar; memory for homophones; rhyming; spelling; theme rating; distorted English tasks

semantic abilities (verbal analogies; morpheme recognition; disarranged morphemes tasks), (3) speed of association (suffixes; form-naming; disarranged words; word-number

choice; vocabulary; phrase

and speech attitude scale), (2)

Carrol, factor 119 college 1941 analysis students

memory; colour-naming), (4) discourse production (theme; grammar, similes; picture description; distorted English; anagrams tasks), (5) facility to attach appropriate names or symbols to stimuli and speed of articulatory movements (colour-naming; letterstar test; giving first names; formnaming; phrase completion; naming states of the Union; letter-star testdiversity tasks), and (6) verbal memory learning (paired associates English-Turkish; paired associates Turkish-English; and word-number memory tasks) (1) speaking (describes function,

object naming, sentence completion, imitative naming subtests) (2) writing (writes function in sentences, writes names of objects, writes names when heard, write name, spelling dictated subtests) (3) spoken and written comprehension (points to object by function, points to object by name, reads name and positions subtests) (4) gesturing (demonstrates function and demonstrates function ordered subtests) (5) **copying** (name copies

factor Hanson et al., 1982 analysis 118 post stroke aphasia patients

and geometric forms copies subtests)

(1) **verbal competency** (name of objects; completing sentences by naming objects; providing names of objects; describing the function of an object), (2) graphic expression (writing sentences describing the use of objects; writing the name of objects upon visual presentation; writing names of objects to auditory dictation; writing names of objects after having them spelled), (3) gestural verbal comprehension Clark et factor 63 post brain (subtests requiring the subject to: al., 1979 insult aphasia point to an object on the basis of a analysis verbal description of its function; to read a name on a card and place it near the object; to point to a named object; to read a functional description; to place it near the object described, (4) gestural function (demonstrating the function of each object upon tactile presentation; demonstrating the function of each object upon visual presentation), (5) graphic-copying (copying of geometric forms; copy an object's name) (1) visual-to-oral transmission 168 post (principal task, reading subtests) (2) acquired aphasia aural-to-oral transmission (principal patients task, repeating spoken words (multiple subtests) (3) visual-to-graphic Jones & factor causes: transmission (principal task, copying Wepman, analysis cerebrovascular printed words subtests) (4) aural-to-1961 accident, graphic transmission (principal task, external writing spoken words subtests) (5) trauma and language-symbol comprehension (principal task, matching pictures to tumor extirpation) spoken and written words subtests)

Crocket, 1974	PCA	353 school- aged children	(1) association of encoded and decoded materials (oral reading names; oral reading sentences; reading sentences for meaning pointing; reading names for meaning pointing; visual - graphic naming; writing names; writing to dictation tasks), (2) sentence repetition (sentence repetition task), (3) naming (visual naming tactile naming, right and left tasks), (4) auditory comprehension (identification by sentence task), (5) syntax production and fluency (sentence construction task and visual - graphic naming tasks), (6) working memory (reversal of digits task), and (7) phonological short-term memory (repetition of the digits-forward task)
Archibald, 2013	PCA	374 schoold- aged children	(1) working memory (dot matrix; block recall; listening recall; couting recall; odd one out; spatial recall; concepts and FE; (2) language processing (recalling sentences; formulating sentences; vocabulary; similarities), (3) phonological short-term memory (digit recall; nonword recall; listening recall; couting recall; recalling sentences), (4) fluid reasoning (block design; mazes reasoning)
Marcie et al., 1993	PCA	104 mildly to moderately Alzheimer's disease patients	(1) operativeness factor (antonyms; oral spelling; mental calculation; metalinguistic control; error detection; sentence generation; auditory comprehension; sentence generation; auditory comprehension; and verbal fluency tasks) (2) transcoding factor (reading numbers; reading; writing numbers; phonemic discrimination; writing; and naming tasks)

Hoffman et al., 2017	PCA	43 primary progressive aphasia patients	(1) speech (speech rate, mean unit length, phonological errors and hesitation on a semi-structure interview; speech rate, mean unit length, hesitations on a picture description task; phonological fluency), (2) repetition and syntax (sentence repetition; nonword repetition; word repetition; phonological verbal fluency; digit span; minimal pairs discrimination; auditory sentence comprehension; written sentence comprehension; syntactic errors, semantic errors, phonological errors on a semi-structure interview; test of reception grammar; anagram test), (3) semantics (picture naming; single word comprehension; semantic verbal fluency; address learning; semantic errors hesitation on a semi-structure interview); (4) episodic (Rey figure copy and recall; trail making task part A; cube analysis; paired associated learning)
Ramanan et al., 2020	PCA	43 logopenic progressive aphasia patients	(1) speech production/verbal memory (ACE-R language total; digit span forward; digit span backward; repetition; naming; ACE-R memory total; (2) visuospatial and executive (figure copying; semantic association; comprehension; Trail Making Test time B-time A; delayed recall; attention total)
Henry et al., 2012	PCA	15 primary progressive aphasia patients	(1) semantics (Pyramids and Palm Trees; Boston naming test; spoken- word to picture matching; auditory synonym judgement) (2) phonology (phoneme deletion; phoneme blending; minimal pair discrimination)

Lacey et al., 2017	PCA	38 post stroke aphasia patients	(1) word finding/fluency (naming; written naming; object naming; word finding; semantic verbal fluency; sentence completion; spontaneous speech content); (2) comprehension (word recognition; auditory word-to-picture matching); (3) phonology/working memory (increasing word length substest; pseudoword repetition; forward digit span); (4) executive functions (Cognitive Linguistic Quick Test Executive function composite score; backward digit span) (1) phonology (word repetition; nonword repetition; naming test; mean length of utterance; words per
Tochadse et al., 2019	PCA	53 post stroke aphasia patients	minute), (2) semantics (naming; spoken word-picture matching; written word-picture matching; word minimal pairs) (3) auditory working memory (type/toke ration; forward digit span; spoken sentence comprehension; backward digit span) (4) executive functions (Ravens Coloured Matrices; Camel and cactus pictures; Token)
Butler et al., 2014	PCA	31 post stroke aphasia patients	(1) <b>phonology</b> (nonword repetition; minimal pairs; picture naming; and digit span tasks), (2) <b>semantics</b> (spoken word-to-picture matching; synonym judgment; and picture naming tasks) (3) <b>executive-cognition</b> (non-word repetition; Camel and Cactus Test: Pictures; Brixton Spatial Anticipation Test; and Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices tasks)
Halai et al., 2017	PCA	31 post stroke aphasia patients	(1) <b>phonology</b> (nonword repetition; word repetition; minimal pairs; picture naming; and digit span tasks; spoken sentence comprehension), (2) <b>semantics</b> (spoken word-to-picture matching; synonym

			judgment; and picture naming tasks; type-token ration) (3) executive-cognition (minimal pairs; written word-to-picture matching; Camel and Cactus Test: Pictures; Brixton Spatial Anticipation Test; and Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices tasks) (4) language production (type-token ration; number of words and words-perminute during picture description task) (1) semantic recognition (word-to-picture matching; synonym judgment; and picture association judgment; spoken sentence
Mirman et al., 2015	PCA	99 post stroke aphasia patients	comprehension), (2) speech production (word and nonword repetition tasks and phonological errors in picture naming), and (3) speech recognition (auditory lexical decision; phoneme discrimination; rhyme discrimination; and word and nonword repetition tasks) (1) cognitive (Pyramids and Palm
Ralph et al., 2010	PCA	33 post stroke aphasia patients	Trees; Test of Everyday Attention; Wisconsin Card Sort Task; Rey Figure) (2) <b>phonology</b> (word repetition and reading tasks)
Gilmore et al., 2019	PCA	67 post stroke aphasia patients	(1) linguistic (personal facts; confrontation naming; story retelling; generative naming; spontaneous speech; auditory verbal comprehension; repetition; naming and word finding; reading; writing; Pyramids and Palm Trees Test; Boston Naming test); (2) nonlinguistic (symbol cancellation; symbol trails; design memory; mazes; design generation; construction, visuospatial, calculation; Pyramids and Palm Trees Test)

Ingram et al., 2020	PCA	67 post stroke aphasia patients and 46 primary progressive aphasia patients	(1) <b>phonology</b> (repetition; naming; digit span; auditory comprehension; non-word minimal pairs discrimination; auditory and visual sentence comprehension); (2) <b>semantics</b> (naming; semantic verbal fluency; sentence comprehension; address call and recognition); (3) <b>visuo-executive</b> function (counting and visual imagery; Trail Making Task, Rey Complex Figure; ), (4) <b>motor speech production</b> (words per minute; total number of words; mean length per utterance; digit span backwards; orobuccal and limb praxis)
Fong et al., 2019	PCA	355 people with aphasia of various types	(1) auditory comprehension/ideomotor praxis (word and sentence comprehension; word discrimination; word comprehension; number watching; picture-word matching; matching cases and scripts; oral commands; semantic probe; praxis; naming; reading; single word repetition); (2) naming and reading (word discrimination; picture-word matching; word comprehension; oral commands; semantic probes; reading; naming; repetition; praxis; complex ideational material; homophone matching); (3) articulation-repetition (oral commands; reading; naming; repletion); (4) grammatical comprehension (oral commands; complex ideational material; reading; naming; sentence repetition; auditory comprehension); (5) phonology (lexical decision; homophone matching; auditory comprehension

Most studies focused on post-stroke aphasic patients. These studies found between two and five language components (Butler et al., 2014; Wilson & Hula,

2019). These differences in the number of language components found may be explained by the choice of tasks used across studies and by differences in the sampling methods. These studies found components related to different language domains (e.g., phonology, semantics, syntax), and modalities (e.g., reading, writing, comprehension, production). In addition to the studies with aphasic participants, one study analyzed language performance in Alzheimer's disease and found two components, divided into transcoding and operative.

The study of both normal and impaired language processing is scientifically relevant. In patients with brain damage, the association between two tasks is not necessarily due to both tasks taping on the same language component. This association could rather be due to the spatial contiguity of brain lesions that support performance on those tasks (Goodglass & Kaplan, 1972). Therefore, studies in normal language can be more accurate to identify key language components. Additionally, the results of studies in normal language functioning can be generalized to the general population and serve as a basis of comparison for impaired language processing components. (Marcie et al., 1993).

To the best of our knowledge, only two studies focused on the components underlying language tasks in healthy adult participants (Carroll, 1941; Pineda et al., 2000). Carroll (1941) investigated the linguistic component of university students. This study found linguistic components related to richness of linguistic stock, semantic abilities, speed of association, discourse production, facility to attach appropriate names or symbols to stimuli and speed of articulatory movements, and verbal memory learning. This sample was composed of young and highly educated adults; thus, it cannot be generalized to the overall population. The second study had a sample with a larger range of age (between 19 and 60 years old) (Pineda et al., 2000). As far as we know, this was the only study to apply factor analysis to explore the underlying components of common language tasks in healthy adults with a wide range of age and education (Pineda et al., 2000). This study found the following seven language factors: oral reading (words and sentences reading), writing (dictation, serial writing, spelling to dictation), semantics (confronting naming, commands comprehension, word discrimination), semantic fluency (animals naming), lexical graphic attention (reading word recognition), repetition (word

repetition), and motor (writing mechanisms). However, four factors were composed of only one variable (i.e., semantic fluency, lexical graphic, repetition, and motor). This decision can be questionable, because factors with only one variable are usually not reliable (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Therefore, more studies are needed in healthy participants, especially with a wide range of age and education level. It is well known that age and education play a role in language abilities (Fonseca et al., 2015; Pagliarin et al., 2015). Thus, a more representative group of healthy adults are necessary for the results bring more generalizable to the overall population. Such findings can contribute to a better understanding of the cognitive processes underlying these tasks, leading to a more accurate and less time-consuming clinical assessment. Although two previous studies have tried to address the topic of language components in healthy adults, the conclusions are limited because of the age and education range and the use of only one variable per factor. Our study aims to overcome these limitations by including a sample with a larger range of education level and age. We hope to provide new knowledge on this relatively unexplored issue. Therefore, our study aims to investigate the underlying mechanisms of language tasks in a sample of normal individuals that greatly vary in their age (18 to 75 years old) and education level (5 to 23 years of formal education). Our study is the first one to address the issue of the main language dimensions behind two of the most widely used language tasks, the Montreal Evaluation of Communication brief version (Casarin et al., 2014) and the Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery for aphasia (Parente et al., 2016). In addition, this is the first study of its kind in Brazilian Portuguese.

#### 2.1.3 Language and executive functions

Successful communication depends not only on different linguistic components but also relies on other cognitive mechanisms (Mohapatra, 2019). Language abilities allows us to organize our thoughts and to express our internal goal and desires, as well as understand other people's ideas. To accomplish such complex tasks, we need to choose the right words, to judge if sentences make sense grammatically, to grasp the meaning of words and sentences within their context, among many other processes. Considering that language is composed of rich sources of information and many behavioral alternatives, conflicts and interferences can often happen during language processing. To handle these conflicts and

interferences effectively, executive processes are engaged to monitor and regulate linguistic processing. Therefore, our ability to successfully express ourselves and understand others is not only dependent on an intact language system, but also relies on higher order control mechanisms (Mohapatra, 2019).

EF is an umbrella term that reunites complex and high-order cognitive functions responsible for goal-oriented behaviours, such as planning, problem-solving, and reasoning (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000). These abilities are essential for mental and physical health, achieving success in school and in life, and cognitive social, and psychological development (Diamond, 2013). These sophisticated cognitive abilities are increasingly developed throughout childhood and into adulthood and they are supported by a dynamic multi-network system (Uddin et al., 2011). These abilities allow us to self-regulate and self-direct our behaviours toward a goal, to break out of our habits, to make decisions and evaluate risks, to plan for our future, to prioritize and to sequence our actions, and to cope with novel situations in our life (Snyder et al., 2015). Some core components of EF include anticipation and deployment of attention, impulse control and self-regulation, initiation of activity, working memory, cognitive flexibility, planning, and problem-solving (Gioia et al., 2000). EF are engaged when we need to inhibit behaviour, formulate strategies and monitor or performance (Anderson, 2010).

Several models of EF have been proposed. There is currently no unanimous consensus on these models (Ackerman & Friedman-Krauss, 2017; Anderson, 2010; Miyake & Shah, 1999; Rabbitt, 1999; Stelzer et al., 2014). These models provide the basis for the development of assessment tools and performance interpretation (Anderson, 2010; Chan et al., 2008; Stelzer et al., 2014). In what follows, we revise the most consensual EF models. However, this presentation is not exhaustive and many more other models can be found in the literature of EF.

Early EF models included one main executive component (i.e., unitary models), such as the central executive (Baddeley, 1986) or the supervisory activating system (Norman & Shallice, 1986). Baddeley's model focuses its attention on the role of working memory for the temporary storage and manipulation of information, whereas the supervisory activating system focuses on differentiating between automatic and deliberate actions. It classifies actions into those that can be

executed automatically, known in this model as contention scheduling, and those that depend on intentional attentional resources, such as planning, decision-making, and resisting to temptations, among others. These latter are controlled by the supervisory activating system. Unitary models of EF have been criticized for being too simplistic (Stelzer et al., 2014). More recent studies suggest that executive functions are more likely composed of distinct but interrelated components (Anderson, 2010).

Barkley (1997) proposed a model of self-regulatory functions that includes multiple executive domains. In this model, self-regulation is a key element and incorporates the main elements of EF, including goal-directed behaviour, devising plans to achieve future-oriented goals, use of self-direct speech rules and plans, and impulse control ability. The four key components in this model are: (1) working memory (the temporary storage of goals and intentions, the generation of response plans, and the execution of goal-directed behaviours); (2) self-regulation of affect/motivation/arousal (the capacity to consciously self-regulate emotions; (3) internalization of speech (our private speech that can be employed to self-reflection and questioning, monitoring, and formulating rules and plans); and (4) reconstitution (the segmentation of situations or behaviours into different components, which allow the modification or reorder to construct a new approach or response set). Some important questions remain to be validated in this model. For example, whether there is a hierarchical organization between executive domains, and whether the four executive domains proposed are distinct and independent or rather represent a general executive system (Anderson, 2010; Cheung et al., 2004; Miyake & Shah, 1999).

Another well-known model, based on a confirmatory factor analysis, was proposed by Miyake and Friedman (Miyake et al., 2000). Their model proposed three main executive components: (1) updating working memory (the ability to continuously monitor and update incoming representations; (2) inhibition (the ability to deliberately suppress the dominant, automatic, or prepotent response when necessary); and (3) shifting (the ability to shift between different tasks or mental states). Their results showed that updating, inhibition, and shifting are distinct entities that are interrelated (Miyake et al., 2000). Another model was

proposed by Diamond (2013). This model proposes that there are three main executive components. These three components are the building blocks for other higher-order components, such as reasoning, problem solving and planning. The three main components of this model are: (1) working (the ability to hold information in mind while manipulating it); (2) inhibition (the ability to control our attention, behaviours, thoughts, and emotions to suppress our internal dispositions or external lures when necessary); (3) cognitive flexibility (the ability to change perspective and adapt). This model makes a clear distinction between independent but interrelated components, which can be useful in clinical and research settings. However, this is a conceptual model and more studies are needed to validate it. Both Diamond's and Miyake's models present a three-component executive functions. Both models include inhibition and shifting/cognitive flexibility as main executive components. However, in Diamond's model working memory as a whole is considered an executive component, and in Miyake's model only the updating element of working memory is considered.

For the present master's thesis, we decided to focus on the two models proposing three executive components: working memory/updating, inhibition, shifting/cognitive flexibility (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000). These two models are widely accepted in the scientific community. These models put forward distinct, yet related, executive components.

Working memory is considered an integral component of executive functioning (Anderson, 2010). Working memory can be defined as the component responsible for a limited capacity temporary storage and manipulation of information when the perceptual information is no longer present (Baddeley, 2003). Working memory allows new information to remain online while it is being related to previously learned information. Working memory differs from short memory because involves the manipulation of information. The best known working memory model was initially proposed by Baddeley (1974). It postulates that working memory has two "slave systems", one that handles verbal information (i.e. the visuospatial loop), and the other that process visuospatial information (i.e. the visuospatial sketchpad). These two systems respond to the central executive, an attentional limited control component. The central executive is responsible for the

attentional control aspect of working memory. This model was later revised and an additional component was added to the model, the episodic buffer (Baddeley, 2000; Baddeley, 2003). This component is related to the temporary and limited storage of multimodal information. Its role is to bind together different information modalities, such as phonological, visual, spatial information, and multidimensional representations in long-term and semantic memory to form a unitary episodic representation across space and time (Baddeley, 2000; Baddeley, 2003). Updating is another executive component that is very closely related to working memory. It refers to our mental ability to monitor and update incoming representations in working memory (Miyake et al., 2000). It allows us to monitor the action being carry out, and correct or adapt our thoughts and actions if any change arises.

Working memory skills are necessary to hold short-term information in mind while accessing long-term memory. The phonological loop, one of the slave systems of the working memory, supports rehearsal and storage of verbal and acoustic information. Through working memory this new information interacts with the long-term memory via the multimodal episodic buffer allowing us to make sense of this new phonological information (Baddeley, 2003; Mohapatra, 2019). Thus, it is a crucial ability to make sense of written and spoken language (Diamond, 2013). Working memory is related to language abilities such as reading (Peng et al., 2018), writing (Capodieci et al., 2019), narrative discourse (Youse & Coelho, 2005), sentence comprehension (Fedorenko et al., 2006), among others.

Another important EF component is inhibitory control, which is the ability to suppress or inhibit the dominant or the automatic response. It allows us to control our behaviour, thought, and emotions in order to override internal predispositions or external lures. It allows us to focus our attention on the information that is more appropriate or necessary to achieve our goals (Diamond, 2013). Thanks to the inhibitory control mechanisms, we can resist the intrusions of irrelevant information from memory or external distractive information (Friedman & Miyake, 2004). Thereby, inhibitory control allows us to focus on the relevant information without overloading working memory.

During language performance, we need to inhibit distractors, while keeping relevant information online in our working memory during communication. This

ability allows to choose the right word and sentence structure over other competing options and refraining us from generating the improper words or employ the improper sentence structure (Badre & Wagner, 2007). This ability is important for language abilities, such as reading (Butterfuss & Kendeou, 2018), picture naming (Sikora et al., 2016), semantic judgment (Stanley et al., 2017), sentence comprehension (Mohapatra, 2019), among others. During sentence comprehension, inhibition helps us to suppress conflicting interpretations, especially in syntactically ambiguous sentences, and it allows us to make a coherent interpretation of the sentence given its context. We also often rely on inhibitory mechanisms to suppress the most common meaning of a word or a sentence, in order to activate the most appropriate meaning within its context. This ability is essential for understanding the metaphorical meaning of words and sentences (Champagne et al., 2004).

Cognitive flexibility, also known as shift or attention switching, is considered in different models as an essential executive component. This component allows us to flexibly shift our attention between mental sets, operations, and tasks. It also allows us to change our perspectives, to adjust when the demands or priorities of a task change, and to think outside the box (Diamond, 2013). Thanks to cognitive flexibility, we can rapidly and efficiently adapt to different situations. Cognitive flexibility allows us to monitor and shift strategies, which is an important skill for reading (Butterfuss & Kendeou, 2018), sentence comprehension (Goral et al., 2011), pragmatic comprehension (Bosco et al., 2017), among other language abilities.

#### 2.2 Language components

In what follows, we discuss the following language components: phonology, syntax, semantics, pragmatics, and discourse. These are often impaired in adults with acquired language disorders. We present their definition and their associated impairments. We also present some language tasks commonly used to assess each of these components. Only tasks included in our analysis are discussed. Finally, we discuss the role of EF in these language tasks.

# **2.3.1. Phonology**

#### 2.3.1.1 Definition

Phonology is the subfield of linguistics that studies the system of speech sounds. Each language (e.g. Portuguese, English, French, Spanish) has its own catalogue of sounds and rules for sound combinations which form syllables and words (Blumstein, 1998; Buckingham & Christman, 2008). Phonology studies how speech sounds can be grouped to form syllables and words. It also studies phonemes which are formed of the minimal distinctive traits of a language that expresses meaning (Wang et al., 2008). Phonology includes the encoding, representation, and retrieval of speech sounds in their prosodic dimensions (e.g. intonation, stress, and timings) and in their articulatory form (e.g. words, syllables, and phonemes) (Snow, 2000).

Sound units, also known as sound segments, can be analyzed in two representation levels, phonological (mental) and phonetic (physical). The phonological level concerns the properties of sounds and their organizational principles. These help an individual to differentiate minimal pairs. Minimal pairs happen when two words sound almost the same but they have a single different phoneme that leads to a difference in meaning (Barlow & Gierut, 2002). These differences can happen in at least one of the three traits of a phoneme: place of articulation, manner of articulation, and voice. For example, the words 'dear' and 'gear' are phonologically differentiated by the phonemes /d/ and /g/ that have different places of articulation. Both phonemes are voiced (voice) and plosives (manner of articulation). Nevertheless, they differ in their place of articulation: /g/ is velar (i.e., articulated with the back part of the tongue against the back part of the palate), whereas /d/ is alveolar (i.e., articulated with the tongue against the upper teeth). The phonetic level is responsible for the physical retrieval, acoustic transmission, and encoding of the sounds of speech. Phonetics is involved in the planning of articulatory movements for speech (Buckingham & Christman, 2008). While phonetics is responsible for the articulatory processing of sounds, phonology is responsible for translating the abstract representation of sounds stored in the brain to the actual articulation of a sound when we speak (Hayes, 2009).

# 2.3.2.2 Phonological Impairments

Acquired phonological deficits are common in aphasia, an acquired language disorder that often follows a stroke. Aphasic patients might present with deficits in phonological encoding and retrieval abilities (Buckingham & Christman, 2008).

Deficits in speech encoding include a decreased capacity to discriminate pairs of words and nonsense syllables, such as "pears" versus "bears" or "pa" versus "ba". These encoding errors happen more often with consonants compared to vowels and in medial and final syllabic positions than in initial positions (Blumstein, 1998).

Phonological retrieval deficits include errors, such as phoneme substitution, simplification, addition, and environment errors (Croot et al., 2012). Phoneme substitutions occur when a phoneme is wrongfully replaced by another phoneme, for example, saying "dat" instead of "hat". Simplification errors happen when a phoneme or a syllable is deleted, for example saying "bawn" instead of brown. Addition errors occur when an extra phoneme added to a word, for example saying "prapa" instead of "papa". Finally, environment errors happen when the occurrence of a particular phoneme is changed by the influence of the surrounding phonetic context. Two situations may occur, the order of the segment could be changed, for example, by saying "godri" instead of "degree", or another sound could influence the occurrence of another, for example saying "trit" instead of "Crete" (Blumstein, 1998).

Paraphasias can be defined as the unintended substitution of sounds and words. Paraphasias are classified according to their relation to the intended word. Paraphasias related to phonology can happen as phonemic or phonetic paraphasias. Phonemic paraphasias occur when the produced word is phonologically related to the target word (e.g. saying nat instead of cat) (Silagi et al., 2015). Phonemic paraphasias can happen as the substitution, omission or addition of phonemes. These paraphasias happen due to an impairment in the selection and/or the planning of the phoneme. Phonetic paraphasias occur as extreme phonetic distortion errors that happen due to an impairment on the programming or the execution of articulatory gestures (Marczy & Baqué, 2013).

Another condition that affects language abilities is primary progressive aphasia (PPA) (Bambini et al., 2016; Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011), a neurodegenerative disease that causes gradually and progressively impair language abilities. For the diagnosis of PPA, language impairment must be the most prominent difficulty and cause the most impact on daily living activities (Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011; Mesulam, 2001). Other cognitive domains can be affected by the progress of the disease; however, language still is the most impaired one (Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011). This condition is classified according to three variants: semantic, logopenic, and nonfluent/agrammatic variants (Bonner et al., 2010; Grossman, 2010). A single and isolated language impairment may be found in a minority of patients. Some patients may also present mixed features that do not fit these three classifications, which can become clearer with the progress of the disease. A clinical evaluation of different language abilities is needed to correctly classify patients into PPA subtypes (Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011).

In the logopenic variant, deficits are characterized by impaired single-word retrieval in spontaneous speech, naming and repetition. This phonological disruption occurs during phonological retrieval and encoding (Croot et al., 2012). It can be observed in the substitution, addition, or deletion of well-articulated phonemic segments. Motor speech, single-word comprehension, and syntactic abilities are usually preserved (Grossman, 2010). In the nonfluent/agrammatic variant, patients often present primary progressive apraxia of speech, characterized by an impaired planning on the speech motor control. This leads to a distorted articulation and eventually errors producing sound and syllables across words or within multisyllabic words. Phonological retrieval and encoding processes are usually spared. The other criteria diagnosis for nonfluent/agrammatic PPA and the semantic variant will be discussed later on in the syntax and semantic sections, respectively.

#### 2.3.2.3 Phonological Tasks

Phonology is one of the key elements for successful word reading and writing abilities. Phonological abilities play a major role in reading by working as an alphabetic backup system (Wang et al., 2008). Given that phonemes are the building blocks that form words (Wang et al., 2008), explicit orthographic-phonological

processes are activated to sound out individual phonemes, and then combine these into words (Veenendaal et al., 2016). This is particularly important in the context of unfamiliar or unknown words. However, when reading familiar words, both phonological and semantic processes are engaged (Cherney, 2010; Crisp & Lambon Ralph, 2006; Veenendaal et al., 2016).

Single-word reading tasks are usually employed to assess phonological abilities. They usually involve the reading of regular, irregular, foreign, and nonwords (i.e. invented words). The reading of words with regular and irregular letter-to-sound correspondences allows the assessment of phonology and semantics. Reading tasks often include words from different grammatical classes (e.g. nouns, verbs, function words) and with different frequencies (e.g. high- and low-frequency words). The reading of nonwords and foreign words assesses orthography-to-phonology mappings without semantic contribution. Clinicians can observe thought reading tasks if patients produce phonological impairments, such as phoneme omissions and substitutions, neologisms, and perseveration, besides the detection of paraphasias.

Phonology also plays a major role in spelling abilities. Spelling is actually more phonologically demanding than reading. This happens because generally there are more ways to spell a phoneme than forms to read a grapheme (Dębska et al., 2019). Spelling processes include the activation of phonological, semantics, and writing motor components.

Spelling-to-dictation tasks are often used to assess phonological impairments. These tasks usually include the spell of regular, irregular, foreign, and nonwords. Words usually vary their grammatical class (e.g. nouns, verbs, function words), length, and frequency (e.g. high- and low-frequency words).

Another task that can be used to assess phonology is the phonemic verbal fluency task, also known as letter fluency. During this task, participants must evoke words beginning with a specific sound or letter, for example, words starting with the sound /p/ or the letter p: pencil, pen, and so on). To perform this task, orthographic and phonological networks are activated. This allows us to strategic search and retrieve words following a phonemic category (Stolwyk et al., 2015). Unlike semantic categories that are often employed in everyday life (e.g. making a

supermarket list), phonemic categorization is rarely used. Even if it is possible to employ semantic strategies (e.g. pen and pencil, both are school supplies), we usually need to inhibit the activation of semantically related words in order to apply novel retrieval strategies (Shao et al., 2014). For example, suppressing eraser or notebook, after pen and pencil.

Picture naming is another language task that engages phonology and semantics (Barry et al., 2001; DeLeon et al., 2007; Moayedfar et al., 2021; Morelli et al., 2011). In this task, participants must name objects or actions presented in a picture format. Naming impairments can occur as a consequence of the difficulty to access the phonological form or the semantic concept evoked by the picture (Moayedfar et al., 2021). The latter will be further discussed in the semantics section.

## 2.3.4.4 Phonological tasks and Executive Functions

Simultaneous information processing and storage are necessary during reading and writing; thus, engage working memory (Capodieci et al., 2019; Peng et al., 2018). Working memory plays an important role on decoding (i.e. the orthography-to-phonology mapping that allows the translation of printed words into language, and reading comprehension) (Christopher et al., 2012). For decoding, working memory helps to access and monitor speech-based information (Swanson et al., 2009). One study showed that students with poor decoding abilities had worse performance on working memory tasks when compared to adequate readers (Swanson, 1999).

Inhibitory control is also related to reading decoding (van der Sluis et al., 2007). During decoding, inhibitory control suppresses neighbouring words (i.e. orthographically similar words). These words can be incorrectly activated during reading. Their suppression helps to decrease working memory overload during reading (de Jong et al., 2009; Purvis & Tannock, 2000; Van De Voorde et al., 2010). To sum up, a poor suppression mechanism is linked to more intrusion errors that can distract from the relevant information and overload the working memory system (Butterfuss & Kendeou, 2018; De Beni & Palladino, 2000).

There is less evidence to support the role of cognitive flexibility in decoding and reading comprehension. Cognitive flexibility helps to shift between reading

strategies and to monitor comprehension. Being more flexible also helps reading by allowing us to shift attention and flexibly alternate between semantic and phonological features. This flexibility is also known as graphophonological-semantic flexibility (Butterfuss & Kendeou, 2018). For decoding, one study showed that cognitive flexibility was related to better nonword reading (Colé et al., 2014). Another study found that cognitive flexibility predicts the performance of singleword reading (Ouellette & Beers, 2010). These results imply that the role of cognitive flexibility could extend beyond reading comprehension.

For spelling, working memory allows us to retrieve and maintain the phonological and orthographic sequences of words until the word is actually spelled while controlling for irrelevant concurrent information (Capodieci et al., 2019). In order to spell a familiar word, we must initially retrieve orthographic information from our orthographic lexicon (i.e. long-term memory where the orthographic representation of familiar words is stored). Whereas for unfamiliar or nonwords, we must engage phonology-to-orthography mappings. Therefore, orthographic representations can be retrieved from orthographic long-term memory or be assembled by phonology-to-orthography conversion (Rapp et al., 2016). These processes are sustained by our limited working memory capacity.

The working memory system is responsible for maintaining letter identities and their respective order online. A disruption in the working memory can lead to a decreased ability to hold items for the short period of time necessary for motor performance. This deficit can be translated into an increased probability of incorrectly producing letters in long words (Rapp et al., 2016).

# 2.3.2 Semantics

#### 2.3.2.1 Definition

Semantics is the subfield of linguistics interested in how language meanings are processed (Harel & Rumpe, 2004). Semantics includes the study of meaning in words (i.e. lexical-semantics), sentences, or even larger units of discourse (Kroeger, 2019). Semantics plays a great role in several language abilities, such as naming, categorization, and comprehension.

Naming is one of the key abilities related to lexical-semantic processing. Naming ability involves several mental steps. It begins with the retrieval of a given concept. The meaning of the word is usually activated as a whole. It is then followed by lexical selection. After the activation of the target concept, the next step is to encode the morpheme-phoneme at the lemma level (i.e. abstract conceptual form of a word). The word is then phonetically encoded at the lexeme level (i.e. unit of meaning that underlies a set of words that are related through inflection), and finally, the word is articulated (Levelt et al., 1999; Moayedfar et al., 2021).

Categorization is another ability that engages semantics (Jerger & Damian, 2005). The meaning of a word is represented by its features. For example, the word "dog" can be classified in several ways using its features, such as being an animal, a mammal, domestic, besides having four legs and a tail, among other characteristics. From these features, we can categorize words using different semantic relationships (Pothos & Wills, 2011). For example, we know that words belonging to the same category (e.g. dog and cat) share more semantic features when compared to words from different categories (e.g. dog and banana).

Semantics is also key to language comprehension. Language comprehension requires the integration of different linguistic components, such as phonology, syntax, and semantics (Breese & Hillis, 2004; Gajardo-Vidal et al., 2018; Hickok et al., 2008; Simos et al., 2014). The first step to language comprehension is to convert sensory input (e.g. pictorial, spoken, or written inputs) into abstract (picture or word) forms (Booth et al., 2002). The next step involves accessing lexical information from semantic memory linked to these forms, and finally to integrate this information with the preceding context, known as the unification process (Hagoort, 2005).

In single-word comprehension, semantics contributes to word identification, and word decoding (Keenan & Betjemann, 2008). Prior knowledge that is stored in semantic memory contributes to better word identification due to word predictability (Priebe et al., 2011). For sentence comprehension, semantics helps us to decipher the words that form the sentence. In addition, it provides context that contributes to the ability to grasp the overall meaning of the sentence (Leikin et al., 2012; Priebe et al., 2011).

### 2.3.2.2 Semantic impairments

Semantic impairments are common in almost all types of language deficits followed by brain damage (Libben, 2008). However, not all words are equally affected. In general, abstract words (e.g. friendship or success) are more vulnerable to semantic impairments when compared to concrete words (e.g. cat or table). Moreover, some patients can have particular difficulty with certain grammatical classes of words (e.g. nouns or verbs) (Libben, 2008).

Post-left stroke patients may present impairments in how they process words. Decreased auditory and written comprehension in both word and sentences are common semantic deficits (Knollman-Porter et al., 2019; Wiener et al., 2004). This difficulty is increased with low-frequency words (DeDe, 2012) and longer and more complex sentences (Caplan et al., 2007).

Categorization deficits can be presented as a difficulty to judge if words are semantically related, or placing words in a narrow category extension. For example, when asked what mosquitoes and bees have in common, some patients may answer "animal", a large category instead of insects, a narrower category (Verheyen et al., 2019).

Given that naming involves both phonological and semantic access, naming disorders can happen as a result of a difficulty to access the phonological form of a word or to access the meaning of the word (Barry et al., 2001; DeLeon et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2014; Moayedfar et al., 2021; Morelli et al., 2011). Impairment in picture naming abilities is common in different pathologies, such as left post-stroke aphasia (DeLeon et al., 2007; Herbert et al., 2008), Alzheimer's disease (Lin et al., 2014; Moayedfar et al., 2021), and semantic PPA (Bruffaerts et al., 2020). Incorrect naming responses can take the form of semantic paraphasias (e.g. magazine instead of book), or even unrelated paraphasias (i.e. substitution of one word for another unrelated word, for example, cat instead of pencil) or as a non-response (i.e. pure anomia; absence of the name). The latter can happen as a "tip-of-the-tongue" effect, when the person knows the target concept, but cannot name it. It can also happen as circumlocution (i.e. substitution of a word for a phrase). For example, answering "It is used to call people", when asked to name a telephone. It can also involve visual substitutions that happens when the word is replaced by another that is visually

similar (e.g. pyramid instead of triangle). Finally, naming errors can happen as intrusion, when the answer is actually a word that had been previously presented (Silagi et al., 2015).

Right-hemisphere damage patients can also suffer from semantic impairments. They usually present intact semantic processing when dealing with words with straightforward typical meanings (Thompson et al., 2016). Their understanding of the primary meaning of individual words and unambiguous simple sentences is usually preserved. However, they might present semantic control deficits when processing words with possible divergent meanings, especially when involving non-dominant meanings that are alternate, connotative, or less familiar (Myers, 1999; Thompson et al., 2016). They can also show impaired word retrieval skills, making more "no response" and semantic errors compared to neurotypical participants (Krishnan et al., 2015).

Patients suffering from neurodegenerative diseases can also present with semantic deficits. For example, semantic impairments in Alzheimer's disease are characterized by difficulties in word finding and object naming (Cappa et al., 1998; Cotelli et al., 2012; Cotelli et al., 2010; Laws et al., 2007). Their most common naming errors produced are semantic paraphasias (Laws et al., 2007). These difficulties become more evident with the progress of the disease.

In the semantic variant of the primary progressive aphasia, also known as semantic dementia, semantic impairment is its core feature (Gorno-Tempini et al., 2011). This affects performance in a large number of tasks, such as confrontation naming, single-word comprehension, object and/or person knowledge, and reading. Impairment in comprehension ability is a result of progressive degradation of concept representations (Jefferies & Lambon Ralph, 2006). Poor comprehension skills are often impacted equally all input and output modalities, showing itemconsistency impairments across tasks. Semantic dementia patients struggle more with less familiar items when compared to more familiar ones and they usually do not respond to phonemic cues.

# 2.3.2.3 Semantic Tasks

Picture naming is among the most widely used task for assessing semantics. Clinicians can observe the kind of error produced to analyze the source of the deficit.

If the errors in picture naming can be linked to semantic difficulties, but not visual problems (e.g. mirror instead of comb), this suggests a semantic deficit. Errors can also be linked to visual aspects, without involving semantic ones (e.g. knife instead of nail); thus, suggesting a deficit in object recognition. It can involve both semantic and visual aspects (e.g. horse instead of camel). In addition to the phonological errors already discussed in the phonology section.

Another task that involves semantics is the semantic categorization or judgment task, which assesses semantic processing using categorization (Obermeyer et al., 2020). In the simplest version of this task, participants must identify if a pair of words belong to the same semantic category (e.g. chair and table are both pieces of furniture). Participants must activate the semantic features of each word in order to figure out if they fit in the same semantic category (e.g. dogs and cats, for the animal category) or if the words do not belong to the same semantic category (e.g. skirt and banana). These tasks usually involve manmade (e.g. clothing, furniture, vehicles) or natural (e.g. animals, fruits, vegetables, mammals) categories.

Auditory and written comprehension tasks also involve semantics (Breese & Hillis, 2004). They assess the ability to understand spoken and written words and sentences. In the single-word version of the task, participants must identify the picture that corresponds to the spoken (i.e. auditory comprehension task) or written (i.e. written comprehension tasks) the target word (e.g. cat) among other distractors. These distractors are often visually (e.g. panther), semantically (e.g. dog), or phonologically (e.g. hat) related to the target word. Similarly, for sentence comprehension, participants must identify the image that corresponds to the written or spoken sentence. Given that sentence comprehension engages both semantics and syntax components, we will further discuss the sentence comprehension task in the syntax section.

Semantic verbal fluency tasks, also known as category fluency, is also often employed to assess semantics. During this task, participants must evoke as many words as possible following specific semantic rules, such as animals or fruits and vegetables, in a limited time range. This task assesses lexical access ability (Shao et al., 2014). Participants must activate their semantic knowledge in order to retrieve semantic associations. Strategies such as categorization or clustering help

performance in this task (Gonçalves et al., 2017; Troyer, 2000). For example, when asked to name clothes, participants can subcategorize clothes by season (e.g. summer or winter clothes), occasion (e.g. parties, casual, sleeping clothes).

There is also another form of verbal fluency task known as unconstrained verbal task. During this task, participants also need to evoke as many words as possible, but none previously phonological or semantic rule is established. Thus, no clue on how to generate the words is provided. Participants that usually have a better performance are able to create clusters and to shift to new clusters when the present cluster has been exhausted (Gonçalves et al., 2017). One successful strategy is to form semantic clusters (e.g. animals, plants, food) or phonological clusters (e.g. pack, park, pace). To be able to explore this strategy, the patient needs to activate semantic and/or phonological processes. This version of the verbal fluency task has been less employed; thus, it still needs to be further explored.

### 2.3.2.4 Semantic Tasks and Executive Functions

EF play a role in semantics by suppressing irrelevant and distractor information, allowing information to remain online in working memory, and shifting strategies, among other functions.

Picture naming tasks engage working memory and inhibitory control. Working memory allows the patient to keep online the requirements of the tasks while the conceptual and linguistic processes are being engaged. Inhibitory control allows the suppression of irrelevant information and distractors (Sikora et al., 2016). For example, in order to successfully name a picture of a cat, many related words (e.g. dog, tail, kitten) can be activated and need to be suppressed. Inhibitory control impairment is related to response perseveration (Snowden et al., 2019). Cognitive flexibility does not seem to be related to picture naming performance (Shao et al., 2012).

Semantic judgment tasks are also related to EF (Martin & Allen, 2008; Obermeyer et al., 2020; Stanley et al., 2017). Inhibitory control helps to focus only on the relevant features and to suppress irrelevant information and distractors. Moreover, working memory helps to retain online several features while the categorization and semantic judgment processes are being conducted (Koenig et al., 2005).

EF also seem to play an important role in language comprehension. Our semantic knowledge needs to be adapted according to the requirements of the tasks or the context. EF help to direct and control semantic activation in a context-appropriate manner (Jefferies et al., 2007). EF contributes to the comprehension tasks performance because it allows us to interpret words and/or sentences according to the context of the task. Executive impairments are linked to a greater difficulty to manipulate and gate semantic information to achieve appropriated behaviours regarding context, task, and time (Thompson et al., 2018).

Verbal fluency tasks are well known for engaging both executive and linguistic components. However, there are some contradictory findings regarding the role of EF in verbal fluency tasks. For example, one study found that verbal fluency did not load in the same factor as EF measures, only on the language factor (Whiteside et al., 2016). This finding suggests that language processing be the main mechanism underlying verbal fluency tasks. On the other hand, other studies have indicated a crucial role of EF in verbal fluency (Aita et al., 2019; Amunts et al., 2020; Gustavson et al., 2019; Shao et al., 2014). During these tasks, participants have to maintain focus to only select the words that meet the criteria and to avoid repetition. The participant also needs to be flexible in order to shift strategies when the strategy employed has been exhausted. For example, when asked to name animals, one strategy is to name zoo animals, when this strategy is no longer working, a person can shift to another strategy, such as naming domestic animals. These processes are linked to inhibitory control and cognitive flexibility (Amunts et al., 2020; Fisk & Sharp, 2004; Shao et al., 2014).

## **2.3.3 Syntax**

#### 2.3.3.1 Definition

Syntax is the subfield of linguistics that studies the rules, principles, and processes of sentence structure. Most sentences are usually composed of at least one agent (the do*ers* of the action) and one theme (the do*ees* of the action) (Beretta, 2008). Sentences usually contain a subject (S), a verb (V) and an object (O). Active voice sentences (e.g. she loves cakes) are less difficult to comprehend than passive voice ones (e.g. cakes are loved by her) because it is easier to identify thematic roles (who did what to whom) when they are not inverted. Sentences can also include a

relative clause, which is a part of a sentence usually introduced by words such as which, that, who. Relative clauses are used to join two sentences or to give further information about the main clause (e.g. the girl likes the boy that plays on a band). The argument-verb structure also plays a role in syntax. Verbs are essential for sentence comprehension because they help to establish relations among words in a sentence (Shapiro & Levine, 1990). Arguments are expressions that contribute to complete the meaning of a predicate (i.e. the main verb and its auxiliaries). Different from adjuncts that are optional, arguments are essential for the meaning of the predicate. For example, in the phrase "The boy really likes cake", boy and cake are arguments for the verb like. The subject and object are core arguments. The word "really" in this phrase is an adjunct because it is not essential for the phrase to be meaningful. The syntactic function of the argument is essential for sentence comprehension. For example, in the phrases "John likes Mary", "Mary is liked by John", or "Mary has been liked by John", the predicate "like" has different forms, by consequent their arguments (e.g. Mary and John) also vary, whereas the thematic roles of the arguments remain the same. All these mentioned factors play a role in increasing the difficulty of producing or understanding a sentence (Caplan et al., 2007; Kudo, 1984; Leikin et al., 2012; Thompson et al., 2015).

In order to produce a sentence, we need to retrieve words from semantic memory, combining stored information, while we construct syntactic relations among the words (Vigliocco & Hartsuiker, 2002). Sentence production involves several complex processes, such as message conceptualization, accessing relevant lexical material, sentence building (i.e. sequencing of lexical material into grammatical sentences), morphophonological processes, and articulatory encoding (Thompson et al., 2015). This allows us to translate a communicative intention to overt speech.

One of the first stages is the lemma selection and retrieval. Some studies indicate that not only semantic but also syntactic information becomes accessible in this first step. Indeed, word substitution errors usually happen in the same grammatical category. Therefore, syntactic information is retrieved along with meaning and form steps during lexical access (Vigliocco & Hartsuiker, 2002). The other stage involves the access of form-related information or lexemes. Following

Levelt's model (1999), there are two main systems responsible for sentence production. The first one involves rhetorical, semantic, and syntactic systems and it is responsible for conceptual preparation and grammatical encoding. The surface structure of the sentence is generated by the interaction of knowledge of the external and internal world and the mental lexicon (Thompson et al., 2015). The second one activates the phonological/phonetic system for morphophonological and phonetic encoding as well as articulatory processes.

Syntax is also needed to sentence comprehension. The latter can be affected by sentence complexity (e.g. number of verbs and thematic roles, sentence length, and types of syntactic construction). To understand a sentence, a person must process both the meaning of words, thus engaging semantics, and the syntactic structure, thus engaging syntax (Leikin et al., 2012). One key aspect to sentence comprehension is to understand the thematic roles (who did what to whom) (MacDonald & Hsiao, 2018). For example, we need semantics and syntax to understand the phrase "The rat was chased by the cat". We must know the difference between a cat and a rat, thus activating semantics. Then, we must perceive that the sentence has a passive structure to interpret that the cat was the agent of the action. The knowledge of the individual words is not sufficient to comprehend a sentence. Structure cues, such as word order and verb morphology, are also necessary for assigning the correct noun for the thematic role as agent of the action (Leikin et al., 2012). In other words, syntax plays a key role in sentence comprehension (Caplan et al., 1985; Gajardo-Vidal et al., 2018; Simos et al., 2014; Sung et al., 2009; Yoon et al., 2015).

### 2.3.3.2 Syntactic impairments

Agrammatism is the most common sentence production deficit in post-stroke aphasia (Cho-Reyes et al., 2016). Agrammatism can be defined as a difficulty to employ basic grammar and syntactic rules. Syntactic production deficits are characterized by a decreased ability to produce a complete grammatical structure. The syntactic structure is characterized by the omission of sentence components. Sentences often contain mainly content words, such as nouns and verbs, but lack a few or even several function words, such as "the", "and", "what" (Adelt et al., 2018). Agrammatic patients usually produce sentences reduced in length and complexity

(Faroqi-Shah & Friedman, 2015; Lee & Thompson, 2004). Sentence deficits can also appear as a greater difficulty employing grammatical structural (e.g. difficulty employing the correct noun), and word inflections (e.g. adding "ed" or "ing" to a verb to change its tense or adding an "s" to a noun to make it plural). Hesitations during sentence production are also common. They occur as filled and unfilled pauses, false starts, repetition, and parenthetical remarks (Thompson et al., 2015).

Syntax comprehension deficits are also a common symptom of post-stroke aphasia (Caplan et al., 2007), even when presenting unimpaired single-word comprehension (Martin & Tan, 2015). This can occur as a greater difficulty to identify thematic roles in passive voices sentences (Duman et al., 2011). Aphasic patients tend to incorrectly assign verb argument structures (e.g. agent, theme, goal) (Shapiro & Levine, 1990). For example, in the phrase "The ball was thrown by the man", even though the patient can understand the semantic meanings of the nouns "ball" and "man", it can be difficult to identify the man as the role of agent (i.e. who carry out the action) and the ball as the theme (i.e. object or person being acted upon) (Martin & Tan, 2015). Another common difficulty is to understand sentences with object relative clauses, such as "the person that I saw yesterday is my new neighbour" (Caplan et al., 2007). In this kind of sentence, it can be more difficult to identify the thematic role corresponding to each noun. Likewise, sentences with reflexive pronouns, such as "my friends' father shaved himself", can be difficult to interpret for aphasic patients. For a successful interpretation, patients must understand the implication of the reflexive in this structure, while the reflexive (e.g. himself) is matched with the subject (e.g. my friend's father) (Caplan et al., 1985). Some aphasic patients may also present a greater difficulty with implausible sentences (i.e. sentences with events which never or rarely occur in our daily life) because they are less predictable. Indeed, semantic plausibility helps aphasic patients to decode their messages, contributing to sentence comprehension (Kudo, 1984). One example of a plausible sentence is "The dog has bitten the man", which is a likely event to occur, and an implausible sentence would be "The man has bitten the dog", which is an event unlikely to happen.

Other neurological conditions can also present sentence comprehension deficits, such as traumatic brain injury. Sentence comprehension deficits in

traumatic brain injury can appear as a greater difficulty to comprehend more complex sentences, such as sentences containing relative clauses (e.g. who, which, that, where, etc.), passive sentences, and conjoined structures (i.e. sentences that contain two or more independent clauses united by a conjunction, such as "the girl hit the boy and the cat") (Leikin et al., 2012).

Patients with primary progressive aphasia can also present with syntactic impairments. Indeed, the language deficits in the nonfluent/agrammatic variant of primary progressive aphasia are mainly syntactic. Deficits include grammatical simplification with errors in sentence production, impaired syntactic comprehension, and an effortful and halting speech with speech sound errors. Single-word comprehension and object knowledge are usually spared (Grossman, 2010).

## 2.3.3.3 Syntax Tasks

As we established in the semantic section, sentence comprehension tasks (written or auditory modalities) engage both semantic and syntax components. In these tasks, patients must indicate the picture that corresponds to the right written or spoken sentence among sentence distractors. Distractors can change the actor of the action or the action itself (i.e. agent-action mismatch). For example, in a picture depicting the sentence "The dog follows a boy", a distractor picture could be "The boy carries the dog". The tasks usually start with simpler sentences with fewer agents and themes and increasingly add more complex sentences with more agents, themes, and details involved. To perform well in these tasks, participants must activate phonology, syntax, and semantics in order to select the correct answer, while inhibiting the other distractors (Drummond et al., 2015).

# 2.3.3.4 Syntactic Tasks and Executive Functions

During language comprehension, working memory plays an essential role. The information received from the early parts of the sentence needs to remain online, so they can be integrated with the latter parts of the sentence. This allows us to grasp the overall meaning of the sentence (Martin & Tan, 2015). Studies have shown that working memory measures are able to predict performance on sentence comprehension tasks. This prediction is greater with more complex sentences or when there was an external memory load (Daneman & Carpenter, 1980; Fedorenko

et al., 2006; Just & Carpenter, 1992). Other studies showed that an overall decreased working memory capacity is linked to a worsen performance on sentence comprehension. However, these two deficits can be dissociated (Caplan et al., 1999; Hanten & Martin, 2000; Waters et al., 1991).

Inhibitory control also contributes to sentence comprehension by suppressing competing sentence representations, allowing for a coherent sentence representation (Mohapatra, 2019). In addition, inhibition also helps to suppress irrelevant information in semantically ambiguous sentences (Yoon et al., 2015). Cognitive flexibility also plays a role in sentence comprehension. Each new sentence must be integrated and interpreted independently from the previous ones. Cognitive flexibility supports sentence comprehension by allowing us to flexible shift from one sentence structure to another (Goral et al., 2011).

## 2.3.4 Pragmatics

### 2.3.4.1 Definition

Meaning is not only dependent on structural and linguistic knowledge, it also relies on background contextual information, such as manners, place, time, culture, and identity of the speaker (Ariel, 2010). Pragmatics is the subfield of linguistics that studies how utterances have meanings according to the situation (Bosco et al., 2018). It can be defined as the study of how language is used in communication or the principles of language use (Wearing, 2015).

While semantics studies the meaning of conventional language, pragmatics is interested in how context and the inferred intent of the speaker interfere with the transmission of meaning. Pragmatics helps to connect the abstract linguistic knowledge of rules and the actual realization of linguistic form and interpretation within its context (Ariel, 2010). Pragmatics includes different linguistic aspects, such as context-dependent utterances, metaphorical interpretations, and indirect speech acts.

Context cues are often necessary for conveying meaning. If an utterance depends on context support or any reference to extra-grammatical factors, it can be considered as pragmatically determined (Ariel, 2010). Understanding that the semantic interpretation could differ from its pragmatics interpretation is a key

aspect of pragmatics. While semantic meanings are mostly constant, context insensitive and context invariant, pragmatics meaning are context-sensitive (Ariel, 2010).

Communicating by recognizing and expressing intention also involves pragmatics (Scott-Phillips, 2017; Wearing, 2015). The standing meaning could not be enough to understand what a speaker actually means by their utterance. We often need to understand their intentions in order to determine the actual meaning. It is the task of the addressee to identify the intention behind the utterance and the effect the speaker wanted to produce (Wearing, 2015). This also includes the understanding that a message can be implied even when it is not explicitly expressed (Ariel, 2010). For example, if a person says, "could you close the window? It's very cold outside," what the person actually means is that closing the window will prevent the cold outside from entering the room. The actual intended meaning is implied. Pragmatic meanings must be inferred by the addressee; thus, they are often implicit and secondary (Ariel, 2010; Wearing, 2015). Inference can be defined as information that we have to interpret even if it is not explicitly stated.

Pragmatics also allows us to understand the implied meaning of speech acts. According to Austin (1962), speech acts are verbal acts that carry out an act rather than describing an event. This includes acts such as requesting, promising, apologizing, answering, warning, inviting, ordering, among others (Ariel, 2010). Speech acts can be performed as indirect speech acts. This happens when the speech act is not explicitly stated. For example, if a person asks, "Can you pass me the salt?" the direct meaning of the question is the ability to carry out the action of passing the salt; however, there is also the implied request to the salt to be passed (Asher & Lascarides, 2001). In everyday life, it is common to employ indirect speech acts for rejecting proposals or to make requests. For example, if a person makes an invitation such as "would you like to go on a date Friday night?" and the answer to this question is "I have to study", the addressed person employed an indirect speech act to rejecting the initial proposal.

Metaphors also engage pragmatics, because their interpretation is not direct; instead, they depend on figurative interpretation. Figurative interpretation happens when the meaning of a word or a sentence is modified from its literal meaning to a

non-literal meaning. Other than metaphorical interpretation, a few examples of figurative language include irony, understatement, deliberate exaggeration (Baum & Dwivedi, 2003; Davis, 2007). Context plays an essential role to determine if a statement should be interpreted in its literal or non-literal meaning. For example, "fan the flame of the campfire" can be understood in its literal meaning, while "fan the flame of the relationship" has a non-literal meaning interpretation (i.e. intensify or stir up feelings on a relationship) (Davis, 2007). How a person will interpret the pragmatic message also depends on the listener's recognition and interpretation. For example, how a person interprets the metaphor "Lawyers are sharks" may depend on the listener's previous view of lawyers (Gibbs & Colston, 2020). Given that metaphors have an implied meaning and they are context-dependent, we can conclude that pragmatics plays an important role on metaphorical interpretation.

## 2.3.4.2 Pragmatic Impairments

Pragmatic skills can be affected by neuropsychiatric disorders, such as right brain damage, traumatic brain injury, Alzheimer's disease, and schizophrenia. People with impaired pragmatic skills have trouble communicating in a socially appropriate manner. These patients can present with difficulty understanding the non-literal language messages, such as sarcasm/irony, indirect speech acts, figurative expressions, such as metaphors, or social cues, such as facial expressions, besides deficits in narrative production, and conversational skills (Parola et al., 2020; Weed, 2011)

Both pragmatic production and comprehension can be impaired. It can also affect different communicative modalities, such as linguistic, extralinguistic (e.g. gestures and facial expressions), and paralinguistic (e.g. prosody) (Parola et al., 2020). Common comprehension deficits in pragmatics include difficulties understanding the non-literal meaning of utterances, such as unconventional requests, new metaphors, speech acts, inferences, and humour (Brownell et al., 1986; Champagne-Lavau & Stip, 2010; Lundgren & Brownell, 2016; Yang et al., 2010). Pragmatic deficits may appear as a difficulty to interpret other people's intentions during conversations or watching television (Lehman Blake, 2006).

Pragmatic production deficits may occur as insufficient shared knowledge for their communication partner, making their discourse confuse and less informative (Chantraine et al., 1998). They may have difficulty respecting their turn to talk, maintaining the conversational topic, and making eye contact (Barnes & Armstrong, 2010; Dardier et al., 2011; Lehman Blake, 2006). Some patients can also have trouble comprehending the context and the moral of stories (Champagne et al., 2004; Zimmermann et al., 2011) and conversational joking (Bogart et al., 2012).

# 2.3.4.3 Pragmatics Assessment Tasks

One task that relies on pragmatic skills is the interpretation of speech acts (Bosco et al., 2018). For this task, participants have to identify when a speech has been indirect or direct. In other words, when the speaker meant exactly what he/she said (direct) or when the speaker's intention is conveyed by its context (indirect). For example, a direct speech act would be to ask a salesperson to sell you coconut water and an indirect one if they have coconut water. In the first one, it is clear the client's intention, but in the second one, his intention to buy coconut water is implied.

Another task associated with pragmatic skills is the metaphors interpretation. For this task, participants must explain the non-literal meaning of metaphorical sentences. For example, the non-literal message of the metaphor "He is a walking dictionary" is that a person has a lot of knowledge. The participant needs to initially process the literal meaning, thus activating semantic processing (Holyoak & Stamenković, 2018). Then, he/she must decide if the utterance is compatible with the context. If it is not compatible, further processes are needed to establish utterance meaning (Pawełczyk et al., 2017).

## 2.3.4.3 Pragmatics Assessment Tasks and Executive Functions

The literature on the relationship between pragmatics and EF is conflicting and non-conclusive (Parola et al., 2020). On the one hand, several studies have shown the role of EF in metaphor interpretation, speech acts, and pragmatic comprehension in ambiguous speech. On the other hand, other studies were not able to find any relationship between EF and pragmatic abilities (Champagne-Lavau & Stip, 2010; McDonald, 2000; Parola et al., 2018). This may be explained by the heterogeneity of tasks used to assess pragmatic skills, and even heterogeneity in patients presenting impaired pragmatic abilities (Parola et al., 2020).

One meta-analysis with traumatic brain injury found an association between executive functions and pragmatic. The latter was assessed by the ability to make inferences about implied messages in ambiguous speech, such as sarcasm, humour, and other figurative language forms (Rowley et al., 2017). Another recent study with traumatic brain injury patients also showed that executive measures (i.e. working memory, cognitive flexibility, and planning) can predict pragmatic production and comprehension abilities assessed by indirect, deceitful, and ironic communicative acts (Bosco et al., 2017).

Working memory is thought to play a role in pragmatics by allowing contextual information to remain online while inferences are being processed during ambiguous speech interpretation (Wilson, 2005). Inhibition also seems to play a role in pragmatics. Inhibition processes are activated to suppress multiple meanings in non-literal language comprehension. This seems to play a major role in the selection of the most appropriate meaning. However, one study did not find an association between inhibition and an indirect request comprehension task (Champagne et al., 2004). The same study found a significant correlation between cognitive flexibility and the indirect request comprehension task.

Metaphor interpretation is also related to EF. Proverbs interpretation is associated with problem-solving, cognitive flexibility, and planning skills (Sponheim et al., 2003). Inhibition help to suppress the prepotent but irrelevant and distracting information of key elements during metaphor comprehension. For example, in the metaphor "Rumours are weeds", the fact that weeds are plants is not necessarily relevant for the metaphor. However, the aspect that weeds are undesirable and spread quickly is needed for interpreting the metaphor. In other words, more common features often need to be suppressed during metaphor interpretation, while less common or secondary features need to be activated (Chiappe & Chiappe, 2007). An impaired ability to inhibit irrelevant features can lead to competition, resulting in an increased difficulty to understand the metaphorical meaning. Cognitive flexibility helps to shift between the literal and the metaphorical meaning of sentences (Champagne et al., 2004).

Working memory also seems to play a role in metaphor interpretation by supporting inhibitory mechanisms. In addition, working memory is linked to better

activation of large semantic neighbourhoods and a wide range of representations. People with low working memory abilities are more likely to not engage pertinent properties during metaphors interpretation (Chiappe & Chiappe, 2007).

#### 2.3.5 Discourse

## 2.3.5.1 Definition and Cognitive Mechanisms Underlying Discourse

Discourse can be defined as any connected speech or writing that is longer than a sentence and that embodies a coherent sequence of sentences, propositions, speech acts or conversation turns (Sobhani Rad, 2014). Discourse is a high-order linguistic component that relies on different language components. The comprehension of individual words and sentences are key elements for discourse comprehension, thus engaging phonological, semantic, and syntax components. However, the comprehension of single words and sentences are not sufficient for discourse comprehension. Indeed, we need to integrate all sentences to form a coherent discourse as a whole (Perfetti & Frishkoff, 2008). Therefore, another essential feature of discourse is cohesion. Cohesion can be defined as the organization necessary to mark meaningful relationships within and across sentences (Lê et al., 2011).

Discourse is also dependent on the context in which they are produced. For example, a person can use a pronoun, such as "he", "she", "it", as a way to link previously presented information. For these cues to work effectively, the person must consider the knowledge and intention states of their conversational partner, besides the propositional information to be encoded (Perfetti & Frishkoff, 2008).

### 2.3.5.2 Discourse Impairments

Discourse abilities are an essential feature of the pragmatics-communication component that allows us to express and comprehend ideas, thoughts, questions, etc. Discourse plays a key role in everyday communication; therefore discourse impairments can lead to restricted participation in society (Lê et al., 2011). Discourse impairments can occur even in the absence of aphasia symptoms. For example, traumatic brain injury and right brain damage patients are known for being "good talkers" but "poor communicators".

Discourse deficits can present as a difficulty to identify the discourse theme, the main point, and the connections among textual propositions, besides distinguishing important from trivial aspects (Ariel, 2010). The production of discourse of right-hemisphere damage and traumatic brain injury is often characterized as being incoherent, tangential, and self-oriented (Lehman Blake, 2006), besides being ambiguous and vague (Douglas, 2010). It might also present verbosity, disorganized thoughts, and focus on irrelevant details (Galetto et al., 2013; Minga, 2016). Some patients will monopolize conversations and make off-topic comments, whereas others will hesitate to talk at all because of their difficulties (Barnes & Armstrong, 2010). Some patients can present a flat and monotone discourse (Baum & Dwivedi, 2003; Lehman Blake et al., 2013; Pell, 2006).

Coherence discourse impairments, such as disorganized topic coherence and management, are also common (Johns et al., 2008). The topic of discourse is often changed abruptly and new topics are poorly related to previous ones (Pompili et al., 2020). Even when individual sentences are syntactically well structured and semantically congruent, a disruption in comprehension can occur if there are inconsistencies across sentences impairing the overall meaning of the discourse (Johns et al., 2008).

Coherence impairment can occur as an increased difficulty to employ macrostructures. This can be observed as an increased difficulty to arrange sentences into coherent paragraphs. This difficulty can also appear when retelling a story as a whole (Titone et al., 2001). Stories often do not have sentences that are tight appropriately together, besides lacking cohesion and coherence and being less informative (Minga, 2016).

Pragmatic impairments can also occur in discourse. These impairments include misattributions (i.e. when erroneous information is conveyed), the inclusion of irrelevant details, inconstant reference (i.e. characters are referred in different ways to the story leading to confusion), vagueness, and non-narrator speech (i.e. when patients step out of their role as narrator) (Klin, 2000; Norbury et al., 2014). Discourse impairment can also appear as a difficulty to identify the thematic role and the main ideas and to grasp the overall meaning of the story and the implied message (Johns et al., 2008).

Alzheimer's disease patients also often present impaired discourse abilities. Their discourse is often fluent but non-informative. Their discourse is characterized by incomplete and short sentences and lacking organization, cohesion, and coherence. They present difficulty managing and maintaining conversational topics. They also often change topic abruptly and relate poorly new topics to old ones (Pompili et al., 2020).

### 2.3.5.3 Discourse Tasks

Discourse can be assessed by a wide range of tasks, such as picture or object description, narrative, and procedural discourse tasks, besides conversational discourse. In the descriptive discourse task, patients must attribute features and concepts of a given stimulus, such as an object or a picture. In the procedure one, patients must explain the action sequences necessary to perform a given task, such as putting on pants or cooking an egg. Narrative discourse task is the most often used discourse task. It employs a story creation or a story retelling technique (Lê et al., 2011). In the first, participants create a story from a figure or a sequence of figures (Andreetta et al., 2012; Coelho et al., 2005; Marini et al., 2014). In the latter, participants must retell a story with as much information as possible (AbdulSabur et al., 2014; Coelho, 2002; Lindsey et al., 2018).

Narrative discourse engages various language components, both microstructures (phonological, semantical, and syntactic) and macrostructures (pragmatics and cohesion) (Andreetta et al., 2012; Coelho et al., 2005; Lindsey et al., 2018; Youse & Coelho, 2005). Microstructure features that can be analyzed in narrative discourse tasks include sentential complexity and verbal output errors (e.g. mazes, lexical errors, verbal paraphasias) (Lê et al., 2011). For the macrostructure, we can analyze pragmatics and coherence components. For instance, an inferred moral message can be present in the story for assessing if the patient is capable to identify and interpret inferences. In order to understand the underlying meaning of the story, patients need to engage pragmatic comprehension (Prado et al., 2015). We can also analyze two levels of discourse coherence: local and global. Local coherence refers to the ability to thematically link two sentences and global coherences refers to the ability to link each sentence to the overall discourse theme (Lê et al., 2011). Narrative discourse also uses temporal-causal organization.

Participants must organize the temporal order of the event and infer a causal relationship between the event components, as well as being able to construct a theme (i.e. creating a point in the story) (Ulatowska & Olness, 2007).

### 2.3.5.3 Discourse Tasks and Executive Functions

Discourse is a high-order linguistic component that relies on different language components, such as phonology, semantics, syntax, pragmatics, coherence, in addition to other non-linguistic domains, such as EF. EF are needed for categorization, organization, and management of large-scale information units, such as retelling a cohesive story (Cannizzaro & Coelho, 2013). Discourse impairments are often a reflection of deficits in both executive and linguistic organization processes (Ylvisaker, 2001). Indeed, discourse impairments were found to be significantly correlated with EF (Coelho, 2002; Mozeiko et al., 2011). A decreased performance in EF is associated with the production of irrelevant utterances, word-finding problems, and increased difficulty to sequence words and prepositions (Youse & Coelho, 2005).

Working memory helps to form a cohesive and organized story. To elaborate a cohesive story, a person must integrate prior episodes or episodic moments to what is being told (Mozeiko et al., 2011). Indeed, studies found that a significant correlation between working memory and discourse measures in narrative discourse tasks (Cahana-Amitay & Jenkins, 2018; Hartley & Jensen, 1991; Henderson et al., 2017; Youse & Coelho, 2005). Working memory allows the integration of information from different sources and the temporal store of complex information. Therefore, a deficit in working memory can potentially impair the integration of different episodic narrative information during discourse (Cahana-Amitay & Jenkins, 2018). Deficits in working memory can appear as a decreased ability to establish a consistent connection between sentences and the general topic of discourse, leading to a breakdown of hierarchical discourse organization and disrupted sequential processing (Cahana-Amitay & Jenkins, 2018). Working memory is also linked to micro-level components of discourse, such as lexical access and syntactic process (Henderson et al., 2017).

Inhibition also contributes to discourse by monitoring the production of offtopic comments during storytelling, helping to avoid a tangential discourse (Lundin et al., 2020; Mozeiko et al., 2011). Deficits in inhibition are also linked to a decreased ability to use clues and hints during discourse (McDonald & Pearce, 1996). The narrative discourse task was also found to be associated with cognitive flexibility (Zimmermann et al., 2011). Cognitive flexibility contributes to the recall and integration of content during story narrative (Mozeiko et al., 2011).

The linguistic and cognitive mechanisms underlying language tasks in

healthy adults: A Principal Component Analysis.

**Running head:** The linguistic and cognitive mechanisms underlying language tasks

in healthy adults

Ana Paula Bresolin Gonçalvesa, Simona M. Brambatib, Rochele Paz Fonsecac and

Maximiliano A. Wilsond

<sup>a</sup> Department of Psychology, University of Montreal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

b Department of Psychology, University of Montreal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, and

Centre de recherche de l'Institut universitaire de gériatrie de Montréal, Montreal,

Quebec, Canada

<sup>c</sup>Departement of Psychology, Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul,

Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil

dDepartement of Rehabilitation, University of Laval, Quebec, Quebec, Canada, and

Centre de recherche de l'Institut universitaire de gériatrie de Montréal, Montreal,

Quebec, Canada

**Corresponding Author** 

Full name: Maximiliano A. Wilson

Department: Rehabilitation Department Institute/University/Hospital – University

of Laval

Street Name & Number: 1050 av. de la Médecine, bureau 4442

City, State, Postal code, Country: Quebec (Quebec) - G1V 0A6, Canada

Tel: (+1) 418-656-2131, poste 402143

E-mail: maximiliano.wilson@fmed.ulaval.ca

### Abstract

We explored how a set of language tasks would group in 201 healthy participants to investigate their underlying cognitive mechanisms. Using a Principal Component Analysis, we discovered four language components that explained 59.64% of the total variance: pictorial semantics (auditory comprehension, naming and writing naming tasks), language-executive (unconstrained, semantic, and phonological verbal fluency tasks), transcoding and semantics (reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks), and pragmatics (indirect speech acts interpretation and metaphors interpretation tasks). Secondarily, we verified the association between these components with two executive measures in a subset of 33 participants. Cognitive flexibility performance was assessed using the Trail Making Test and working memory using the n-back test. The language-executive component was associated with a better cognitive flexibility score (r=-.355) and the transcoding and semantics one with a better working memory performance (r=.397). Our findings confirm the heterogeneity process underlying language tasks and their relationship to executive functions.

**Key-words:** language tasks; language processes; executive functions; semantics; pragmatics; transcoding; Principal Component Analysis.

### Introduction

A key step during language assessment is to understand the cognitive mechanisms underlying commonly used language tasks. This leads for a more precise and time-efficient language assessment. Language tasks usually engage different language components, such as phonology (i.e. how phonemes form syllables and words), semantics (i.e. how language conveys meaning), syntax (i.e. sentence structure), pragmatics (i.e. meaning variations according to context) and discourse (i.e. how to form coherent sequences of sentences). Which key linguistic and cognitive mechanisms are involved in commonly used tasks remains a matter of debate (Lacey et al., 2017). Therefore, more studies that aim to investigate these underlying components, especially in normal language performance, are needed.

A comprehensive language assessment should include a large number of tasks that assess these different language components in different modalities (e.g. oral, written, expressive and receptive language). Standardized language batteries are commonly used in clinical settings because they provide the clinician with an array of tasks to evaluate multiple components of language (Pagliarin et al., 2014). Several language batteries are commonly used, such as the Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination—BDAE (Goodglass et al., 2001) and the Multilingual Aphasia Examination—MAE (Benton et al., 1994), among many others. In the present study, we focus on two batteries extensively used in Brazilian Portuguese, the language studied here: the *Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery—brief version* (MAC; Casarin et al., 2014) and the Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery (MTL-BR; Parente et al., 2016). The MAC battery assesses communicative skills that are commonly associated with the right hemisphere lesions (Casarin et al., 2014). It contains tasks assessing different linguistic-communicative components, such as semantics, prosody, pragmatics, and discourse. The MTL-BR battery assesses language components typically impaired in post-stroke aphasia, such as phonology, syntax, semantic, and pragmatics. It includes tasks that involve different input and output modalities, such as auditory, verbal, visual, and written, and different levels of complexity, such as word, sentence, and discourse (Parente et al., 2016).

One major challenge in language assessment is time. However, useful and comprehensive, lengthy batteries are time-consuming. It is not always possible to

conduct a complete language and cognitive assessment because of time restrictions. In addition, an overly long assessment can be very stressful for some patients. Therefore, the selection of sensitive tools to assess language is of the utmost importance. Additionally, several tasks in a battery may contribute to the assessment of the same components. Knowing which language components underlie a task may inform clinical decisions on which task to use to target a specific language component and save valuable time.

Performance on language tasks depends not only on language skills but rather one the combination of linguistic and non-linguistic components (Butler et al., 2014). One of the non-linguistic components that have a major impact on language tasks is executive functions (EF). EF can be defined as the complex and high-order cognitive functions responsible for goal-oriented behaviours, including shifting, updating, inhibiting, planning, problem-solving, and reasoning (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000). Several studies highlight the crucial role of executive abilities in language (Gonçalves et al., 2018; Martin & Allen, 2008; Obermeyer et al., 2020). EF are needed to monitor and regulate linguistic processes, such as acting on the selection among competing representations and suppression of irrelevant ones, besides monitoring ongoing behaviour (Mohapatra, 2019). Considering the relationship between different language components to EF could lead to a more accurate language assessment.

The aim of the present study is to explore the underlying linguistic and cognitive mechanisms of language tests. To do so, we conducted two studies. In Study 1, we explore the cognitive mechanisms of language tasks through Principal Component Analysis (PCA). In Study 2, we verify the association between language components and executive functions using correlations.

### Study 1: The cognitive mechanisms underlying language tasks

## 1.1 Introduction

Most language tasks rely on heterogeneous linguistic and non-linguistic processes. As such, language tasks are not a pure measure of a single language component. The underlying cognitive mechanisms of commonly used language tasks still need to be further explored. The elucidation of these could contribute to

a more accurate and time-wise language assessment. Multivariate statistical approaches, such as PCA or a factorial analysis, help us to explore language multidimensionality. By employing these techniques in Study 1, we can identify the underlying linguistic components that are represented by an optimal combination of scores across several language tasks (Butler et al., 2014).

Most studies with PCA and factorial analysis focused on post-stroke aphasic patients (Butler et al., 2014; Fong et al., 2019; Gilmore et al., 2019; Halai et al., 2017; Hanson et al., 1982; Ingram et al., 2020; Jones & Wepman, 1961; Lacey et al., 2017; Mirman et al., 2015; Ralph et al., 2010; Tochadse et al., 2018) and primary progressive aphasia patients (Henry et al., 2012; Hoffman et al., 2017; Ingram et al., 2020; Ramanan et al., 2020). These studies highlight the multidimensionality of language founding between two and four language components (Butler et al., 2014; Wilson & Hula, 2019). These differences in the number of language components found may be explained by the choice of tasks used across studies in addition to differences in sampling methods. These studies found components related to different language domains (e.g., phonology, semantics, syntax), and modalities (e.g., reading, writing, comprehension, production). In addition to the studies with aphasic participants, one study used PCA to analyze language performance in Alzheimer's Disease (Marcie et al., 1993). This study found two components. The first component grouped tasks that required transformations of verbal stimulus into output with new information, thus interpreted as an "operativeness factor" and the second component grouped tasks requiring transformation between input and output formats. To summarize, in patients, the components that usually appear are related to phonology, speech production and recognition, semantics, and syntax, besides executive-cognition. Correlations between subtests performance in these patients might happen for two reasons. The first one because they share common underlying cognitive mechanisms. The second one because they may also happen due to the spatial contiguity of lesions to brain regions that support those cognitive functions (Goodglass & Kaplan, 1972). Therefore, studies of normal language functioning can be more accurate to identify key language components in a large set of language tasks. Studying both the key language components of disordered and normal language functioning can be clinically relevant. One limitation when exploring the language components in a specific language impairment is that the

results are generalizable only to this clinical population. Studies with normal language functioning can serve as a basis to be compared to the language processing in different clinical populations.

Studies in healthy adult participants found components involving the association of encoded and decoded materials, syntax production and comprehension, semantics, and discourse production. Fist study was composed of only university students (Carroll, 1941). The second study had a sample with a larger range of range (between 19 and 60 years old) factors with only one variable (Pineda et al., 2000). This decision can be questionable, because factors with only one variable are usually not reliable.

It is well known that age and education play a role in language abilities (Fonseca et al., 2015; Pagliarin et al., 2015). Thus, it is important to have a more representative group of healthy adults so the results are more generalizable for the overall population. Thus, the aim of Study 1 is to explore how language tasks group according to their underlying cognitive mechanisms in normal adult language processing. As far as we know, the present study is the first one to apply a multivariate approach to study the underlying cognitive-linguistic mechanisms of the MAC and MTL-BR batteries, and the first one to explore factorially language components in Brazilian Portuguese.

## 1.2 Methodology

## 1..2.1 Participants

A total of 349 people, aged between 18 and 75 years old, participated in the study. For Study 1, we included the 201 neurologically healthy adults who completed both language batteries entirely. Participants were recruited in universities and coexistence groups. Their sociodemographic data are presented in table 1. They did not receive any financial compensation for their participation, and all signed an informed consent form. The assessment was conducted by properly trained and qualified healthcare professionals who had completed or were in the process of completing additional training in language and neuropsychological assessments.

Participants met the following inclusion criteria: (1) they had Brazilian Portuguese as their first language; (2) they had normal or corrected-to-normal vision and hearing; (3) they had no current and/or previous neurological or psychiatric conditions, as self-reported; (4) they had no depression as assessed by the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II) (Beck et al., 2011); (5) they had no history of alcoholism and/or current or previous abuse of illicit drugs or benzodiazepines and antipsychotics; and (6) they had normal general cognition, as assessed by the clock-drawing test (Agrell & Dehlin, 2012) and the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (Folstein et al., 1975; Kochhann et al., 2010).

In order to test the possible impact of depression symptoms on the performance of our task, we ran a regression analysis between the selected language tasks and depressive symptoms assessed by the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II). None of the correlations were significant. Therefore, we believe that these results were not enough valuable to be present as a table in this article. However, other variables having an effect on cognition, such as sleep and anxiety or other psychological variables, could have been explored. Unfortunately, they were not available in our database. Future studies should be performed to better explore the role of these variables in language processing.

**Table 1**Sociodemographic data of the participants of Study 1

Age	MMSE
M (SD)	M (SD)
5.29 (15.06)	27.79 (2.08)
,	( )
	Age M (SD) 5.29 (15.06)

Note. MMSE = Mini Mental State Examination.

#### **1.2.2 Ethics Procedures**

The sample used for the present study was collected as part of a previous study. This larger study had as objective to adapt to Brazilian Portuguese two language batteries, the brief version of MAC battery and the MTL-BR language assessment battery. This previous study was evaluated and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Pontifical Catholic University of Rio Grande do Sul (PUCRS), Brazil (number 04908/09). We will conduct a secondary analysis of these data. The present study was approved by the Aging-Neuroimaging Research Ethics Committee of the Research Center of the Institut Universitaire de Gériatrie de Montréal (CER VN 20-21-17).

#### 1.2.3 Materials

The following two language batteries were used in our analysis:

The Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery—brief version (Ferré et al., 2011), adapted to Brazilian Portuguese (Casarin et al., 2014), is composed of nine tasks that assess discursive, pragmatic inferential, lexical semantic, and prosodic abilities. The following tasks were included in our analysis: metaphors interpretation, unconstrained verbal fluency, narrative discourse, and indirect speech acts interpretation. For a more detailed description of each task, see appendix A.

- 1. Metaphors interpretation: participants must explain the meaning of six metaphorical sentences (three new or unconventional metaphors and three idiomatic expressions). This task assesses the ability to understand metaphorical language.
- 2. Unconstrained verbal fluency: participants must evoke as many words as possible without a priori criteria, over 150 seconds. This task the ability to explore the lexical-semantic memory with no category restriction.

- 3. Narrative discourse: participants must listen to a history and then retell the story with the maxim of information. Participants must also answer questions about the story to verify if they understood the implicit meaning of the story.
- 4. Indirect speech acts interpretation: participants must identify and explain when a speech is indirect (the speaker's intention is not clear) or when it is direct (speaker literally means what is said). This task assesses the ability to understand speech acts according to the situational context.
- 5. Semantic judgement: participants must indicate if a pair of words are semantically related (ex. chair and table). If there is a semantic relation, the participant must justify its answer. This task assesses the ability to identify semantic relationships between words.

The *Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery* (Nespoulous et al., 1992), adapted to Brazilian Portuguese (Parente et al., 2016), contains 22 tasks used to evaluate oral and written expression and comprehension, in addition to praxis and arithmetical abilities. The following tasks were included in our analysis: automatic speech, auditory comprehension, written comprehension, dictation, reading, semantic verbal fluency, phonological verbal fluency, naming, and written naming. For a more detailed description of each task, see appendix B.

- 1. Automatic speech: participants must evoke automatisms such as numbers, days of the week, and the birthday song. This task assesses the ability to evoke automatisms.
- 2. Auditory comprehension: participants must identify images that represent words and phrases from auditory input. This task assesses spoken word and sentence comprehension.
- 3. Written comprehension: participants must identify images corresponding to words and phrases from visual input.
- 4. Dictation: participants must listen to an auditory stimulus and then search for the corresponding written representation, including regular, irregular, foreign words and non-words and one sentence. This task assesses the ability to understand auditory stimulus and identify the correct spelling of words.

- 5. Reading: participants must read out loud 12 words (among regular, irregular, foreign words and non-words) and three sentences. This task assesses the ability to recognize letters and produce the appropriate phonological sounds.
- 6. Semantic verbal fluency: participants must evoke as many animals as possible, over 90 seconds. This task assesses the ability to produce spontaneous words within a semantic category.
- 7. Phonological verbal fluency: participants must evoke as many words beginning with the letter M as possible, over 90 seconds. This task assesses the ability to produce spontaneous words within a phonological category.
- 8. Naming: the participant must identify and name pictures of 12 nouns and 3 actions (verbs). This task assesses the ability to name images corresponding to nouns and verbs.
- 9. Written naming: participants must identify and indicate the right figure of 12 nouns and three actions (verbs). The ability to identify and indicate figures referring to nouns and three actions.

We only included tasks assessing single-word and phrase levels. We decided not to include tasks at the narrative and discoursive levels because they involve multiple language components simultaneously. For example, text comprehension can simultaneously engage phonological and semantic abilities for word decoding (Cherney, 2010), phonological, semantic and syntactic ones for sentence comprehension (Gajardo-Vidal et al., 2018), as well as discursive abilities for capturing the overall meaning of the text (Chesneau & Ska, 2015). Narrative discourse tasks can also engage multiple language components simultaneously, both in the micro (e.g., phonology, semantics, syntax) and macro (e.g., cohesion, coherence) levels (Andreetta et al., 2012; Lindsey et al., 2018). For this reason, it would be very difficult to clearly disentangle which are the cognitive mechanisms that support different aspects of these tasks. Therefore, we excluded the conversational discourse task from the MAC battery, as well as the oral and written text comprehension tasks and the written and oral narrative discourse tasks from MTL-BR.

Both the MAC and the MTL-BR batteries have reading tasks. The reading task from the MTL-BR battery employs single words and phrases, whereas the reading task from the MAC battery assesses reading text comprehension. Since we used single-word and phrase-level tasks, we chose the reading tasks of the MTL-BR battery. Also, both batteries include narrative discourse tasks. In our analysis, we decided to include pragmatic abilities only. During the MAC narrative discourse, participants have to make inferences about the story that they just heard. Inferences are considered to be a pragmatic ability (Ariel, 2010; Wearing, 2015). During the written and oral narrative discourse tasks from MTL-BR battery, participants have to tell (oral narrative discourse) or to write (written narrative discourse) a story from a picture. While the narrative discourse tasks from MTL-BR battery assess the micro- and macro-structures of the discourse, the narrative discourse from MAC assesses the ability to synthesize and infer information. Unlike the MAC battery, the narrative discourse task from MTL-BR does not include pragmatic interpretations. Therefore, we decided to include the narrative discourse task from MAC for its assessment of pragmatics.

The emotional prosody task from the MAC battery and the nonverbal praxis, object manipulation, body part recognition, and left-right orientation, number dictation, reading of numbers, and calculation tasks from the MTL-BR were not used in the present analyses because they do not assess language *per se*. We also excluded the repetition task from the MTL-BR battery, because it presented a restricted variability with 95% (191 of 201 participants) presenting only two scores (32 or 33). Considering that a low variability can affect the analysis, we opted for excluding this variable.

## 1.3 Procedures et data analysis

The data were analyzed using SPSS 25.0. As in previous similar studies (Archibald, 2013; Butler et al., 2014; Crockett, 1974; Henry et al., 2012; Ingram et al., 2020; Lacey et al., 2017), we used a factorial analysis with a PCA extraction method. This approach seeks to condense a large number of variables into smaller sets of interrelated variables regrouped by their underlying dimensions with a minimal loss of information (Hair et al., 2009). We conducted an exploratory factorial analysing using a PCA method to explore how the chosen language tasks

would group (Fabrigar et al., 1999). We expect that tasks that tap the most similar underlying mechanisms will have loading on similar components (Henry et al., 2012). Given that all tasks share a common linguistic feature, we expected an interrelatedness between components. Thus, we choose to apply the Direct-oblimin rotation, which is an orthogonal rotation (Lambert et al., 2018). We used the criterion of eigenvalues greater than one to establish the number of components, (Bourque et al., 2006; Kaiser, 1960).

After all these decisions are taken, the analysis can be conducted. An adequate PCA/factor analysis has to make sense and to be easily interpretable (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). An a priori established loading cutoff point is used to define which variables have a meaningful contribution to the components/factors' formation. The choice of the loading cutoff size depends on the researchers' preference. Choosing to include only variables with high loading reduces the risk of components formed by variables that contribute too unequally, as well as, the inclusion of variables that contributed only slightly in the components/factors' formation. The found factors/components are then given a label accordingly to the neurolinguistic interpretation based on the variables that contributed to their formation (Wilson & Hula, 2019). We used a loading criterion of .500 or higher, which is considered a strong load (Costello & Osborne, 2005; Marcotte et al., 2017).

Given the influence of age and education on language skills, these two measures were studied for each variable by means of regression analyses. Regression analyses of age and education are presented in table 2. Aged explained variance in seven of 14 variables (auditory comprehension, written comprehension, semantic judgment, semantic verbal fluency, naming, phonological verbal fluency, and written naming). Education explained variance in all variables. We regressed age and/or education into each variable for which one or both regressor variables affected performance. The standardized residuals obtained from this regression were then used as the new variable entered in the PCA analyses. In such a way, the newly calculated variable also considered the effect of age and education on performance. To limit the impact of extreme scores, we replaced the 26 outliers identified (out of 3,015 observations) with a score equivalent to 3.29 standard deviations from the mean of a given task (Field, 2018).

**Table 2**Regression analyses for each language task with age and education as regressors

	Age			Education		
	beta	t	p*	beta	t	p
Auditory comprehension (MTL-BR)	-0.200	-3.001	.003**	0.272	4.08	<.001***
Written comprehension (MTL-BR)	-0.220	-3.419	.001*	0.349	5.416	<.001***
Dictation (MTL-BR)	-0.005	-0.080	ns.	0.496	8.051	<.001***
Reading (MTL-BR)	-0.04	-0.618	ns.	0.422	6.561	<.001***
Metaphors interpretation (MAC)	0.035	0.529	ns.	0.374	5.679	<.001***
Unconstrained verbal fluency (MAC)	0.083	1.468	ns.	0.598	10.529	<.001***
Narrative discourse (MAC)	-0.041	-0.697	ns.	0.556	9.374	<.001***
Indirect speech acts (MAC)	-0.029	-0.422	ns.	0.197	2.826	.005**

Semantic	-0.077	-1.161	ns.	0.357	5.408	<.001***
judgment (MAC)						
Semantic verbal fluency (MTL-BR)	-0.143	-2.361	.019*	0.495	8.188	<.001***
Naming (MTL-BR)	-0.251	-3.796	<.001***	0.256	3.88	<.001***
Phonological verbal fluency (MTL-BR)	0.127	2.079	.039	0.500	8.173	<.001***
Written naming (MTL- BR)	-0.255	-4.124	<.001***	0.409	6.631	<.001***
Automatic speech (MTL- BR)	0.065	0.949	ns.	0.271	3.965	<.001***

Note. significance level at \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01 \*\*\*at p<.001; MTL-BR = Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery (MTL-BR); MAC = Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery – brief version (MAC); ns = not significant.

### 1.4 Results

Table 3 presents the descriptive analyses (mean and standard deviation) of the language tasks used in the present study. We considered for normalcy a skewness value between -2 and 2 and a kurtosis value between -7 and 7 (Curran et al., 1996). All language tasks are normally distributed.

**Table 3.**Descriptive analysis of each language task

	2 1 1 17	
Raw scores	Standardized I	Residuals
m (cd)	Skewness	Vurtocic
m (sd)	Skewness	Kurtosis

Auditory comprehension (MTL-BR)	18.18 (1.19)	-1.26	1.29
Written comprehension (MTL-BR)	12.72 (0.61)	-1.53	2.39
Dictation (MTL-BR)	20,36 (2.18)	-1.82	5.26
Reading (MTL-BR)	32,49 (0.80)	-1.25	1.55
Metaphors interpretation (MAC)	8.47 (2.31)	-0.56	0.09
Unconstrained verbal fluency (MAC)	46.28 (17.94)	0.4	0.3
Narrative discourse (MAC)	34.04 (11.91)	.55	263
Indirect speech acts (MAC)	10.1 (1.74)	-0.84	0.48
Semantic judgment (MAC)	5.35 (1.26)	-1.72	2.73
Semantic verbal fluency (MTL-BR)	22.35 (0.80)	0.32	-0.07
Naming (MTL-BR)	29.49 (1.00)	-1.55	2.48
Phonological verbal fluency (MTL-BR)	16.74 (6.24)	0.31	0.13
Written naming (MTL-BR)	28.34 (2.49)	-1.16	1.81

Note. MTL-BR = Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery (MTL-BR); MAC = Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery – brief version (MAC)

We performed a Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin test (KMO) to verify sampling adequacy. Values must be over .600 in all variables. All the variables presented values over .600, except the automatic speech task, which had a value of .472. We thus decided to not include this variable in our analysis. Another test performed was the Barlett's test of sphericity. For adequacy, this test should be statistically significant, which was the case for our analysis. Only variables with loadings higher than 0.500 were retained (Costello & Osborne, 2005; Marcotte et al., 2017). For this reason, the narrative discourse task (highest load of 0.43) and the writing comprehension task (highest load of 0.458) were not included in our final PCA solution presented in table 4.

**Table 4**Oblimin-rotated pattern matrix for the principal component solution with language tasks

			Component	
	Component	Component	3:	
	1:	2:	Transcoding	Component
	Pictorial	Language-	and	4:
	Semantic	Executive	Semantics	Pragmatics
Auditory				
comprehension*	0.694			
Naming*	0.663			
Written naming*	0.613			
Unconstrained verbal				
fluency**		0.781		

Semantic	verbal				
fluency*			0.730		
Phonological	verbal				
fluency*			0.726		
Reading*				-0.740	
Semantic Judgme	ent**			-0.732	
Dictation*				-0.584	
Indirect speech	h acts				
interpretation**					0.776
Metaphors					
interpretation**					0.652
Percentage varia	nce				
Total variance =	53.16%	24.35%	12.16%	8.86%	7.77%

Note. The values on this table represent the loadings which are the correlations between the variables and their component. \*tasks from the Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery (MTL-BR); \*\*tasks from the Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery – brief version (MAC).

### 1.5 Discussion

The goal of Study 1 was to explore how a set of language tasks would group to investigate their underlying cognitive mechanisms. We used a PCA that produced four components. These components accounted for around 53% of the total variance in language tasks. In what follows, we present an interpretation of these components based on the variables that contributed to their formation (Wilson & Hula, 2019). We decided to label the components to facilitate the interpretation of results. The interpretation and naming of components depend on which of the observed variables correlated highly with each factor (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). The labelling process depends on how the researcher interprets the reasons behind variables loading high in each component and not on others. Therefore, the label processing is subject to interpretation.

Our first component is composed of naming, written naming, and auditory comprehension tasks. In the naming task, participants must identify and name pictures from a visual input. In the written naming task, participants must match an image with its corresponding written name. In the auditory comprehension, participants are asked to identify which picture represents the word that they just heard. Naming and comprehension tasks are known for engaging semantic processes (Almeida et al., 2007; DeLeon et al., 2007; Gajardo-Vidal et al., 2018; Moayedfar et al., 2021; Simos et al., 2014; Yoon et al., 2015). Semantics enables us to understand the meaning of a given information, whether this information is presented by an auditory, pictured object or a visual input (Bonin et al., 2015). Given that all three tasks involve pictures and access to semantics, we decided to name this component *pictorial semantics*.

For the second component, all three verbal fluency tasks grouped. In these tasks, participants must recall as many words as possible in a given time frame. In the phonological verbal fluency task, participants must evoke words starting with the letter M. In the semantic verbal fluency, participants must evoke as many animals as possible. In the unconstrained verbal fluency, participants must evoke as many words as possible without a priori criteria. During verbal fluency tasks, patients must explore their semantic memory. During the task, participants often need to shift between strategies. For example, shifting from animals in the zoo to animals starting with the letter b during the semantic verbal fluency or to shift from words starting with "m" to words starting with "f". In addition, the person needs to avoid repetition and words that do not meet the established criteria. The capacity to switch between strategies or to inhibit inappropriate words engage executive functions (Amunts et al., 2020; Gustavson et al., 2019; Shao et al., 2014). Verbal fluency tasks are well established and often-used tasks for assessing language and executive abilities (Shao et al., 2014). This is why we decided to label this component language-executive.

The third component is composed of reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks. Dictation and reading tasks involve the capacity of transcoding print-to-sound (reading) and sound-to-print (dictation). In the reading task, participants must read out loud words and sentences. In the dictation task,

participants must listen to words and sentences and then produce their written representation. Both processes are related to our ability to transcode a written input to an oral output and an auditory stimulus to a written output, respectively. In the semantic judgment task, participants must indicate if a pair of words is semantically related and then justify their answer. Consequently, we named this component transcoding and semantics. Unlike semantic tasks, reading and spelling to dictation tasks are also associated with encoding and decoding abilities. That is why it was surprising to find that the semantic judgment task loaded in the same component as reading and dictation tasks. The reading and spelling of regular words engage semantic mechanisms. This may explain the reason that reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks have loaded in the same component. We will further discuss this hypothesis later on in the overall discussion section of the article.

The fourth component is composed of indirect speech acts interpretation and metaphors interpretation tasks. Indirect speech acts interpretation involves the ability to identify and explain when a speech is direct (speaker literally means what is said) or indirect (the speaker's intention is not clear). Metaphors interpretation involves the capacity to understand metaphorical sentences. Both tasks demand the interpretation of a non-literal or figurative message. In other words, participants have to figure out what the information actually meant given its context (Pawełczyk et al., 2017). Both tasks involve the pragmatic aspects of language (Asher & Lascarides, 2001; Pawełczyk et al., 2017). Thus, we decided to label this component as *pragmatics*."

To summarize our results, the PCA analysis yielded four language components. The first one relies both on semantics and transcoding abilities. The second one is defined by their language-executive ability. The third one grouped by their common narrative abilities. The fourth one is related to comprehension aspects of language. For Study 2, we verify if the language components described in Study 1 are associated with EF.

# Study two: Language components and their association with executive functions

### 2.1 Introduction

In our first study, we found the following four components underlying language tasks processing: pictorial semantics, language-executive, transcoding and semantics, and pragmatics. In Study Two, we focus on the relationship between these four language components and EF.

As already mentioned, performance on language tasks depends on a combination of linguistic and non-linguistic components (Butler et al., 2014). One largely studied theme in neuropsychology is the relation between language and EF (Mohapatra, 2019). EF are responsible for the capacity to organize our thoughts, reflecting in our language expression and comprehension (Diamond, 2013). EF help us to choose the target word among the competing and irrelevant options while avoiding us to produce wrongful words during speech (Badre & Wagner, 2007). EF can also play a role in sentence comprehension. It helps to monitors and selects the most appropriate response according to context while suppressing competing sentence representations (Mohapatra, 2019).

One comprehensive literature review sought to investigate the influence of EF on language processing in adult language disorders (Mohapatra, 2019). They found that EF components such as switching, cognitive flexibility, inhibitory control, sequencing, working memory, and processing speed were strong associated with the following language aspects: narration, story retelling, conversational discourse, metaphor interpretation, phonological processing, and indirect speech acts (Mohapatra, 2019). Deficits in EF are linked to the production of irrelevant utterances, word-finding problems, and difficulty ordering words and sentences, among other deficits (McDonald et al., 2013).

Recent theoretical models postulate that there are three main executive components: working memory updating, inhibitory control, and cognitive flexibility (Miyake et al., 2000). Working memory can be defined as the temporary storage and manipulation of information when the perceptual information is no longer present (Baddeley, 2003). Updating allow us to continuous monitor and update incoming

representations in working memory (Miyake et al., 2000). Inhibitory control can be defined as the ability to deliberately suppress or inhibit the dominant or the automatic response (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000). Cognitive flexibility, also known as shifting, can be defined as the cognitive component that allows us to flexibly shift our attention between mental sets, operations, and tasks (Diamond, 2013; Miyake et al., 2000).

In the present study, we focus on two of these main EF: working memory updating and cognitive flexibility. Working memory is a crucial ability to make sense of written and spoken language (Diamond, 2013). For instance, working memory allows us to store and manipulate words and phrases while we identify and interpret phrase structure (e.g. identify the thematic roles on active/passive voice sentences); thus, helping during sentence production and comprehension (Mohapatra, 2019). Working memory is also related to language abilities such as reading (Peng et al., 2018), writing (Capodieci et al., 2019), narrative discourse (Youse & Coelho, 2005), sentence comprehension (Fedorenko et al., 2006), among others. A poor working memory capacity is related to worse decoding ability (i.e. orthography-to-phonology mapping) during reading (Christopher et al., 2012). During spelling, working memory impaired is associated with a higher risk of incorrectly producing a letter in long words (Rapp et al., 2016). It is also related to a longer reaction time during picture naming (Shao et al., 2012), to an increased difficulty to understand and produce more complex sentences (Daneman & Carpenter, 1980; Fedorenko et al., 2006; Just & Carpenter, 1992) and to correctly interpret metaphors (Chiappe & Chiappe, 2007). In addition, it is associated with a decreased ability to establish a consistent connection between sentences and the general topic of discourse, leading to a breakdown of hierarchical discourse organization and disrupted sequential processing (Cahana-Amitay & Jenkins, 2018), among other language impairments.

Cognitive flexibility allows us to monitor and shift strategies, which is an important skill for reading (Butterfuss & Kendeou, 2018), sentence (Goral et al., 2011), pragmatic (Bosco et al., 2017) comprehension, among other language abilities. A poor cognitive flexibility skill is related to lower performance on verbal fluency tasks (Amunts et al., 2020; Fisk & Sharp, 2004; Shao et al., 2014) and

sentence comprehension tasks (Goral et al., 2011). Reduced flexibility can lead to an increased difficulty for conceiving alternate meanings during non-literal language interpretation (Champagne et al., 2004). Impaired cognitive flexibility can also impact the recall and integration of content during story narrative (Mozeiko et al., 2011).

As we discussed, language seems to have an intrinsic relationship with EF. Therefore, a better understanding of the interaction between executive and linguistic skills could provide a better understanding of the cognitive processes underlying language tasks (Obermeyer et al., 2020) and could potentially help guide the clinician's choice of tasks. Therefore, the goal of Study 2 is to explore the association between the language groups formed after the PCA in Study 1 and two EF measures, working memory and cognitive flexibility, using a correlation analysis. Previous studies have found an association between cognitive flexibility and verbal fluency tasks and pragmatic tasks. Cognitive flexibility is related to the ability to shift between strategies during verbal fluency tasks (Amunts et al., 2020; Fisk & Sharp, 2004; Shao et al., 2014) and to shift to the non-conventional meaning of utterances during pragmatic interpretation (Bosco et al., 2017; Champagne et al., 2004). There is also strong evidence of a link between working memory and reading (Christopher et al., 2012; Peng et al., 2018; Swanson et al., 2009) and writing performance (Capodieci et al., 2019; Rapp et al., 2016). Working memory is related to the access and monitor of speech-based information during reading (Swanson et al., 2009). During decoding, working memory is responsible for retrieving and maintaining the phonological and orthographic sequences of words, while controlling for irrelevant concurrent information (Capodieci et al., 2019). Working memory is also related to semantic judgment task performance (Martin & Allen, 2008; Obermeyer et al., 2020; Stanley et al., 2017). During semantic judgment tasks, working memory can help to retain online several features while the categorization and semantic judgment processes are being conducted (Koenig et al., 2005). Considering these previous studies, we predict that the cognitive flexibility score will be associated with the language-executive and pragmatic components. We also expect that working memory will be associated with the transcoding and semantics component. We hope that the results of Study 2 will provide further insight into which language tasks are more sensitive to executive processes.

## 2.2 Methodology

# 2.2.1 Participants

We include in Study 2 a subset from Study 1, composed of 33 participants, who were administered the Trail Making Task (TMT) and the N-back test, in addition to both language batteries. Only a subset of participants had performed both language battery tasks and the executive tasks. It would be interesting to verify if the language components remain the same in this subset. Unfortunately, this verification is not possible because PCA is not recommended for small samples such as we have for study 2 (Hair et al., 2009; Ho, 2013; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). It would have been relevant to include an inhibition measure in our analysis. However, given that this was a retrospective study, we were constrained by the cognitive measures available to us.

Table 5 presents the sociodemographic data of this subset of participants.

**Table 5**Sociodemographic data of the participants of Study 2

N	Female Sex	Years of formal education	Age	MMSE		
	N (%)	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)		
33	20 (60.6)	14.97 (3.67)	41 (16.25)	28.81 (1.45)		

Note. MMSE = Mini-Mental State Examination.

## 2.2.2 Materials

In addition to the language tasks of Study 1, we also included the following EF measures for the correlation analysis:

The Trail Making Test (TMT) (Reitan, 1992), adapted to Brazilian Portuguese (Zimmermann et al., 2017), is a visuospatial test that assesses cognitive flexibility and processing speed. It has two parts. In part A, participants must draw lines following the increasing order of numbers as fast as possible. In part B, he/she must alternate between numbers and letters, following the increasing order of numbers and alphabetical order. Following Sanchez-Cubillo et al. (2009), we calculated a cognitive flexibility score that minimizes the visuoperceptual and working memory

demands of the execution of the TMT task. The score is calculated by subtracting the time (in seconds) of part A from the time (in seconds) from part B. Here is the mathematical formula for the calculation of the score:

Cognitive flexibility core =  $Time\ B$  (in seconds) -  $Time\ A$  (in seconds)

In this score, a smaller difference in time between parts B and A is associated with better cognitive flexibility. TMT part A is a more automatized process and TMT part B a more controlled one (Sánchez-Cubillo et al., 2009). The cognitive flexibility score allows us to clear the more automated process (part A) from the more controlled process (part B). Thus, if a person takes much longer to execute part B when compared to part A, this difference will not be attributed to a decreased motor or processing speed, but rather to a worsen cognitive flexibility ability.

The N-back Task (Dobbs & Rule, 1989; Nebes et al., 2000) is a test used to measure working memory employing an updating paradigm (Rac-Lubashevsky & Kessler, 2016; Schmiedek et al., 2009). We used the version of the test adapted to Brazilian Portuguese (De Nardi et al., 2013). The test is divided into four conditions, the 0-back, which is the control condition, the 1-back, the 2-back, and the 3-back. In the first condition, participants must repeat the number that they just heard (0-back). In the 1-back condition, participants must repeat the number enunciated one presentation before the current number. For the 2-back condition, participants have to say the number presented two numbers from the present one, and in the 3-back condition, three numbers before the present number. For example, in the 2-back condition, the instructor could say a sequence like "3, 2, 9, 4, 2....", and participants must immediately after the first two numbers answer "none", and right after hearing "9", they should say "3", when hearing "4", answer "2", and so on. For a more detailed explanation of the task see De Nardi et al. (2013).

A trial has a maximum of 10 correct answers and it ends when the participant makes an error. Each condition has two trials, totalizing a maximum of 80 correct answers for the entire task. For working memory performance, we will use the total number of correct responses. This score has been shown to be a good proxy of working memory (Nebes et al., 2000).

It should be noted that we only included a single task to assess each executive component. No single task can measure the integrity of a function, especially complex functions such as EF. However, this is a retrospective study; thus, our analysis is limited to the cognitive measures that are available to us. We believe this analysis is still relevant because it presents a first exploration of the relationship between language components and executive functions. Our findings need to be validated in future studies.

# 2.3 Procedure and data analysis.

We created one composite score for each PCA component (i.e. pictorial semantics, language-executive, transcoding and semantics, and pragmatics) obtained from Study 1. To that end, we multiplied the scores of the tasks that formed each component. We chose a multiplicative score approach for the computation of composite scores. Multiplicative scores better retain the dimensionality of the scores, present a better test/retest reliability and are more sensitive than the addition of scores (Armstrong et al., 2007; Tofallis, 2014). We used the Pearson's correlation analyses to explore the association between the PCA component composite and the EF scores. We considered a significance level of p <.05.

## 2.4 Results

Table 6 presents the descriptive analysis of TMT and N-back test. We considered for normalcy a skewness value between -2 and 2 and a kurtosis value between -7 and 7 (Curran et al., 1996). Following this criterion, both tasks are normally distributed.

**Table 6.**Descriptive analysis of the executive tasks

	m (dp)	Skewness	Kurtosis
Trail-Making Test	43.05 (9.08)	-0.72	0.51
N-back Test	68.40 (56.25)	1.72	2.87

Table 7 presents the correlation matrix between the language components composite score extracted from Study 1 and the executive scores. The language

executive component correlated significantly and negatively with the TMT score (r = -.355, p = .043). Higher scores in the language executive component were associated with better cognitive flexibility. The transcoding and semantics composite score correlated significantly and positively with the N-back score (r=.397, p=.022). Higher scores in transcoding and semantics were associated with better working memory performance. Both correlations had a medium-size effect (Cohen, 1992). Neither the pictorial semantic nor the pragmatics components were significantly correlated to any measures of executive functions.

**Table 7.**Correlations between the language components composite score extracted from Study 1 and the executive scores.

,	Pictorial Semantic		•	Language- Executive		Transcoding and semantics		Pragmatics	
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	
Trail Making Test									
Time B-Time A	.045	.48	355*	.31	.083	.02	.134	.47	
N-back									
Total of correct answers	126	.80	.182	.04	.397*	.64	129	.46	

Note. \*Significance level at p<.05

# 2.5 Discussion

The aim of Study 2 was to verify the association between the language components identified in Study 1 and executive measures. As we predicted, the language-executive component was associated with cognitive flexibility and working memory with the transcoding and semantics component. However, pragmatics was not associated with cognitive flexibility, as we previously predicted.

Better performance on the language-executive component was associated with better cognitive flexibility. As already mentioned, the verbal fluency tasks that composed the language-executive component are well known for assessing

executive abilities, especially for their cognitive flexibility demands (Shao et al., 2014). During the task, participants need to focus to select only words meeting the selected criteria, while avoiding repetitions, thus activating cognitive flexibility processes (Fisk & Sharp, 2004; Shao et al., 2014).

Our second finding is the association between the transcoding and semantics component with the working memory score. Better performance on the transcoding and semantics component was associated with better working memory capacity. In the semantic judgment task, participants must keep in mind two words while verifying the existence of a semantic relation (ex. chair and table), thus activating both working memory and semantic processes (Stanley et al., 2017). Regarding the transcoding tasks (dictation and reading tasks), several studies have shown the role of working memory for transcoding a print-to-sound (reading task) and sound-to-print (dictation task) (Peng et al., 2018). A reader must sustain attention and keep the information in working memory to transcode a sequence of printed letters into their corresponding sounds (reading) or a sequence of sounds into their corresponding sequence of letters (spelling to dictation); thus, activating working memory abilities. There are also studies in individuals with dyslexia that show that working memory is a predictor of reading abilities (Berninger et al., 2006; Fostick & Revah, 2018; Knoop-van Campen et al., 2018).

The other two language components (pictorial-semantic and pragmatics) were not associated with EF. This result could indicate that pictorial semantic and pragmatic tasks may be less executive demanding. The pictorial-semantic component was composed of two naming tasks and one auditory comprehension task. Like our study, Shao and colleagues (2012) failed to find an association between picture naming and cognitive flexibility. However, they did find an association between picture naming and working memory, which differs from our results. This difference may be explained by the fact that their study used reaction times and ours the number of correct answers. This study suggests that participants with better working memory abilities were able to answer more quickly because they were able to keep online the specific task demands (Shao et al., 2012).

The relationship between pragmatics and EF is controversial. The lack of association between pragmatics and EF, like the one we found here, is in line with

previous studies (Champagne-Lavau & Stip, 2010; McDonald, 2000; Parola et al., 2018). However, other studies found that pragmatics and executive measures, namely working memory, cognitive flexibility, and planning, were associated (Bosco et al., 2017; Champagne et al., 2004; Sponheim et al., 2003). Further studies are needed to establish the role of EF in different pragmatic skills.

To summarize, our findings indicate that the language-executive component was associated with better cognitive flexibility ability and the transcoding and semantics component with better working memory ability. The other two components (pictorial semantics and pragmatics) were not associated with either cognitive flexibility or working memory scores.

## 3. Overall Discussion

The present study sought to explore how a set of language tasks would group to investigate their underlying cognitive mechanisms. We used a PCA approach. This first analysis revealed four language components: pictorial semantics, language-executive, transcoding and semantics, and pragmatics. These four components accounted for around 53% of the total variance of language performance. Secondarily, we verified the association between these four language components and EF. We found that the language-executive component was associated with cognitive flexibility. As language-executive increased, so did the cognitive flexibility score. Also, the transcoding and semantics component was associated with the working memory score. A higher score on the transcoding and semantics component was associated with better working memory abilities.

Language processing involves many linguistic and non-linguistic cognitive processes and, as such, it is inherently multifactorial. How we interpret language complexity depends on how conceptual and statistical approaches incorporate this multidimensionality. A multivariate approach, such as PCA, presents many advantages (Butler et al., 2014). PCA allows us to identify components that represent the optimal combination of language scores. A combined score reduces measurement noise when compared to individual scores. Therefore, combining test scores can result in statistically improved scores and more reliable measures. Besides, PCA enables us to decompose data tests into their primary underlying components. Multiple abilities are necessary to complete most language tasks. Thus,

most language tasks are not a pure measure of a single underlying linguistic ability. The fact that we found four components even using a limited number of tasks highlights the heterogeneity and complexity of language processing.

Previous studies applied multivariate approaches to study language grouping in children (Archibald, 2013; Crockett, 1974), college students (Carroll, 1941), healthy adults (Pineda et al., 2000), post-stroke aphasia (Butler et al., 2014; Fong et al., 2019; Gilmore et al., 2019; Halai et al., 2017; Hanson et al., 1982; Ingram et al., 2020; Jones & Wepman, 1961; Lacey et al., 2017; Mirman et al., 2015; Ralph et al., 2010; Tochadse et al., 2018) primary progressive aphasia (Henry et al., 2012; Hoffman et al., 2017; Ingram et al., 2020; Ramanan et al., 2020) and Alzheimer's disease patients (Marcie et al., 1993). We found some similar language components to these studies, but also some differences.

Our first component (pictorial semantics) is semantic in nature. Another study also found a semantic component similar to ours (Butler et al., 2014). Their component included an auditory comprehension task (i.e. spoken word-to-picture matching) and a naming task. Unlike ours, a synonym task has also loaded in their component. Another study also found a semantics component composed of spoken word-to-picture matching and synonym judgment tasks, besides a non-verbal comprehension picture association judgment task (Mirman et al., 2015). Other study found a component composed of picture naming and single-word comprehension, in addition to semantic verbal fluency (Hoffman et al., 2017). In the case of our analysis, the semantic verbal fluency did not present a high loading in this component. The naming task also appears in a semantics component of another study along with spoken word-picture matching, written word-picture matching and word minimal pairs tasks (Tochadse et al., 2018). In another study, the naming and written naming tasks loaded with object naming, word finding, semantic verbal fluency, sentence completion tasks (Lacey et al., 2017). This component was labelled as word finding/fluency. Through a connected speech task, Marcotte and colleagues (2017) also found a semantics component composed of noun frequency, noun imageability, noun familiarity, noun age of acquisition, besides familiarity and age of acquisition of all words. Other study found semantic components composed of confrontation naming, commands comprehension, word discrimination tasks

(Pineda et al., 2000). These tasks are not part of our study. The results mentioned above show that semantics is one of the most important components for language processing. Therefore, a complete language assessment should include one or more semantic tasks, such as comprehension and picture naming tasks.

Regarding the relationship between pictorial semantics and EF, we did not find an association between this component and EF (working memory and cognitive flexibility measures). Different from our result, other studies found that picture naming tasks were related to working memory (Shao et al., 2012; Sikora et al., 2016; Snowden et al., 2019). However, their study used reaction time as their measure, and ours used the total of correct answers. Working memory was also found to be related to auditory comprehension in post-stroke aphasia patients (Choinski et al., 2020). Like our result, other studies did not find an association between picturenaming and cognitive flexibility (Shao et al., 2012; Sikora et al., 2016)

Our second component, language-executive, is composed of three verbal fluency tasks. Other studies also found an executive component, as we found in our analysis (Butler et al., 2014; Ingram et al., 2020; Ramanan et al., 2020; Tochadse et al., 2018). However, these components were formed of non-linguistic executive tasks, unlike our study that only include language tasks in our PCA analysis. Another study that included verbal fluency tasks found that verbal fluency loaded in an operativeness factor along with the following other variables, such as antonyms, oral spelling, mental calculation, metalinguistic control, error detection, sentence generation, auditory comprehension, and sentence generation (Marcie et al., 1993). Semantic verbal fluency loaded with semantics components (Hoffman et al., 2017; Ingram et al., 2020) and word finding fluency (Lacey et al., 2017).

As expected, we found that the executive component was associated with better cognitive flexibility. Verbal fluency tasks are well known for engaging both linguistic and executive components. To complete these tasks, the participant must maintain focus to only select words that meet the criteria and to avoid repetition. In addition, it is also necessary to flexible shift strategies when the current strategy is no longer fruitful. These processes are linked to inhibitory control, and cognitive flexibility (Amunts et al., 2020; Fisk & Sharp, 2004; Shao et al., 2014). Considering

that assessment times are often limited, using tasks that are sensitive to both linguistic and executive skills can be a useful tool for clinical assessment.

Transcoding and semantics, our third component, is composed of reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks. Other studies also found a language component linked to transcoding (Crockett, 1974; Marcie et al., 1993), referring to the ability to associate encoded and decoded materials. This component is usually assessed by oral reading and decoding tasks. Different from our results, another study found two separate components for oral reading (word reading; sentence reading) and writing (primer-level dictation; serial writing; spelling to dictation) (Pineda et al., 2000). Reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks all engage semantic mechanisms. Indeed, it is well established that the reading and spelling of regular and irregular words uses a lexical route, engaging both phonological and semantic processing (Bergeron et al., 2014; Chapleau et al., 2017; Cherney, 2010; Johansson-Malmeling et al., 2021; Matías-Guiu et al., 2017; Provost et al., 2016; Shim et al., 2012). In the reading and dictation tasks employed in our study, there are regular and irregular words, in addition to nonwords that do not engage semantics. In future studies, it could be interesting to separate these two categories into two different variables (e.g. regular and irregular words from nonwords).

Regarding the relationship of EF, we found that better score on transcoding and semantics components is associated with better working memory capacity. Working memory helps to access and monitor speech-based information during decoding (Swanson et al., 2009). For spelling, working memory is responsible for retrieving and maintaining the phonological and orthographic sequences of words until the word is actually spelled while controlling for irrelevant concurrent information (Capodieci et al., 2019). Working memory also contributes to semantic judgment task performance. It allows us to retain online several features while the categorization and semantic processes are happening (Koenig et al., 2005). As expected, our study found a significant correlation between this component and working memory.

Our fourth component, pragmatics, is composed of indirect speech acts interpretation and metaphors interpretation tasks. No other multifactorial study included pragmatic tasks. Indeed, most language studies chose not to include

pragmatic measures, because differences between pragmatics and semantics and grammar are not straightforward (Ariel, 2010).

We did not find that the pragmatics component was associated with working memory and cognitive flexibility. There are conflicting findings regarding the role of EF in pragmatics. Like our study, some studies did not find a link between pragmatics and EF (Champagne-Lavau & Stip, 2010; McDonald, 2000; Parola et al., 2018). However, other studies found that indirect pragmatic utterances were associated with executive measures, such as working memory, cognitive flexibility, and planning (Bosco et al., 2018; Champagne et al., 2004).

Differences in findings across studies may be explained by the choice of tasks employed in each study. For instance, contrary to our findings, other studies also found components linked to syntax (Crockett, 1974; Marcotte et al., 2017). Our analysis included tasks that assessed sentences (e.g. written comprehension, auditory comprehension, dictation, and reading tasks). However, sentences were included together with words. We could not separate the stimuli between words and sentences because they did not have enough score variability when separated. It would be interesting in future studies to study the processing of words and sentences separately to verify if a syntax component would be formed.

It is difficulty to establish if differences in the findings of our Study 1 are due to differences in populations (normal versus clinical) or because the choice of tasks varies considerably among studies. Future studies need to further explore the factorial solution of the MAC and the MTL-BR batteries in pathological language functioning. Future studies could verify if the components we found in Study 1 with normal participants remain the same with people with language difficulties. Regarding the difference in findings in Study 2, one possible hypothesis that may explain the different findings is that the pictorial semantics and pragmatics tasks might be less executive demanding in normal participants when compared to patients with acquired language disorders. In opposition, transcoding (reading, semantic judgment, and dictation tasks) and language-executive (verbal fluency tasks) seem to be executive demanding even in normal subjects. However, this hypothesis needs to be further explored in future studies.

## 4. Limitations and Future studies

Language is a complex and multidimensional cognitive domain; thus, a large range of tasks are used to assess different aspects of it. Only a limited number of tasks were included in our study. Factor solutions will depend on the tasks that researchers decided to include in their analysis (Halai et al., 2017). We can only speculate what the results would be if a more comprehensive battery of language and cognitive functioning tests were included (Crockett, 1974). Whilst we included a variety of tasks from two of the most widely used language batteries in Brazil, future studies should widen their assessment in order to capture more key linguistic features.

It is also important to consider that both batteries (MAC and MTL-BR) were created to assess patients facing language impairments after suffering a brain injury, such as traumatic brain injury and stroke. These impairments are not usually observed in healthy individuals. Therefore, the difficulty level of each test may not be the most suitable for assessing language performance in healthy adults. This could lead to a ceiling effect problem, thus decreasing task variability and limiting our analysis. Another limitation is the smaller sample size employed for the second objective, which can limit our statistical power (Hackshaw, 2008). It is also important to consider that we only used two executive measures, cognitive flexibility, and working memory. It is possible that if we had included other executive measures, such as inhibitory control, we could have detected additional findings. In addition, we only used one task for each executive measure. Even though the TMT is widely used to assess cognitive flexibility and N-back for working memory, we cannot generalize the performance obtained from a single task to characterize the integrity of these complex functions. We recommend that future studies include a larger number and variety of tasks assessing EF.

Considering that this was an exploratory study, additional work needs to be done to confirm our findings. Moreover, it would be interesting if future studies explore the relationship between the components found in our study and other cognitive components, such as semantic memory and attention.

## 5. Conclusions

As mentioned earlier, assessment time is often limited; thus, understanding the linguistic and executive mechanisms underlying commonly used language tasks is of the utmost importance. By employing a PCA analysis to explore the key components of commonly used language tasks, our results revealed four core underlying linguistic components. Considering these underlying components can potentially contribute to a more precise language assessment. Clinicians can also use the combined score of components. This method has important advantages when compared if the of single test measures, such as (1) the combination of test scores usually leads to statistically improved and more reliable measures; (2) using PCA, we can decompose the test data into their primary underlying component; (3) we can position individuals' performance within a grad or a multidimensional space (Butler et al., 2014).

In addition, our study shows how working memory and cognitive flexibility play an important role in sustaining the execution of clinical tasks commonly used in the clinical setting. Considering the impact of age and age-related diseases on this function, our discovery suggests that the performance of EF in language tasks should be considered as a factor. Tasks assessing EF should be systematically included in language batteries. We hope that our results can help clinicians to make more informed decisions regarding their choice of language tasks leading to a more timewise assessment

## 6. General discussion and final conclusions

Our goal was to explore the linguistic and cognitive mechanisms underlying language tasks. For our first goal, we used a data reduction method, PCA, which allowed us to extract the key language components that best explain the variation found in the data (Butler et al., 2014). This method presents some important advantages that can be useful in research and clinical settings. For example, we can use PCA to identify which tasks tap the same underlying abilities (Butler et al., 2014), as we did in the present study using different language tasks. We can then interpret the underlying mechanisms that are behind different tasks. Understanding the underlying mechanisms of different tasks can lead to a more accurate assessment. Moreover, we can observe the size of the loadings to see to what extent the observed variable is related to each factor (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). The higher the loading, the more the observed variable has contributed to forming the component. Thus, we can employ PCA to identify the purest measure of a specific function, which could potentially lead to less data collection required during clinical studies, because clinicians can choose the task that better represents a given underlying construct (Butler et al., 2014).

Our PCA analysis revealed the following four language components: pictorial semantics (e.g. auditory comprehension, naming and written naming tasks) language-executive (unconstrained, semantic and phonological verbal fluency tasks), transcoding and semantics (reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks), and pragmatics (indirect speech acts interpretation and metaphors interpretation tasks). These four components accounted for around 53% of the total variance. In addition, we verified if these language components were associated with two executive measures. A higher score on the language-executive component was associated with better cognitive flexibility. Likewise, a higher score on the transcoding and semantics component was associated with better working memory ability.

Our first component, which we named pictorial semantics, was composed of auditory comprehension, naming and written naming tasks. Picture naming tasks are useful tools to assess semantic and phonological access in different pathologies such as post-stroke aphasia, semantic dementia, and Alzheimer's disease. Picture

naming impairments are a typical symptom of post-stroke aphasia (Herbert et al., 2008; Semenza et al., 2011; Walker et al., 2018). These patients often have a decreased lexical retrieval ability, even when their semantic knowledge is preserved (Walker et al., 2018). Patients with Alzheimer's disease present with an increased difficulty to access the phonological form of words and their meaning due to their progressive loss in semantic knowledge (Moayedfar et al., 2021; Silagi et al., 2015). Alzheimer's Disease patients present more no-responses and errors compared to healthy elders during picture naming tasks (Moayedfar et al., 2021; Silagi et al., 2015). Likewise, patients with the semantic variant of PPA present with a decreased performance during picture naming tasks due to the progressive loss of semantic knowledge (van Scherpenberg et al., 2019). Decreased auditory comprehension of both word and sentences are also common after semantic deficits in patients with post-stroke aphasia (Knollman-Porter et al., 2019; Wiener et al., 2004), especially with low-frequency words (DeDe, 2012) and longer and more complex sentences (Caplan et al., 2007). If we observe the loadings from the PCA, we can observe that the auditory comprehension task had the most contribution to form the pictorial semantics component, followed by naming and written naming tasks. Both naming and auditory comprehension tasks are very much used by clinicians to assess language. However, if for some reason, such as time constraints, clinicians need to choose between these three tasks, auditory comprehension tasks should be privileged for assessing pictorial semantics. Future studies should investigate which of these pictorial semantics tasks is the most discriminatory to differentiate normal and pathological performance in different language disorders, especially poststroke aphasia.

Our second component, which we named language-executive, was composed of unconstrained, semantic and phonological verbal fluency tasks. This component was also associated with higher cognitive flexibility. Cognitive flexibility allows us to flexibly shift our attention between mental sets, operations, and tasks (Diamond, 2013). Verbal fluency tasks are commonly used to access the phonological and semantic retrieval. Similar to other studies, our results show that verbal fluency also requires cognitive flexibility, which is associated with the ability to shift to another cluster when the employed strategy has been exhausted (i.e. changing from domestic animals to wild animals) (Amunts et al., 2020; Fisk & Sharp, 2004; Shao et

al., 2014). It can be used to assess a large set of language disorders in several neurological populations, such as post-stroke aphasia (Bose et al., 2017), Alzheimer's Disease (Henry et al., 2004) and traumatic brain injury (Henry et al., 2004), among others. These patients usually produce fewer words when compared to normal subjects. Given the role of EF in verbal fluency tasks, if a patient presents executive difficulties, this kind of task may not be the most appropriated to assess language performance. All three verbal fluency tasks had similar loadings. Unconstrained verbal fluency had the highest contribution, followed by semantic verbal fluency, and phonological verbal fluency. This indicates that unconstrained verbal fluency should be privileged to assess language-executive performance. Semantic verbal fluency and phonological verbal fluency are widely used tools; however, more studies need to be conducted using unconstrained verbal fluency. Future studies should investigate each of the verbal fluency tasks is the most discriminatory to identify executive dysfunction in different pathologies. Several studies were already conducted comparing the semantic and phonological fluency; however, no study compared unconstrained verbal fluency to other verbal fluency tasks. One study found that semantic fluency was the better discriminant between Alzheimer's Disease patients and normal control subjects when compared to phonological and supermarket verbal fluency tasks (Monsch et al., 1992). Another study also found that semantic verbal fluency was the best for discriminating patients with post-stroke aphasia and normal control subjects when compared to action and phonological verbal fluency tasks (Faroqi-Shah & Milman, 2018). One more study found that semantic verbal fluency was the better discriminant between traumatic brain injury patients and normal control subjects when compared to phonological verbal fluency task (Kavé et al., 2011).

Our third component, which we named transcoding and semantics, was composed of reading, dictation, and semantic judgment tasks. Higher scores in this component were associated with higher working memory scores. Reading difficulties is a common symptom of post-stroke aphasia. These patients can present an increased difficulty to read words accurately and fast. This difficulty usually varies with the severity of the disease and it is often worse with nonwords when compared to real words (Brookshire et al., 2014). Spelling impairments are also commonly reported in patients with post-stroke aphasia. Common spelling errors

include omissions, substitutions, and additions of letters (Johansson-Malmeling et al., 2021). Most comprehensive aphasia batteries include reading and spelling tasks (Friedman & Lott, 2015). The third task that composed this component was the semantic judgment task. Traumatic brain injury (Brown et al., 2015) and Alzheimer's Disease patients (Hornberger et al., 2009) show lower performance in this kind of task when compared to normal subjects. The task that had the largest contribution to form the transcoding and semantics component was the reading task, followed by semantic judgment and the dictation task. Therefore, reading tasks should be privileged for assessing transcoding, and its relationship to semantics should also be taken into consideration. As our results demonstrate, semantic judgment, reading and writing tasks are associated with working memory. Other studies have shown the role of working memory in reading and writing (Capodieci et al., 2019; Peng et al., 2018; Stanley et al., 2017; Swanson et al., 2009), besides the relationship of working memory and semantic judgment task (Stanley et al., 2017). Working memory helps the decoding of words during reading by accessing and monitoring speech-based information (Swanson et al., 2009). During spelling, working memory helps by retrieving and maintaining the phonological and orthographic sentences of words while the word is being spelled (Capodieci et al., 2019). For the semantic judgment task, working memory allows the two words to remain online while the participant activates semantic processes to analyze if there is a similarity between both words (Stanley et al., 2017). Knowing these associations can be useful when planning an assessment. For example, it can be important to add a working memory task when assessing patients with reading or writing impairments, or semantic disorders. This can also be useful when preparing a treatment plan. For example, clinicians could plan a treatment that targets working memory, in order to improve working memory performance, but also to transfer this improvement to reading and writing performance as a consequence (Majerus, 2018). If the goal is to investigate only reading and spelling skills, it can be interesting to apply nonwords that do not depend on semantics. Our reading and dictation tasks included both real and nonwords. We decided to include both together in our analysis because they did not have enough variability when separated. Future studies should consider separating real and nonwords into two different variables.

Our fourth component, which we named pragmatics, was composed of indirect speech acts interpretation and interpretation of tasks. Pragmatic impairments are a common symptom of traumatic brain injury and right-hemisphere damaged patients. These patients present an increased difficulty to interpret nonliteral messages, such as indirect speech acts and metaphors. Pragmatic deficits can appear as a difficulty to interpret other people's intentions during conversations or watching television or to convey to others one's own intentions (Lehman Blake et al., 2013). Right hemisphere patients are also more likely to interpret the metaphor using their literal meaning rather than the conventional metaphorical interpretation (Lundgren & Brownell, 2016). Both indirect speech acts interpretation and metaphors interpretation can be used to assess pragmatic performance. Indirect speech acts interpretation had the largest contribution to form the pragmatics components. Therefore, if the main goal is to assess pragmatics, the indirect speech acts task should be privileged.

A study using a different kind of multicomponent analysis, a hierarchical cluster analysis, and the MAC language battery (Joanette et al., 2004) found four language clusters after a right hemisphere stroke (Ferré et al., 2012). The first cluster is characterized for global and massive impairments in most of the tasks (conversational discourse, metaphors interpretation, unconstrained verbal fluency, linguistic prosody comprehension and repetition, emotional prosody repetition and production, semantic judgment). The second cluster presents mixed deficits (conversation, linguistic prosody, repetition, narrative discourse, retelling, semantic judgment). The third cluster presenting only conversational discourse disorders and emotional prosody production. Finally, the fourth cluster showing no communication impairments. Given the differences in analyses and population, our components were not similar to the clusters found in this study. It could be interesting if future studies test if the same components would be found in different language pathologies, such as post-stroke aphasia, traumatic brain injury, Alzheimer's Disease, primary progressive aphasia, among others.

In the present study, we found that language involves many linguisticcognitive processes. As such, language is inherently multifactorial. Currently, there is an increased number of tasks developed and adapted to assess a variety of language abilities. The fact that we found four components even using a limited number of tasks highlights the heterogeneity and complexity of language processing. A comprehensive language assessment provides information on what mechanisms are impaired or spared. This information guides clinicians to formulate a treatment plan. However, as already mentioned, length assessments are not always possible due to time and cost, besides being stressful to patients. Therefore, identifying the most sensible tasks is of utmost importance.

Language tasks rely not only on heterogeneous language processing but they rely also on other cognitive processes, such as cognitive flexibility and working memory, as shown by our results in Study 2. If clinicians want to assess a given language component, they should know the implication of other cognitive functions in the array of tasks available to assess that language component is able to target the main deficits. For example, it is important to consider that reading and dictation tasks involve mainly transcoding mechanisms but it is also associated with working memory or that cognitive flexibility is necessary to perform verbal fluency tasks.

Some limitations need to be considered when analyzing our results. We only included a limited number of tasks in our study. Many other language tasks exist to assess different components of language. It is only possible to speculate what the results would be if we had included other language and cognitive functioning tasks (Crockett, 1974). Another factor to consider is the fact that both batteries employed in our study (MAC and MTL-BR) were created to assess patients facing language impairments after suffering brain damage, such as traumatic brain injury and stroke. However, the participants in our studies were healthy individuals. It is thus possible that the difficulty level of each task may not be the most suitable for assessing language performance in healthy adults. This could lead to ceiling effects, thus decreasing task variability and limiting our analysis. For Study 2, a small sample size was employed, which could limit our statistical power (Hackshaw, 2008). In addition, our analyses only employed two executive measures, cognitive flexibility, and working memory. Future studies with larger samples should further investigate the association between language components and EF of Study 2. If other executive measures, such as inhibitory control, had been included, we might have detected additional associations between language components and EF.

Furthermore, we only used one task for each executive component. One single task is not capable to assess the integrity of such complex cognitive functions. Therefore, future studies should include a larger number of tasks assessing cognitive flexibility and working memory.

Considering that this was an exploratory study, additional work needs to be done to confirm our findings. Future studies could include even a larger number of tasks assessing other language components. In addition, it can be useful to test which task of each component is the most discriminatory to different language pathologies. Moreover, it would be interesting if future studies explore the relationship between the components found in our study and other cognitive components such as attention and semantic memory. We hope our findings help to further elucidate the linguistic and executive mechanisms of commonly used language tasks, contributing to a more precise language diagnosis.

#### 7. References

- AbdulSabur, N. Y., Xu, Y., Liu, S., Chow, H. M., Baxter, M., Carson, J., & Braun, A. R. (2014). Neural correlates and network connectivity underlying narrative production and comprehension: a combined fMRI and PET study. *Cortex*, *57*, 107-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2014.01.017
- Ackerman, D. J., & Friedman-Krauss, A. H. (2017). Preschoolers' executive function: Importance, contributors, research needs and assessment options. *ETS Research Report Series*, 2017(1), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ets2.12148
- Adelt, A., Hanne, S., & Stadie, N. (2018). Treatment of sentence comprehension and production in aphasia: is there cross-modal generalisation? *Neuropsychol Rehabil*, 28(6), 937-965. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602011.2016.1213176
- Agrell, B., & Dehlin, O. (2012). The clock-drawing test. 1998. *Age Ageing*, 41, 41-45. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afs149
- Aita, S. L., Beach, J. D., Taylor, S. E., Borgogna, N. C., Harrell, M. N., & Hill, B. D. (2019). Executive, language, or both? An examination of the construct validity of verbal fluency measures. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult, 26*(5), 441-451. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2018.1439830">https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2018.1439830</a>
- Almeida, J., Knobel, M., Finkbeiner, M., & Caramazza, A. (2007). The locus of the frequency effect in picture naming: When recognizing is not enough. *Psychonomic bulletin & review, 14*(6), 1177-1182. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193109">https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193109</a>
- Amunts, J., Camilleri, J. A., Eickhoff, S. B., Heim, S., & Weis, S. (2020). Executive functions predict verbal fluency scores in healthy participants. *Sci Rep, 10*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65525-9
- Anderson, P. J. (2010). Towards a developmental model of executive function. In V. Anderson, R. Jacobs, & P. J. Anderson (Eds.), *Executive functions and the frontal lobes* (pp. 37-56). Psychology Press.
- Andreetta, S., Cantagallo, A., & Marini, A. (2012). Narrative discourse in anomic aphasia. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1787-1793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.003

- Archibald, L. M. (2013). The language, working memory, and other cognitive demands of verbal tasks. *Topics in Language Disorders*, *33*(3), 190-207. https://doi.org/10.1097/TLD.0b013e31829dd8af
- Ariel, M. (2010). *Defining pragmatics* (1 ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511777912
- Armstrong, J., Kondraske, G. V., & Stewart, R. M. (2007). Performance theory based formation of composite scores: Application to steadiness/tremor measurement. 2007 IEEE Dallas Engineering in Medicine and Biology Workshop,
- Asher, N., & Lascarides, A. (2001). Indirect Speech Acts. *Synthese*, *128*(1), 183-228. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010340508140
- Austin, J. L. (1962). Lecture XI. In J. L. Austin (Ed.), *How to do things with words* (pp. 132-146). Oxford University Press.
- Baddeley, A. (2000). The episodic buffer: a new component of working memory? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 4*(11), 417-423. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01538-2
- Baddeley, A. (2003). Working memory and language: an overview. *Journal of communication disorders, 36*(3), 189-208. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9924(03)00019-4">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9924(03)00019-4</a>
- Baddeley, A. D., & Hitch, G. (1974). Working Memory. In G. H. Bower (Ed.), *Psychology of Learning and Motivation* (Vol. 8, pp. 47-89). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-7421(08)60452-1
- Badre, D., & Wagner, A. D. (2007). Left ventrolateral prefrontal cortex and the cognitive control of memory. *Neuropsychologia*, *45*(13), 2883-2901. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.06.015
- Bambini, V., Arcara, G., Martinelli, I., Bernini, S., Alvisi, E., Moro, A., Cappa, S. F., & Ceroni, M. (2016). Communication and pragmatic breakdowns in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. *Brain Lang, 153-154*, 1-12. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2015.12.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2015.12.002</a>
- Barlow, J. A., & Gierut, J. A. (2002). Minimal pair approaches to phonological remediation. *Seminars in speech and language*, *23*(01), 57-67. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-24969

- Barnes, S., & Armstrong, E. (2010). Conversation after right hemisphere brain damage: motivations for applying conversation analysis. *Clin Linguist Phon, 24*(1), 55-69. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699200903349734
- Barry, C., Hirsh, K. W., Johnston, R. A., & Williams, C. L. (2001). Age of Acquisition, Word Frequency, and the Locus of Repetition Priming of Picture Naming. *Journal of Memory and Language, 44*(3), 350-375. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/jmla.2000.2743">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/jmla.2000.2743</a>
- Baum, S. R., & Dwivedi, V. D. (2003). Sensitivity to prosodic structure in left- and right-hemisphere-damaged individuals. *Brain Lang, 87*(2), 278-289. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0093-934x(03)00109-3
- Beck, A., Steer, R., & Brown, G. (2011). BDI-II–Inventário de Depressão de Beck. *São Paulo: Casa do Psicólogo*.
- Benton, A. L., deS, K., & Sivan, A. B. (1994). *Multilingual aphasia examination*. AJA associates.
- Beretta, A. (2008). Disorders of syntax. In B. Stemmer & H. A. Whitetaker (Eds.), Handbook of the neuroscience of language (1 ed., pp. 155-163). Elsevier.
- Bergeron, S., Pichette, D., Ciquier, G. C., Dubé, C., Brambati, S. M., & Wilson, M. A. (2014). La sémantique, la lecture de mots irréguliers et les lobes temporaux antérieurs. *Rééducation orthophonique*(260), 83-102.
- Berninger, V. W., Abbott, R. D., Thomson, J., Wagner, R., Swanson, H. L., Wijsman, E. M., & Raskind, W. (2006). Modeling Phonological Core Deficits Within a Working Memory Architecture in Children and Adults With Developmental Dyslexia. Scientific Studies of Reading, 10(2), 165-198. https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532799xssr1002 3
- Blumstein, S. E. (1998). Phonological aspects of aphasia. In M. T. Sarno (Ed.), *Acquired aphasia* (3 ed., pp. 157-186). Academic Press.
- Bogart, E., Togher, L., Power, E., & Docking, K. (2012). Casual conversations between individuals with traumatic brain injury and their friends. *Brain Inj, 26*(3), 221-233. https://doi.org/10.3109/02699052.2011.648711
- Bonin, P., Méot, A., Lagarrigue, A., & Roux, S. (2015). Written object naming, spelling to dictation, and immediate copying: Different tasks, different pathways? *Q J Exp*

- *Psychol* (Hove), 68(7), 1268-1294. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2014.978877
- Bonner, M. F., Ash, S., & Grossman, M. (2010). The new classification of primary progressive aphasia into semantic, logopenic, or nonfluent/agrammatic variants. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep, 10*(6), 484-490. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-010-0140-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-010-0140-4</a>
- Booth, J. R., Burman, D. D., Meyer, J. R., Gitelman, D. R., Parrish, T. B., & Mesulam, M. M. (2002). Modality independence of word comprehension. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 16(4), 251-261. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10054">https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10054</a>
- Bosco, Parola, A., Sacco, K., Zettin, M., & Angeleri, R. (2017). Communicative-pragmatic disorders in traumatic brain injury: The role of theory of mind and executive functions. *Brain Lang*, *168*, 73-83. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2017.01.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2017.01.007</a>
- Bosco, F. M., Tirassa, M., & Gabbatore, I. (2018). Why Pragmatics and Theory of Mind Do Not (Completely) Overlap. *Front Psychol*, *9*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01453
- Bose, A., Wood, R., & Kiran, S. (2017). Semantic fluency in aphasia: clustering and switching in the course of 1 minute. *Int J Lang Commun Disord*, *52*(3), 334-345. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12276
- Bourque, J., Poulin, N., & Cleaver, A. (2006). Évaluation de l'utilisation et de la présentation des résultats d'analyses factorielles et d'analyses en composantes principales en éducation. *Revue des sciences de l'éducation, 32*(2), 325-344. https://doi.org/10.7202/014411ar
- Breese, E. L., & Hillis, A. E. (2004). Auditory comprehension: is multiple choice really good enough? *Brain Lang, 89*(1), 3-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s0093-934x(03)00412-7">https://doi.org/10.1016/s0093-934x(03)00412-7</a>
- Brookshire, C. E., Wilson, J. P., Nadeau, S. E., Gonzalez Rothi, L. J., & Kendall, D. L. (2014). Frequency, nature, and predictors of alexia in a convenience sample of individuals with chronic aphasia. *Aphasiology, 28*(12), 1464-1480. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2014.945389
- Brown, J. A., Hux, K., Kenny, C., & Funk, T. (2015). Consistency and idiosyncrasy of semantic categorization by individuals with traumatic brain injuries. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol,* 10(5), 378-384. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3109/17483107.2014.921250">https://doi.org/10.3109/17483107.2014.921250</a>

- Brownell, H. H., Potter, H. H., Bihrle, A. M., & Gardner, H. (1986). Inference deficits in right brain-damaged patients. *Brain Lang, 27*(2), 310-321. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(86)90022-2">https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(86)90022-2</a>
- Bruffaerts, R., Schaeverbeke, J., De Weer, A. S., Nelissen, N., Dries, E., Van Bouwel, K., Sieben, A., Bergmans, B., Swinnen, C., Pijnenburg, Y., Sunaert, S., Vandenbulcke, M., & Vandenberghe, R. (2020). Multivariate analysis reveals anatomical correlates of naming errors in primary progressive aphasia. *Neurobiol Aging, 88*, 71-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.12.016
- Buckingham, H. W., & Christman, S. S. (2008). Disorders of phonetics and phonology. In B. Stemmer & H. A. Whitetaker (Eds.), *Handbook of the neuroscience of language* (1 ed., pp. 127-136). Elsevier.
- Butler, R. A., Lambon Ralph, M. A., & Woollams, A. M. (2014). Capturing multidimensionality in stroke aphasia: mapping principal behavioural components to neural structures. *Brain*, 137(12), 3248-3266. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awu286">https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awu286</a>
- Butterfuss, R., & Kendeou, P. (2018). The Role of Executive Functions in Reading Comprehension. *Educational Psychology Review, 30*(3), 801-826. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9422-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9422-6</a>
- Cahana-Amitay, D., & Jenkins, T. (2018). Working memory and discourse production in people with aphasia. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 48, 90-103. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2018.04.007">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2018.04.007</a>
- Cannizzaro, M. S., & Coelho, C. A. (2013). Analysis of narrative discourse structure as an ecologically relevant measure of executive function in adults. *J Psycholinguist Res*, 42(6), 527-549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10936-012-9231-5
- Caplan, D., Alpert, N., & Waters, G. (1999). PET studies of syntactic processing with auditory sentence presentation. *Neuroimage*, *9*(3), 343-351. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1998.0412">https://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.1998.0412</a>
- Caplan, D., Baker, C., & Dehaut, F. (1985). Syntactic determinants of sentence comprehension in aphasia. *Cognition*, 21(2), 117-175. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90048-4">https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90048-4</a>

- Caplan, D., Waters, G., Dede, G., Michaud, J., & Reddy, A. (2007). A study of syntactic processing in aphasia I: behavioral (psycholinguistic) aspects. *Brain Lang*, 101(2), 103-150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2006.06.225
- Capodieci, A., Serafini, A., Dessuki, A., & Cornoldi, C. (2019). Writing abilities and the role of working memory in children with symptoms of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder. *Child Neuropsychol,* 25(1), 103-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2018.1441390
- Cappa, S. F., Binetti, G., Pezzini, A., Padovani, A., Rozzini, L., & Trabucchi, M. (1998). Object and action naming in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia. *Neurology*, *50*(2), 351-355. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.50.2.351">https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.50.2.351</a>
- Carroll, J. B. (1941). A factor analysis of verbal abilities. *Psychometrika*, 6(5), 279-307. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02288585
- Casarin, F., Scherer, L., Parente, M., Ferré, P., Lamelin, F., Côté, H., Ska, B., Joanette, Y., & Fonseca, R. (2014). *Bateria Montreal de Avaliação da Comunicação–versão abreviada–Bateria MAC Breve*. Pró-Fono.
- Champagne, M., Desautels, M.-C., & Joanette, Y. (2004). Lack of inhibition could contribute to non-literal language impairments in right-hemisphere-damaged individuals. *Brain and language, 91*(1), 172-174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2004.06.089
- Champagne-Lavau, M., & Stip, E. (2010). Pragmatic and executive dysfunction in schizophrenia. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 23(3), 285-296. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2009.08.009">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2009.08.009</a>
- Chan, R. C., Shum, D., Toulopoulou, T., & Chen, E. Y. (2008). Assessment of executive functions: Review of instruments and identification of critical issues. *Archives of clinical neuropsychology,* 23(2), 201-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acn.2007.08.010
- Chantraine, Y., Joanette, Y., & Ska, B. (1998). Conversational abilities in patients with right hemisphere damage. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 11(1), 21-32. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0911-6044(98)00003-7">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0911-6044(98)00003-7</a>
- Chapleau, M., Wilson, M. A., Potvin, K., Harvey-Langton, A., Montembeault, M., & Brambati, S. M. (2017). Word reading aloud skills: their positive redefinition through ageing. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 40(3), 297-312. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12065

- Cherney, L. R. (2010). Oral reading for language in aphasia (ORLA): evaluating the efficacy of computer-delivered therapy in chronic nonfluent aphasia. *Top Stroke Rehabil*, 17(6), 423-431. https://doi.org/10.1310/tsr1706-423
- Chesneau, S., & Ska, B. (2015). Text comprehension in residual aphasia after basic-level linguistic recovery: A multiple case study. *Aphasiology, 29*(2), 237-256. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2014.971098
- Chiappe, D. L., & Chiappe, P. (2007). The role of working memory in metaphor production and comprehension. *Journal of Memory and Language*, *56*(2), 172-188. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2006.11.006">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2006.11.006</a>
- Cho-Reyes, S., Mack, J. E., & Thompson, C. K. (2016). Grammatical Encoding and Learning in Agrammatic Aphasia: Evidence from Structural Priming. *J Mem Lang*, *91*, 202-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2016.02.004
- Choinski, M., Szelag, E., Wolak, T., & Szymaszek, A. (2020). Working Memory in Aphasia: The Role of Temporal Information Processing. *Front Hum Neurosci*, *14*, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2020.589802
- Christopher, M. E., Miyake, A., Keenan, J. M., Pennington, B., DeFries, J. C., Wadsworth, S. J., Willcutt, E., & Olson, R. K. (2012). Predicting word reading and comprehension with executive function and speed measures across development: a latent variable analysis. *J Exp Psychol Gen, 141*(3), 470-488. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027375">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027375</a>
- Clark, C., Crockett, D. J., & Klonoff, H. (1979). Empirically derived groups in the assessment of recovery from aphasia. *Brain and language, 7*(2), 240-251. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934X(79)90020-8">https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934X(79)90020-8</a>
- Coelho, C. A. (2002). Story narratives of adults with closed head injury and non-brain-injured adults: influence of socioeconomic status, elicitation task, and executive functioning. *J Speech Lang Hear Res, 45*(6), 1232-1248. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2002/099">https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2002/099)</a>)
- Coelho, C. A., Grela, B., Corso, M., Gamble, A., & Feinn, R. (2005). Microlinguistic deficits in the narrative discourse of adults with traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj, 19*(13), 1139-1145. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050500110678
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. Psychological bulletin, 112(1), 155.

- Colé, P., Duncan, L. G., & Blaye, A. (2014). Cognitive flexibility predicts early reading skills. *Front Psychol*, *5*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00565
- Costello, A. B., & Osborne, J. (2005). Best practices in exploratory factor analysis: Four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. *Practical assessment, research, and evaluation, 10*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.7275/jyj1-4868
- Cotelli, M., Manenti, R., Brambilla, M., Zanetti, O., & Miniussi, C. (2012). Naming ability changes in physiological and pathological aging. *Front Neurosci*, *6*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2012.00120
- Cotelli, M., Manenti, R., Rosini, S., Calabria, M., Brambilla, M., Bisiacchi, P. S., Zanetti, O., & Miniussi, C. (2010). Action and Object Naming in Physiological Aging: An rTMS Study. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 2, 1-7. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2010.00151">https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2010.00151</a>
- Crisp, J., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2006). Unlocking the nature of the phonological-deep dyslexia continuum: the keys to reading aloud are in phonology and semantics. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 18(3), 348-362. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892906775990543
- Crockett, D. J. (1974). Component Analysis of Within Correlations of Language-Skill Tests in Normal Children. *The Journal of Special Education*, 8(4), 361-375. https://doi.org/10.1177/002246697400800409
- Croot, K., Ballard, K., Leyton, C. E., & Hodges, J. R. (2012). Apraxia of speech and phonological errors in the diagnosis of nonfluent/agrammatic and logopenic variants of primary progressive aphasia. *J Speech Lang Hear Res, 55*(5), 1562-1572. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2012/11-0323)
- Curran, P. J., West, S. G., & Finch, J. F. (1996). The robustness of test statistics to nonnormality and specification error in confirmatory factor analysis. *Psychological methods*, 1(1), 16.
- Daneman, M., & Carpenter, P. A. (1980). Individual differences in working memory and reading. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 19(4), 450-466. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5371(80)90312-6">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5371(80)90312-6</a>
- Dardier, V., Bernicot, J., Delanoë, A., Vanberten, M., Fayada, C., Chevignard, M., Delaye, C., Laurent-Vannier, A., & Dubois, B. (2011). Severe traumatic brain injury, frontal lesions, and social aspects of language use: a study of French-speaking adults. *J Commun Disord*, 44(3), 359-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2011.02.001

- Davis, G. A. (2007). Cognitive pragmatics of language disorders in adults. *Semin Speech Lang*, 28(2), 111-121. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-970569
- De Beni, R., & Palladino, P. (2000). Intrusion errors in working memory tasks: Are they related to reading comprehension ability? *Learning and Individual Differences,* 12(2), 131-143. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1041-6080(01)00033-4">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1041-6080(01)00033-4</a>
- de Jong, C. G., Van De Voorde, S., Roeyers, H., Raymaekers, R., Oosterlaan, J., & Sergeant, J. A. (2009). How distinctive are ADHD and RD? Results of a double dissociation study. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, *37*(7), 1007-1017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-009-9328-y
- De Nardi, T., Sanvicente-Vieira, B., Prando, M., Stein, L. M., Fonseca, R. P., & Grassi-Oliveira, R. (2013). Auditory N-back task: different age groups performance. *Psicologia: Reflexao e Critica, 26*(1), 151-159. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-79722013000100016">https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-79722013000100016</a>
- Dębska, A., Chyl, K., Dzięgiel, G., Kacprzak, A., Łuniewska, M., Plewko, J., Marchewka, A., Grabowska, A., & Jednoróg, K. (2019). Reading and spelling skills are differentially related to phonological processing: Behavioral and fMRI study. *Dev Cogn Neurosci*, 39, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100683
- DeDe, G. (2012). Effects of word frequency and modality on sentence comprehension impairments in people with aphasia. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol, 21*(2), 103-114. https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2012/11-0082)
- DeLeon, J., Gottesman, R. F., Kleinman, J. T., Newhart, M., Davis, C., Heidler-Gary, J., Lee, A., & Hillis, A. E. (2007). Neural regions essential for distinct cognitive processes underlying picture naming. *Brain*, 130(5), 1408-1422. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm011">https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awm011</a>
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annual review of psychology, 64*, 135-168. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Dobbs, A. R., & Rule, B. G. (1989). Adult age differences in working memory. *Psychology and aging*, *4*(4), 500-503. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.4.4.500">https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.4.4.500</a>
- Douglas, J. M. (2010). Relation of executive functioning to pragmatic outcome following severe traumatic brain injury. *J Speech Lang Hear Res, 53*(2), 365-382. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2009/08-0205)

- Drummond, C., Coutinho, G., Fonseca, R. P., Assunção, N., Teldeschi, A., de Oliveira-Souza, R., Moll, J., Tovar-Moll, F., & Mattos, P. (2015). Deficits in narrative discourse elicited by visual stimuli are already present in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Front Aging Neurosci*, 7, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2015.00096
- Duman, T. Y., Altınok, N., Özgirgin, N., & Bastiaanse, R. (2011). Sentence comprehension in Turkish Broca's aphasia: An integration problem. *Aphasiology, 25*(8), 908-926. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2010.550629
- Fabrigar, L. R., Wegener, D. T., MacCallum, R. C., & Strahan, E. J. (1999). Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research. *Psychological methods*, *4*(3), 272-299. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.4.3.272">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.4.3.272</a>
- Faroqi-Shah, Y., & Friedman, L. (2015). Production of Verb Tense in Agrammatic Aphasia: A Meta-Analysis and Further Data. *Behav Neurol*, 2015, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/983870
- Faroqi-Shah, Y., & Milman, L. (2018). Comparison of animal, action and phonemic fluency in aphasia. *Int J Lang Commun Disord*, 53(2), 370-384. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12354
- Fedorenko, E., Gibson, E., & Rohde, D. (2006). The nature of working memory capacity in sentence comprehension: Evidence against domain-specific working memory resources. *Journal of Memory and Language*, *54*(4), 541-553. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jml.2005.12.006
- Ferré, P., Fonseca, R. P., Ska, B., & Joanette, Y. (2012). Communicative clusters after a right-hemisphere stroke: are there universal clinical profiles? *Folia Phoniatr Logop, 64*(4), 199-207. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1159/000340017">https://doi.org/10.1159/000340017</a>
- Ferré, P., Lamelin, F., Côté, H., Ska, B., & Joanette, Y. (2011). Protocole Montréal d'Évaluation de la Communication de Poche–Protocole MEC de Poche. Ortho Édition.
- Field, A. (2018). The beast of bias. In A. Field (Ed.), *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics* (5 ed., pp. 227-229). Sage Publications.
- Fisk, J. E., & Sharp, C. A. (2004). Age-related impairment in executive functioning: updating, inhibition, shifting, and access. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 26(7), 874-890. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390490510680

- Flowers, H. L., Skoretz, S. A., Silver, F. L., Rochon, E., Fang, J., Flamand-Roze, C., & Martino, R. (2016). Poststroke aphasia frequency, recovery, and outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation,* 97(12), 2188-2201. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2016.03.006">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2016.03.006</a>
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., & McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res*, 12(3), 189-198. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Fong, M. W., Van Patten, R., & Fucetola, R. P. (2019). The factor structure of the boston diagnostic aphasia examination. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 25(7), 772-776. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617719000237
- Fonseca, R. P., Kochhann, R., Pereira, N., Côté, H., Ska, B., Giroux, F., Joanette, Y., & Parente, M. A. d. M. P. (2015). Age and education effects on adults' performance on the Brazilian version of the Montreal Communication Evaluation Battery. *Aphasiology,* 29(10), 1219-1234. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2015.1032878
- Fostick, L., & Revah, H. (2018). Dyslexia as a multi-deficit disorder: Working memory and auditory temporal processing. *Acta Psychol (Amst), 183,* 19-28. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2017.12.010">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actpsy.2017.12.010</a>
- Friedman, N. P., & Miyake, A. (2004). The relations among inhibition and interference control functions: a latent-variable analysis. *J Exp Psychol Gen, 133*(1), 101-135. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.133.1.101
- Friedman, R. B., & Lott, S. N. (2015). Clinical diagnosis and treatment of reading disorders. In *The handbook of adult language disorders* (pp. 54-72). Psychology Press.
- Gajardo-Vidal, A., Lorca-Puls, D. L., Hope, T. M. H., Parker Jones, O., Seghier, M. L., Prejawa, S., Crinion, J. T., Leff, A. P., Green, D. W., & Price, C. J. (2018). How right hemisphere damage after stroke can impair speech comprehension. *Brain*, 141(12), 3389-3404. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awy270
- Galetto, V., Andreetta, S., Zettin, M., & Marini, A. (2013). Patterns of impairment of narrative language in mild traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 26(6), 649-661. 
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2013.05.004

- Gibbs, R. W., Jr., & Colston, H. L. (2020). Pragmatics Always Matters: An Expanded Vision of Experimental Pragmatics. *Front Psychol,* 11, 1-8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01619">https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01619</a>
- Gilmore, N., Meier, E. L., Johnson, J. P., & Kiran, S. (2019). Nonlinguistic cognitive factors predict treatment-induced recovery in chronic poststroke aphasia. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 100(7), 1251-1258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2018.12.024
- Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., Guy, S. C., & Kenworthy, L. (2000). *Behavior rating inventory of executive function: BRIEF*. Psychological Assessment Resources Odessa, FL.
- Gonçalves, A. P. B., Mello, C., Pereira, A. H., Ferré, P., Fonseca, R. P., & Joanette, Y. (2018). Executive functions assessment in patients with language impairment A systematic review. *Dement Neuropsychol*, 12(3), 272-283. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-57642018dn12-030008
- Gonçalves, H. A., Cargnin, C., Jacobsen, G. M., Kochhann, R., Joanette, Y., & Fonseca, R. P. (2017). Clustering and switching in unconstrained, phonemic and semantic verbal fluency: the role of age and school type. *Journal of Cognitive Psychology*, 29(6), 670-690. https://doi.org/10.1080/20445911.2017.1313259
- Goodglass, H., Kaplan, E., & Weintraub, S. (2001). *BDAE: The Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Goral, M., Clark-Cotton, M., Spiro, A., 3rd, Obler, L. K., Verkuilen, J., & Albert, M. L. (2011). The contribution of set switching and working memory to sentence processing in older adults. *Exp Aging Res*, *37*(5), 516-538. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073x.2011.619858
- Gorno-Tempini, M. L., Hillis, A. E., Weintraub, S., Kertesz, A., Mendez, M., Cappa, S. F., Ogar, J. M., Rohrer, J. D., Black, S., Boeve, B. F., Manes, F., Dronkers, N. F., Vandenberghe, R., Rascovsky, K., Patterson, K., Miller, B. L., Knopman, D. S., Hodges, J. R., Mesulam, M. M., & Grossman, M. (2011). Classification of primary progressive aphasia and its variants. *Neurology*, *76*(11), 1006-1014. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31821103e6
- Grossman, M. (2010). Primary progressive aphasia: clinicopathological correlations. *Nat Rev Neurol*, *6*(2), 88-97. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2009.216

- Gustavson, D. E., Panizzon, M. S., Franz, C. E., Reynolds, C. A., Corley, R. P., Hewitt, J. K., Lyons, M. J., Kremen, W. S., & Friedman, N. P. (2019). Integrating verbal fluency with executive functions: Evidence from twin studies in adolescence and middle age. J Exp Psychol Gen, 148(12), 2104-2119. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000589
- Hackshaw, A. (2008). Small studies: strengths and limitations. *Eur Respir J, 32*(5), 1141-1143. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00136408">https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.00136408</a>
- Hagoort, P. (2005). On Broca, brain, and binding: a new framework. *Trends Cogn Sci,* 9(9), 416-423. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005.07.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2005.07.004</a>
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2009). *Multivariate data analysis* (J. F. Hair, Ed. 7 ed.). Pearson.
- Halai, A. D., Woollams, A. M., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2017). Using principal component analysis to capture individual differences within a unified neuropsychological model of chronic post-stroke aphasia: Revealing the unique neural correlates of speech fluency, phonology and semantics. *Cortex*, 86, 275-289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2016.04.016
- Hanson, W. R., Riege, W. H., Metter, E. J., & Inman, V. W. (1982). Factor-derived categories of chronic aphasia. *Brain and language*, *15*(2), 369-380.
- Hanten, G., & Martin, R. C. (2000). Contributions of Phonological and Semantic Short-Term Memory to Sentence Processing: Evidence from Two Cases of Closed Head Injury in Children. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 43(2), 335-361. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/jmla.2000.2731
- Harel, D., & Rumpe, B. (2004). Meaningful modeling: what's the semantics of "semantics"? *Computer*, *37*(10), 64-72. https://doi.org/10.1109/MC.2004.172
- Hartley, L. L., & Jensen, P. J. (1991). Narrative and procedural discourse after closed head injury. *Brain Inj, 5*(3), 267-285. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3109/02699059109008097">https://doi.org/10.3109/02699059109008097</a>
- Hayes, B. (2009). Introductory phonology (B. Hayes, Ed. 1 ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Henderson, A., Kim, H., Kintz, S., Frisco, N., & Wright, H. H. (2017). Working Memory in Aphasia: Considering Discourse Processing and Treatment Implications. *Semin Speech Lang*, 38(1), 40-51. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1597257

- Henry, J. D., Crawford, J. R., & Phillips, L. H. (2004). Verbal fluency performance in dementia of the Alzheimer's type: a meta-analysis. *Neuropsychologia*, *42*(9), 1212-1222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2004.02.001
- Henry, M. L., Beeson, P. M., Alexander, G. E., & Rapcsak, S. Z. (2012). Written language impairments in primary progressive aphasia: a reflection of damage to central semantic and phonological processes. *Journal of cognitive neuroscience, 24*(2), 261-275. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn a 00153
- Herbert, R., Hickin, J., Howard, D., Osborne, F., & Best, W. (2008). Do picture-naming tests provide a valid assessment of lexical retrieval in conversation in aphasia? *Aphasiology*, 22(2), 184-203. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030701262613">https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030701262613</a>
- Hickok, G., Okada, K., Barr, W., Pa, J., Rogalsky, C., Donnelly, K., Barde, L., & Grant, A. (2008). Bilateral capacity for speech sound processing in auditory comprehension: evidence from Wada procedures. *Brain Lang, 107*(3), 179-184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2008.09.006
- Ho, R. (2013). Handbook of univariate and multivariate data analysis with IBM SPSS. CRC press.
- Hoffman, P., Sajjadi, S. A., Patterson, K., & Nestor, P. J. (2017). Data-driven classification of patients with primary progressive aphasia. *Brain and language*, *174*, 86-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2017.08.001
- Holyoak, K. J., & Stamenković, D. (2018). Metaphor comprehension: A critical review of theories and evidence. *Psychol Bull, 144*(6), 641-671. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000145
- Hornberger, M., Bell, B., Graham, K. S., & Rogers, T. T. (2009). Are judgments of semantic relatedness systematically impaired in Alzheimer's disease? *Neuropsychologia*, 47(14), 3084-3094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2009.07.006
- Ingram, R. U., Halai, A. D., Pobric, G., Sajjadi, S., Patterson, K., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2020). Graded, multidimensional intra-and intergroup variations in primary progressive aphasia and post-stroke aphasia. *Brain, 143*(10), 3121-3135. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awaa245
- Jefferies, E., Baker, S. S., Doran, M., & Ralph, M. A. (2007). Refractory effects in stroke aphasia: a consequence of poor semantic control. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(5), 1065-1079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.09.009

- Jefferies, E., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2006). Semantic impairment in stroke aphasia versus semantic dementia: a case-series comparison. *Brain*, 129(8), 2132-2147. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awl153
- Jerger, S., & Damian, M. F. (2005). What's in a name? Typicality and relatedness effects in children. *J Exp Child Psychol, 92*(1), 46-75. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2005.04.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2005.04.001</a>
- Joanette, Y., Ska, B., & Côté, H. (2004). Protocole Montréal d'évaluation de la communication (Protocole MEC). Ortho Édition.
- Johansson-Malmeling, C., Wengelin, Å., & Henriksson, I. (2021). Aphasia and spelling to dictation: Analysis of spelling errors and editing. *Int J Lang Commun Disord*, 56(1), 145-160. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12591">https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12591</a>
- Johns, C. L., Tooley, K. M., & Traxler, M. J. (2008). Discourse Impairments Following Right Hemisphere Brain Damage: A Critical Review. *Lang Linguist Compass*, 2(6), 1038-1062. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-818X.2008.00094.x
- Jones, L. V., & Wepman, J. M. (1961). Dimensions of language performance in aphasia. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 4(3), 220-232. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/jshr.0403.220">https://doi.org/10.1044/jshr.0403.220</a>
- Just, M. A., & Carpenter, P. A. (1992). A capacity theory of comprehension: individual differences in working memory. *Psychol Rev, 99*(1), 122-149. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.99.1.122">https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295x.99.1.122</a>
- Kaiser, H. F. (1960). The Application of Electronic Computers to Factor Analysis. *Educational and Psychological Measurement, 20*(1), 141-151. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000116">https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000116</a>
- Kavé, G., Heled, E., Vakil, E., & Agranov, E. (2011). Which verbal fluency measure is most useful in demonstrating executive deficits after traumatic brain injury? *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 33(3), 358-365. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2010.518703">https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2010.518703</a>
- Keenan, J. M., & Betjemann, R. S. (2008). Comprehension of single words: The role of semantics in word identification and reading disability. In E. L. Grigorenko & A. J. Naples (Eds.), Single-Word Reading (1 ed., pp. 202-221). Psychology Press. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203810064">https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203810064</a>

- Klimova, B., & Kuca, K. (2016). Speech and language impairments in dementia. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine,* 14(2), 97-103. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jab.2016.02.002
- Klin, A. (2000). Attributing social meaning to ambiguous visual stimuli in higher-functioning autism and Asperger syndrome: The Social Attribution Task. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, *41*(7), 831-846. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00671
- Knollman-Porter, K., Wallace, S. E., Brown, J. A., Hux, K., Hoagland, B. L., & Ruff, D. R. (2019). Effects of Written, Auditory, and Combined Modalities on Comprehension by People With Aphasia. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol*, 28(3), 1206-1221. https://doi.org/10.1044/2019 ajslp-19-0013
- Knoop-van Campen, C. A. N., Segers, E., & Verhoeven, L. (2018). How phonological awareness mediates the relation between working memory and word reading efficiency in children with dyslexia. *Dyslexia*, *24*(2), 156-169. https://doi.org/10.1002/dys.1583
- Kochhann, R., Varela, J. S., Lisboa, C. S. M., & Chaves, M. L. F. (2010). The Mini Mental State Examination: Review of cutoff points adjusted for schooling in a large Southern Brazilian sample. *Dement Neuropsychol, 4*(1), 35-41. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1980-57642010dn40100006
- Koenig, P., Smith, E. E., Glosser, G., DeVita, C., Moore, P., McMillan, C., Gee, J., & Grossman, M. (2005). The neural basis for novel semantic categorization. Neuroimage, 24(2), 369-383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.08.045
- Krishnan, G., Bellur, R., & Karanth, P. (2015). Lexico-semantic deficits in people with right hemisphere damage: Evidence from convergent naming tasks. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, 35, 13-24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2015.01.002
- Kroeger, P. (2019). The meaning of meaning. In P. Kroeger (Ed.), *Analyzing meaning: An introduction to semantics and pragmatics* (2 ed., pp. 3-13). Language Science Press.
- Kudo, T. (1984). The effect of semantic plausibility on sentence comprehension in aphasia. *Brain Lang, 21*(2), 208-218. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(84)90047-6">https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934x(84)90047-6</a>

- Lacey, E. H., Skipper-Kallal, L. M., Xing, S., Fama, M. E., & Turkeltaub, P. E. (2017). Mapping common aphasia assessments to underlying cognitive processes and their neural substrates. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, *31*(5), 442-450. https://doi.org/10.1177/1545968316688797
- Lambert, M., Ouimet, L. A., Wan, C., Stewart, A., Collins, B., Vitoroulis, I., & Bielajew, C. (2018). Cancer-related cognitive impairment in breast cancer survivors: An examination of conceptual and statistical cognitive domains using principal component analysis. *Oncol Rev,* 12(2), 90-97. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4081/oncol.2018.371">https://doi.org/10.4081/oncol.2018.371</a>
- Laws, K. R., Adlington, R. L., Gale, T. M., Moreno-Martínez, F. J., & Sartori, G. (2007). A meta-analytic review of category naming in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropsychologia,* 45(12), 2674-2682. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.04.003">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2007.04.003</a>
- Lê, K., Mozeiko, J., & Coelho, C. (2011). Discourse analyses: Characterizing cognitive-communication disorders following TBI. *The ASHA Leader*, *16*(2), 18-21. https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.FTR4.16022011.18
- Lee, M., & Thompson, C. K. (2004). Agrammatic aphasic production and comprehension of unaccusative verbs in sentence contexts. *J Neurolinguistics*, *17*(4), 315-330. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0911-6044(03)00062-9
- Lehman Blake, M. (2006). Clinical relevance of discourse characteristics after right hemisphere brain damage. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol*, 15(3), 255-267. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2006/024">https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2006/024)</a>
- Lehman Blake, M., Frymark, T., & Venedictov, R. (2013). An evidence-based systematic review on communication treatments for individuals with right hemisphere brain damage. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol, 22*(1), 146-160. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2012/12-0021">https://doi.org/10.1044/1058-0360(2012/12-0021)</a>
- Leikin, M., Ibrahim, R., & Aharon-Peretz, J. (2012). Sentence comprehension following moderate closed head injury in adults. *J Integr Neurosci*, 11(3), 225-242. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1142/s0219635212500197">https://doi.org/10.1142/s0219635212500197</a>
- Levelt, W. J., Roelofs, A., & Meyer, A. S. (1999). A theory of lexical access in speech production. *Behav Brain Sci, 22*(1), 1-75. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/s0140525x99001776">https://doi.org/10.1017/s0140525x99001776</a>

- Libben, G. (2008). Disorders of lexis. In B. Stemmer & H. A. Whitetaker (Eds.), *Handbook of the neuroscience of language* (1 ed., pp. 147-154). Elsevier.
- Lin, C. Y., Chen, T. B., Lin, K. N., Yeh, Y. C., Chen, W. T., Wang, K. S., & Wang, P. N. (2014). Confrontation naming errors in Alzheimer's disease. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord*, 37(1-2), 86-94. https://doi.org/10.1159/000354359
- Lindsey, A., Mozeiko, J., Krueger, F., Grafman, J., & Coelho, C. (2018). Changes in discourse structure over time following traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychologia,* 119, 308-319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.08.030
- Lundgren, K., & Brownell, H. (2016). Figurative language deficits associated with right hemisphere disorder. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups, 1*(2), 66-81. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1044/persp1.SIG2.66">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1044/persp1.SIG2.66</a>
- Lundin, N. B., Hochheiser, J., Minor, K. S., Hetrick, W. P., & Lysaker, P. H. (2020). Piecing together fragments: Linguistic cohesion mediates the relationship between executive function and metacognition in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res, 215*, 54-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2019.11.032
- MacDonald, M. C., & Hsiao, Y. (2018). Sentence comprehension. In K. R. Staub & M. Gaskell (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Psycholinguistics* (2 ed., Vol. 2, pp. 171-198). Oxford University Press.
- Majerus, S. (2018). Working memory treatment in aphasia: A theoretical and quantitative review. *Journal of Neurolinguistics*, *48*, 157-175. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroling.2017.12.001
- Marcie, P., Roudier, M., Goldblum, M. C., & Boller, F. (1993). Principal component analysis of language performances in Alzheimer's disease. *J Commun Disord*, 26(1), 53-63. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9924(93)90015-3
- Marcotte, K., Graham, N. L., Fraser, K. C., Meltzer, J. A., Tang-Wai, D. F., Chow, T. W., Freedman, M., Leonard, C., Black, S. E., & Rochon, E. (2017). White Matter Disruption and Connected Speech in Non-Fluent and Semantic Variants of Primary Progressive Aphasia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra, 7*(1), 52-73. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1159/000456710">https://doi.org/10.1159/000456710</a>
- Marczy, A., & Baqué, L. (2013). De l'origine des erreurs de substitution consonantique chez les patients aphasiques hispanophones: une étude acoustique1. *Recherches*

- en Parole: La voix et la parole perturbées, Travaux en Phonétique Clinique, 1(1), 157-170.
- Marini, A., Zettin, M., & Galetto, V. (2014). Cognitive correlates of narrative impairment in moderate traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychologia*, *64*, 282-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.09.042
- Martin, R. C., & Allen, C. M. (2008). A disorder of executive function and its role in language processing. *Semin Speech Lang, 29*(3), 201-205. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1082884
- Martin, R. C., & Tan, Y. (2015). Sentence comprehension deficits: Independence and interaction of syntax, semantics, and working memory. In A. E. Hillis (Ed.), *The handbook of adult language disorders* (2 ed., pp. 319-343). Psychology Press.
- Matías-Guiu, J. A., Cuetos, F., Cabrera-Martín, M. N., Valles-Salgado, M., Moreno-Ramos, T., Carreras, J. L., & Matías-Guiu, J. (2017). Reading difficulties in primary progressive aphasia in a regular language-speaking cohort of patients.

  \*Neuropsychologia\*, 101, 132-140.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2017.05.018
- McDonald, S. (2000). Exploring the cognitive basis of right-hemisphere pragmatic language disorders. *Brain Lang, 75*(1), 82-107. https://doi.org/10.1006/brln.2000.2342
- McDonald, S., & Pearce, S. (1996). Clinical insights into pragmatic theory: frontal lobe deficits and sarcasm. *Brain Lang, 53*(1), 81-104. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1006/brln.1996.0038">https://doi.org/10.1006/brln.1996.0038</a>
- McDonald, S., Togher, L., & Code, C. (2013). Social and communication disorders following traumatic brain injury (2 ed.). Psychology press. <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203557198">https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203557198</a>
- Mesulam, M. M. (2001). Primary progressive aphasia. *Ann Neurol, 49*(4), 425-432. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.91">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.91</a>
- Minga, J. (2016). Discourse Production and Right Hemisphere Disorder. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups,* 1(2), 96-105. https://doi.org/doi:10.1044/persp1.SIG2.96

- Mirman, D., Chen, Q., Zhang, Y., Wang, Z., Faseyitan, O. K., Coslett, H. B., & Schwartz, M. F. (2015). Neural organization of spoken language revealed by lesion-symptom mapping. *Nat Commun*, *6*, 1-19. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7762">https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7762</a>
- Miyake, A., Friedman, N. P., Emerson, M. J., Witzki, A. H., Howerter, A., & Wager, T. D. (2000). The Unity and Diversity of Executive Functions and Their Contributions to Complex "Frontal Lobe" Tasks: A Latent Variable Analysis. *Cognitive psychology,*41(1),
  49-100.
  <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1006/cogp.1999.0734</a>
- Miyake, A., & Shah, P. (1999). *Models of working memory: Mechanisms of active maintenance and executive control.* Cambridge University Press.
- Moayedfar, S., Purmohammad, M., Shafa, N., Shafa, N., & Ghasisin, L. (2021). Analysis of naming processing stages in patients with mild Alzheimer. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*, 28(1), 107-116. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2019.1599894">https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2019.1599894</a>
- Mohapatra, B. (2019). Exploring the interaction of executive function and language processing in adult cognitive-communication disorders. *Clinical Archives of Communication Disorders*, 4(3), 137-145. <a href="https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.21849/cacd.2019.00129">https://dx.doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.21849/cacd.2019.00129</a>
- Monsch, A. U., Bondi, M. W., Butters, N., Salmon, D. P., Katzman, R., & Thal, L. J. (1992). Comparisons of verbal fluency tasks in the detection of dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Arch Neurol*, 49(12), 1253-1258. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.1992.00530360051017
- Morelli, C. A., Altmann, L. J., Kendall, D., Fischler, I., & Heilman, K. M. (2011). Effects of semantic elaboration and typicality on picture naming in Alzheimer disease. *J Commun Disord*, 44(4), 413-428. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2011.01.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2011.01.006</a>
- Mozeiko, J., Le, K., Coelho, C., Krueger, F., & Grafman, J. (2011). The relationship of story grammar and executive function following TBI. *Aphasiology, 25*(6-7), 826-835. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2010.543983">https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2010.543983</a>
- Myers, P. S. (1999). Right hemisphere damage: Disorders of communication and cognition. Singular.
- Nebes, R. D., Butters, M. A., Mulsant, B. H., Pollock, B. G., Zmuda, M. D., Houck, P. R., & Reynolds, C. F., 3rd. (2000). Decreased working memory and processing speed mediate cognitive impairment in geriatric depression. *Psychol Med*, *30*(3), 679-691. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291799001968

- Nespoulous, J. L., Lecours, A. R., Lafond, D., Lemay, M.A., Puel, M., Joanette, Y., Cot, F., & Rascol, A. (1992). *Protocole Montréal-Toulouse d'examen linguistique de l'aphasie: MT-86 module standard initial*. Ortho Edition.
- Norbury, C. F., Gemmell, T., & Paul, R. (2014). Pragmatics abilities in narrative production: a cross-disorder comparison. *J Child Lang, 41*(3), 485-510. https://doi.org/10.1017/s030500091300007x
- Obermeyer, J., Schlesinger, J., & Martin, N. (2020). Evaluating the Contribution of Executive Functions to Language Tasks in Cognitively Demanding Contexts. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol, 29*(1), 463-473. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_ajslp-cac48-18-0216">https://doi.org/10.1044/2019\_ajslp-cac48-18-0216</a>
- Ouellette, G., & Beers, A. (2010). A not-so-simple view of reading: how oral vocabulary and visual-word recognition complicate the story. *Reading and Writing*, 23(2), 189-208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-008-9159-1
- Pagliarin, Ortiz, K. Z., Parente, M. A., Arteche, A., Joanette, Y., Nespoulous, J. L., & Fonseca, R. P. (2014). Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery for aphasia: validity and reliability evidence. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *34*(3), 463-471. https://doi.org/10.3233/nre-141057
- Pagliarin, K. C., Gindri, G., Ortiz, K. Z., Parente, M. A. M. P., Joanette, Y., Nespoulous, J.-L., & Fonseca, R. P. (2015). Relationship between the Brazilian version of the Montreal-Toulouse language assessment battery and education, age and reading and writing characteristics. A cross-sectional study. *São Paulo Medical Journal*, 133, 298-306. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-3180.2014.8461610">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-3180.2014.8461610</a>
- Parente, M., Ortiz, K., Soares, E., Scherer, L., Fonseca, R., Joanette, Y., Lecours, A., & Nespoulous, J. (2016). *Bateria Montreal-Toulouse de Avaliação da Linguagem-Bateria MTL-Brasil*. Vetor Editora.
- Parola, A., Berardinelli, L., & Bosco, F. M. (2018). Cognitive abilities and theory of mind in explaining communicative-pragmatic disorders in patients with schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res, 260*, 144-151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2017.11.051
- Parola, A., Salvini, R., Gabbatore, I., Colle, L., Berardinelli, L., & Bosco, F. M. (2020). Pragmatics, Theory of Mind and executive functions in schizophrenia: Disentangling the puzzle using machine learning. *PLoS One, 15*(3), 1-17. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229603">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229603</a>

- Pawełczyk, A., Łojek, E., & Pawełczyk, T. (2017). Metaphor Processing in Schizophrenia Patients: A Study of Comprehension and Explanation of Metaphors. *Psychology of Language and Communication, 21*(1), 287-305. <a href="https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/plc-2017-0014">https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/plc-2017-0014</a>
- Peach, R. K., Nathan, M. R., & Beck, K. M. (2017). Language-specific attention treatment for aphasia: Description and preliminary findings. Seminars in speech and language,
- Pell, M. D. (2006). Cerebral mechanisms for understanding emotional prosody in speech. *Brain Lang, 96*(2), 221-234. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2005.04.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2005.04.007</a>
- Peng, P., Barnes, M., Wang, C., Wang, W., Li, S., Swanson, H. L., Dardick, W., & Tao, S. (2018). A meta-analysis on the relation between reading and working memory. *Psychol Bull, 144*(1), 48-76. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000124">https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000124</a>
- Perfetti, C. A., & Frishkoff, G. A. (2008). The neural bases of text and discourse processing. In B. Stemmer & H. A. Whitetaker (Eds.), *Handbook of the neuroscience of language* (2 ed., pp. 165-174). Elsevier.
- Pineda, D. A., Rosselli, M., Ardila, A., Mejia, S. E., Romero, M. G., & Perez, C. (2000). The Boston Diagnostic Aphasia Examination—Spanish Version: The influence of demographic variables. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society,* 6(7), 802-814. https://doi.org/10.1017/S135561770067707X
- Pompili, A., Abad, A., Matos, D. M. d., & Martins, I. P. (2020). Pragmatic Aspects of Discourse Production for the Automatic Identification of Alzheimer's Disease. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 14(2), 261-271. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSTSP.2020.2967879
- Pothos, E. M., & Wills, A. J. (2011). Introduction. In E. M. Pothos & A. J. Wills (Eds.), Formal approaches in categorization (1 ed., pp. 1-17). Cambridge University Press.
- Prado, J., Spotorno, N., Koun, E., Hewitt, E., Van der Henst, J. B., Sperber, D., & Noveck, I. A. (2015). Neural interaction between logical reasoning and pragmatic processing in narrative discourse. *J Cogn Neurosci*, *27*(4), 692-704. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn a 00744

- Priebe, S. J., Keenan, J. M., & Miller, A. C. (2011). How Prior Knowledge Affects Word Identification and Comprehension. *Read Writ, 7,* 581-586. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-010-9260-0
- Provost, J. S., Brambati, S. M., Chapleau, M., & Wilson, M. A. (2016). The effect of aging on the brain network for exception word reading. *Cortex, 84*, 90-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2016.09.005
- Purvis, K. L., & Tannock, R. (2000). Phonological Processing, Not Inhibitory Control, Differentiates ADHD and Reading Disability. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 39*(4), 485-494. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200004000-00018
- Rabbitt, P. (1999). Introduction: Methodologies and models in the study of executive function. In P. Rabbitt (Ed.), *Methodology of frontal and executive function* (pp. 9-45). Routledge.
- Rac-Lubashevsky, R., & Kessler, Y. (2016). Decomposing the n-back task: An individual differences study using the reference-back paradigm. *Neuropsychologia*, *90*, 190-199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.07.013
- Ralph, M. A. L., Snell, C., Fillingham, J. K., Conroy, P., & Sage, K. (2010). Predicting the outcome of anomia therapy for people with aphasia post CVA: both language and cognitive status are key predictors. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 20(2), 289-305. https://doi.org/10.1080/09602010903237875
- Ramanan, S., Roquet, D., Goldberg, Z.-l., Hodges, J. R., Piguet, O., Irish, M., & Lambon Ralph, M. A. (2020). Establishing two principal dimensions of cognitive variation in logopenic progressive aphasia. *Brain communications*, 2(2), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1093/braincomms/fcaa125
- Rapp, B., Purcell, J., Hillis, A. E., Capasso, R., & Miceli, G. (2016). Neural bases of orthographic long-term memory and working memory in dysgraphia. *Brain*, 139(2), 588-604. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv348">https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv348</a>
- Reitan, R. (1992). Trail Making Test: Manual for administration and scoring: Reitan Neuropsychology Laboratory. Reitan Neuropsychology Laboratory.
- Rowley, D. A., Rogish, M., Alexander, T., & Riggs, K. J. (2017). Cognitive correlates of pragmatic language comprehension in adult traumatic brain injury: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *Brain Inj.* 31(12), 1564-1574. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2017.1341645">https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2017.1341645</a>

- Sánchez-Cubillo, I., Periáñez, J. A., Adrover-Roig, D., Rodríguez-Sánchez, J. M., Ríos-Lago, M., Tirapu, J., & Barceló, F. (2009). Construct validity of the Trail Making Test: role of task-switching, working memory, inhibition/interference control, and visuomotor abilities. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc, 15*(3), 438-450. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1355617709090626
- Schmiedek, F., Hildebrandt, A., Lövdén, M., Wilhelm, O., & Lindenberger, U. (2009). Complex span versus updating tasks of working memory: the gap is not that deep. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition,* 35(4), 1089. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015730">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015730</a>
- Scott-Phillips, T. C. (2017). Pragmatics and the aims of language evolution. *Psychon Bull Rev, 24*(1), 186-189. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-016-1061-2">https://doi.org/10.3758/s13423-016-1061-2</a>
- Semenza, C., De Pellegrin, S., Battel, I., Garzon, M., Meneghello, F., & Chiarelli, V. (2011). Compounds in different aphasia categories: a study on picture naming. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 33(10), 1099-1107. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2011.603691">https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2011.603691</a>
- Shao, Z., Janse, E., Visser, K., & Meyer, A. S. (2014). What do verbal fluency tasks measure? Predictors of verbal fluency performance in older adults. *Front Psychol*, *5*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00772
- Shao, Z., Roelofs, A., & Meyer, A. S. (2012). Sources of individual differences in the speed of naming objects and actions: the contribution of executive control. *Q J Exp Psychol* (Hove), 65(10), 1927-1944. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2012.670252">https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2012.670252</a>
- Shapiro, L. P., & Levine, B. A. (1990). Verb processing during sentence comprehension in aphasia. *Brain and language, 38*(1), 21-47. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-934X(90)90100-U
- Shim, H., Hurley, R. S., Rogalski, E., & Mesulam, M. M. (2012). Anatomic, clinical, and neuropsychological correlates of spelling errors in primary progressive aphasia. *Neuropsychologia*, 50(8), 1929-1935. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.017">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2012.04.017</a>
- Sikora, K., Roelofs, A., Hermans, D., & Knoors, H. (2016). Executive control in spoken noun-phrase production: Contributions of updating, inhibiting, and shifting. *Q J Exp Psychol (Hove), 69*(9), 1719-1740. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2015.1093007">https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2015.1093007</a>

- Silagi, M. L., Bertolucci, P. H., & Ortiz, K. Z. (2015). Naming ability in patients with mild to moderate Alzheimer's disease: what changes occur with the evolution of the disease? *Clinics*, 70(6), 423-428. <a href="https://doi.org/10.6061/clinics/2015(06)07">https://doi.org/10.6061/clinics/2015(06)07</a>
- Simos, P. G., Kasselimis, D., Potagas, C., & Evdokimidis, I. (2014). Verbal comprehension ability in aphasia: demographic and lexical knowledge effects. *Behav Neurol*, 2014, 258-303. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/258303
- Snow, D. (2000). The emotional basis of linguistic and nonlinguistic intonation: implications for hemispheric specialization. *Dev Neuropsychol*, 17(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326942dn1701\_01
- Snowden, J. S., Harris, J. M., Saxon, J. A., Thompson, J. C., Richardson, A. M., Jones, M., & Kobylecki, C. (2019). Naming and conceptual understanding in frontotemporal dementia. *Cortex*, *120*, 22-35. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2019.04.027">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2019.04.027</a>
- Snyder, H. R., Miyake, A., & Hankin, B. L. (2015). Advancing understanding of executive function impairments and psychopathology: bridging the gap between clinical and cognitive approaches. *Frontiers in psychology, 6*, 1-24. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00328
- Sobhani Rad, D. (2014). A review on adult pragmatic assessments. *Iran J Neurol*, 13(3), 113-118.
- Sponheim, S. R., Surerus-Johnson, C., Leskela, J., & Dieperink, M. E. (2003). Proverb interpretation in schizophrenia: the significance of symptomatology and cognitive processes. *Schizophr Res*, 65(2-3), 117-123. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s0920-9964(02)00525-x">https://doi.org/10.1016/s0920-9964(02)00525-x</a>
- Stanley, N., Davis, T., & Estis, J. (2017). The Effect of Signal-to-Noise Ratio on Linguistic Processing in a Semantic Judgment Task: An Aging Study. *J Am Acad Audiol*, 28(3), 209-221. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.16025">https://doi.org/10.3766/jaaa.16025</a>
- Stelzer, F., Mazzoni, C. C., & Cervign, M. A. (2014). Cognitive models of executive functions development. Methodological limitations and theoretical challenges. *Anales de psicología, 30*(1), 329-336. <a href="https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.30.1.139251">https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.30.1.139251</a>
- Stolwyk, R., Bannirchelvam, B., Kraan, C., & Simpson, K. (2015). The cognitive abilities associated with verbal fluency task performance differ across fluency variants

- and age groups in healthy young and old adults. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol, 37*(1), 70-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2014.988125
- Sung, J. E., McNeil, M. R., Pratt, S. R., Dickey, M. W., Hula, W. D., Szuminsky, N. J., & Doyle, P. J. (2009). Verbal working memory and its relationship to sentence-level reading and listening comprehension in persons with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *23*(7-8), 1040-1052. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030802592884">https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030802592884</a>
- Swanson, H. L. (1999). Reading comprehension and working memory in learning-disabled readers: Is the phonological loop more important than the executive system? *J Exp Child Psychol*, 72(1), 1-31. https://doi.org/10.1006/jecp.1998.2477
- Swanson, H. L., Xinhua, Z., & Jerman, O. (2009). Working memory, short-term memory, and reading disabilities: a selective meta-analysis of the literature. *J Learn Disabil*, 42(3), 260-287. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022219409331958
- Tabachnick, B., & Fidell, L. (2013). Principal Components and Factor Analysis. In B. Tabachnick & L. Fidell (Eds.), *Using multivariate statistics* (6 ed., pp. 612-680). Pearson.
- Thompson, C. K., Faroqi-Shah, Y., & Lee, J. (2015). Models of sentence production. In A. E. Hillis (Ed.), *The Handbook of adult language disorders* (2 ed., pp. 328-354). Psychology Press.
- Thompson, H. E., Almaghyuli, A., Noonan, K. A., Barak, O., Lambon Ralph, M. A., & Jefferies, E. (2018). The contribution of executive control to semantic cognition: Convergent evidence from semantic aphasia and executive dysfunction. *J Neuropsychol*, 12(2), 312-340. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/jnp.12142">https://doi.org/10.1111/jnp.12142</a>
- Thompson, H. E., Henshall, L., & Jefferies, E. (2016). The role of the right hemisphere in semantic control: A case-series comparison of right and left hemisphere stroke. *Neuropsychologia*, 85, 44-61. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.02.030">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.02.030</a>
- Titone, D., Wingfield, A., Caplan, D., Waters, G., & Prentice, K. (2001). Memory and encoding of spoken discourse following right hemisphere damage: evidence from the Auditory Moving Window (AMW) technique. *Brain Lang, 77*(1), 10-24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1006/brln.2000.2419">https://doi.org/10.1006/brln.2000.2419</a>
- Tochadse, M., Halai, A. D., Ralph, M. A. L., & Abel, S. (2018). Unification of behavioural, computational and neural accounts of word production errors in post-stroke

- aphasia. *NeuroImage: Clinical,* 18, 952-962. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nicl.2018.03.031
- Tofallis, C. (2014). On constructing a composite indicator with multiplicative aggregation and the avoidance of zero weights in DEA. *Journal of the Operational Research Society*, 65(5), 791-792. https://doi.org/10.1057/jors.2013.137
- Troyer, A. K. (2000). Normative data for clustering and switching on verbal fluency tasks. *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol*, 22(3), 370-378. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1076/1380-3395(200006)22:3;1-v;ft370">https://doi.org/10.1076/1380-3395(200006)22:3;1-v;ft370</a>
- Turgeon, Y., & Macoir, J. (2008). Classical and Contemporary Assessment of Aphasia and Acquired Disorders of Language. In B. Stemmer & H. Whitaker (Eds.), *Handbook of the neuroscience of language* (1 ed., pp. 3-11). Academic Press.
- Uddin, L. Q., Supekar, K. S., Ryali, S., & Menon, V. (2011). Dynamic reconfiguration of structural and functional connectivity across core neurocognitive brain networks with development. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(50), 18578-18589. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4465-11.2011">https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4465-11.2011</a>
- Ulatowska, H. K., & Olness, G. S. (2007). Pragmatics in discourse performance: insights from aphasiology. *Semin Speech Lang, 28*(2), 148-158. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-970572">https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-970572</a>
- Van De Voorde, S., Roeyers, H., Verté, S., & Wiersema, J. R. (2010). Working memory, response inhibition, and within-subject variability in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder or reading disorder. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology, 32*(4), 366-379. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390903066865">https://doi.org/10.1080/13803390903066865</a>
- van der Sluis, S., de Jong, P. F., & van der Leij, A. (2007). Executive functioning in children, and its relations with reasoning, reading, and arithmetic. *Intelligence*, *35*(5), 427-449. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.09.001">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.09.001</a>
- van Scherpenberg, C., Fieder, N., Savage, S., & Nickels, L. (2019). The relationship between response consistency in picture naming and storage impairment in people with semantic variant primary progressive aphasia. *Neuropsychology*, 33(1), 13-34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000485">https://doi.org/10.1037/neu0000485</a>
- Veenendaal, N. J., Groen, M. A., & Verhoeven, L. (2016). The Contribution of Segmental and Suprasegmental Phonology to Reading Comprehension. *Read Res Q, 51*(1), 55-66. https://doi.org/ https://doi.org/10.1002/rrq.127

- Verheyen, S., Droeshout, E., & Storms, G. (2019). Age-Related Degree and Criteria Differences in Semantic Categorization. *J Cogn*, 2(1), 1-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.5334/joc.74">https://doi.org/10.5334/joc.74</a>
- Vigliocco, G., & Hartsuiker, R. J. (2002). The interplay of meaning, sound, and syntax in sentence production. *Psychol Bull, 128*(3), 442-472. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.3.442">https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.3.442</a>
- Walker, G. M., Hickok, G., & Fridriksson, J. (2018). A cognitive psychometric model for assessment of picture naming abilities in aphasia. *Psychol Assess*, *30*(6), 809-826. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000529
- Wang, Y., Trezek, B. J., Luckner, J. L., & Paul, P. V. (2008). The role of phonology and phonologically related skills in reading instruction for students who are deaf or hard of hearing. *Am Ann Deaf,* 153(4), 396-407. https://doi.org/10.1353/aad.0.0061
- Waters, G., Caplan, D., & Hildebrandt, N. (1991). On the Structure of Verbal Short-term Memory and its Functional Role in Sentence Comprehension: Evidence from Neuropsychology. *Cognitive Neuropsychology, 8*(2), 81-126. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643299108253368
- Wearing, C. J. (2015). Relevance theory: pragmatics and cognition. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci*, 6(2), 87-95. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1331">https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1331</a>
- Weed, E. (2011). What's left to learn about right hemisphere damage and pragmatic impairment? *Aphasiology,* 25(8), 872-889. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2010.545423
- Whiteside, D. M., Kealey, T., Semla, M., Luu, H., Rice, L., Basso, M. R., & Roper, B. (2016). Verbal Fluency: Language or Executive Function Measure? *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*, 23(1), 29-34. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2015.1004574">https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2015.1004574</a>
- Wiener, D., Tabor Connor, L., & Obler, L. (2004). Inhibition and auditory comprehension in Wernicke's aphasia. *Aphasiology,* 18(5-7), 599-609. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030444000228">https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030444000228</a>
- Wilson, D. (2005). New directions for research on pragmatics and modularity. *Lingua,* 115(8), 1129-1146. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lingua.2004.02.005

- Wilson, S. M., & Hula, W. D. (2019). Multivariate Approaches to Understanding Aphasia and its Neural Substrates. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep,* 19(8), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-019-0971-6
- Yang, F. G., Fuller, J., Khodaparast, N., & Krawczyk, D. C. (2010). Figurative language processing after traumatic brain injury in adults: a preliminary study. *Neuropsychologia*, 48(7), 1923-1929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.03.011
- Ylvisaker, M. (2001). Communication disorders associated with traumatic brain injury. In C. R (Ed.), *Language intervention strategies in aphasia and related neurologic communication disorders* (5 ed., pp. 745-807). Williams and Wilkins.
- Yoon, J., Campanelli, L., Goral, M., Marton, K., Eichorn, N., & Obler, L. K. (2015). The effect of plausibility on sentence comprehension among older adults and its relation to cognitive functions. *Exp Aging Res, 41*(3), 272-302. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073x.2015.1021646
- Youse, K. M., & Coelho, C. A. (2005). Working memory and discourse production abilities following closed-head injury. *Brain Inj.*, 19(12), 1001-1009. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699050500109951
- Zimmermann, N., Cardoso, C. O., Kristensen, C. H., & Fonseca, R. P. (2017). Brazilian norms and effects of age and education on the Hayling and Trail Making Tests. *Trends Psychiatry Psychother*, 39(3), 188-195. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/2237-6089-2016-0082">https://doi.org/10.1590/2237-6089-2016-0082</a>
- Zimmermann, N., Gindri, G., de Oliveira, C. R., & Fonseca, R. P. (2011). Pragmatic and executive functions in traumatic brain injury and right brain damage: An exploratory comparative study. *Dement Neuropsychol*, *5*(4), 337-345. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1590/s1980-57642011dn05040013">https://doi.org/10.1590/s1980-57642011dn05040013</a>

## Appendices

Appendix A.

Description of the selected language tasks from the MAC battery.

Task	What is assessed	How it is assessed	Maximal punctuation
Metaphors	The ability to understand	Participant must explain the meaning of six	
interpretation	metaphorical language	metaphorical sentences (three new or	12 points for explanation
		unconventional metaphors and three idiomatic	12 points for explanation
		expressions).	(0, 1 or 2 points each)
Unconstrained	The ability to explore the lexical-	Participants must evoke as many words as possible,	Does not apply
Verbal Fluency	semantic memory with no	without a priori criteria, over 150 seconds.	
	category restriction		

Semantic Judgment	The ability to identify semantic relationships between words	Participants must indicate if a pair of words are semantically related (ex. chair and table). If there is a semantic relation, the participant must justify its answer.	6 points for identification (1 point for) each and 3 points for each explanation (0, 1, or 2 points each)
Narrative Discourse	The ability to synthesize and infer information, in addition to the capacity to understand a story	Participant must recall after each paragraph as much as information as possible from a three-part history.	11 points for the recall of main ideas; 17 points for recall information; 12 points for text comprehension
Indirect speech acts interpretation	The ability to understand speech acts according to the situational context	Participants must identify and explain when a speech is indirect (the speaker's intention is not clear) or when it is direct (speaker literally means what is said).	12 points for an explanation (0, 1, or 2 points for each)

 $\label{eq:Appendix B.} \textbf{Description of the selected language tasks from the Montreal-Toulouse battery}.$ 

Task	What is assessed	How it is assessed	Maximal punctuation
Automatic speech	The ability to evoke automatisms	Participant must evoke automatisms such as numbers, days of the week, and the birthday song	6 points for phonemic errors; 6 points for omissions
Auditory comprehension	Spoken word and sentence comprehension	Participants must identify images that represent words and phrases (both simple and complex) from auditory input.	5 points for words (1 for each) 14 points for phrases (1 for each)

Written comprehension	The ability to identify images corresponding to words and written sentences	Participants must identify images corresponding to words and phrases (both simple and complex) from visual input.	6 points for words (1 for each) 8 points for phrases (1 for each)
Dictation	The ability to understand auditory stimulus and search the corresponding written representation	Participants must listen to an auditory stimulus and then search for the corresponding written representation, including regular, irregular, foreign words and non-words and 1 sentence	9 points for words (1 each); 13 points for sentences (1 point for each word written correctly)
Reading	The ability to recognize letters and produce the appropriate phonological sounds	Participants must read out loud 12 words (among regular, irregular, foreign words and non-words) and 3 sentences.	<ul><li>12 points for words</li><li>(1 point for each)</li><li>21 points for sentences</li></ul>

## (1 point for word)

Semantic verbal fluency	The ability to produce spontaneous words within a sematic category	Participants must evoke as many animals as possible, over 90 seconds.	Does not apply
Naming	The ability to name images corresponding to nouns and verbs	The participant must identify and name pictures of 12 nouns and 3 actions (verbs).	30 points (0, 1, or 2 for each answer)
Phonological verbal fluency	The ability to produce spontaneous words within a phonological category	Participants must evoke as many words beginning with the letter M as possible, over 90 seconds.	Does not apply

	The ability to identify and	Participant must identify and indicate the	30 points
Written naming	indicate figures referring to	right	•
	nouns and three actions	figure of 12 nouns and three actions (verbs).	(0, 1, or 2 for each answer)